





PRINCIPAL CONTENTS

Page
THE STORY OF DOE CASTLE (by J. C. T. McDonagh) ......... 381
HISTORY OF PUBLIC TRANSPORT IN DONEGAL ............ 406
DONEGAL IN INDUSTRY .ocviiiiniiiiiiiininciiss e sanaannes 417
DONEGAL’S FIRST -DISTRIC’I‘ JUSTICE  ....coovivenrrenienens 424
ANTIQUITIES IN THE PARISH OF DONEGAL ............... 428
ANTIQUITIES IN AND AROQOUND KILLYBEGS ............... 431
DONEGAL MEN IN THE AMERICAN WAR OF
INDEPENDENCE ............ R T R 439
A FEW HINTS ON CORRECT ARCHAEOLOGICAL
NOMENCLATURE ......... O R S R e R 437
GLEANINGS FROM OLD NEWSPAPERS ...........ccceeivinees 434

THE BALLYSHANNON FISHERY DISTRICT (by H. Hemming) 441

1952 IN RETROSPECT . .. nacinan 449






THE DONEGAL ANNUALI

Télpe @om—nh’ Q)onegal ggis‘crical
CSocieh,.

IRIS CUMANN SEANCAIS DUN NA nGALL
(FOUNDED AT LIFFORD ON 20th DECEMBER, 1946).

b i A

ek PO S o e

e e e e ———_— e | s

VERY REV, PEADAR MacLOINGSIGH, P.P.

PRESIDENT 1952.






LIST OF MEMBERS AND OFFICE
HOLDERS

President :
Very Rev. Father Peadar MacLoingsigh, P.P.
Aghyarn, Castlderg.

Vice-Presidents :
Mrs, L. Cochrane, Liftord.
Rev. Richard Laird, The Manse, Ardstraw,
Capt. Eamon O'Boyle, 56 Marlborough Rd., Dublin.

Hon. Secs. :
J. C. T. MacDonagh, B.Comm., M.1.B.I., Highfield House, Stranorlar;
ningham.

Liam MaoMenamin, B.A., N.T., Labadish, Manorcun
J. J. O’Connor. Co. Librarian, Lifford. -

Hon. Treas. and Hon. Editer :
J. C. T. MacDonagh, Highfield House, Stranorlar.

Hon. Business Manager for Donegal Annual;
Cecil King, * Donegal Democrat,” Ballyshannon.

Past Pvesidents of the Society

1947, Mr. Andrew Lowry, Argrey, Ballindrait, Lifford.
1948, Very Rev. Dr. Molloy, P.P., Tungloe.

1449, Capt. John S. Hamilton, Brownhall,

1950, Mr. S. D. Macl.ochlainn, County Manager, Lifford.
1951, Rev. J. H. Bewglass, B.A., The Manse, Ballindrait.



List of Members 1951/1952

Adams G.B., 98 Salisbury Avenue, Belfast.
Adams WS, Fahan House, Fahan.
# Alexander, E. H., O'Donel, 55 Netherhall Gardens, Hampstead,
London N.W.3,
% Algeo, Miss Ena, Lac Na Tare, Ballymore.
Anderson, Mrs. W.. Volt Heouse, Raphaoe.
Atkinson, Misses, Cavangarden, Ballyshannon.
Bastible, Dr. Michaei, Co. M.O.H., Dubiin.
Bennett, Miss EM., Fort Hotel, Greencastle,
Bewglass, Rev. J.H., The Manse, Ballindrzit.
Bewglass, Mrs., The Manse, Ballindrait.
Boyle, Very Rev. H. Canon., P.P., Rathmullin.
Boyce, Very Rev Chas. Canon, P.P., Ardara,.
Brady. F., B.Agric,, Sce., Lifford.
Bustard, Mrs. A., Tne Villa, Clones, Co. Monaghan.
Campbell, A. Abert, F.R.S.A.I.. 10 Rosetta Park, Belfast.
Cannon, P.,, LL.B., Glenmalure, 1 Herbert Park, Balisbridge,
Dublin.
Central Catholic Library, Dublin,
Chambers Rev. A, C.C., Ballybofey.
*#Cleary. F. R., B. Sce., H. Dip. Ed., Four Masters Schools, Donegal.
Cleary, Patrick, N.T., Broadpath, Convoy.
Cochrane, Mrgq. Hugh, Tifford.
Cochrane, Mrs, W.T.C., Edenmore, Stranorlar,
Cochlainn, Rupert O.. Ailsa Lodge, Roslare, Co. Wexford.
County,Library, Lifford,
Crossan, D. J., Hibernian Bank House, Ballybofey,
#Cryan, M. J., B.A.,, B.Comm., C.EO., Co. Vocational Committee,
Letterkenny.
Cunningham, The Misses, Killymard House, Donegal.
Dallaghan, P. Dallas, Bank of Ireland House, Bailybofey.
%*Devine, Miss Pauline, Strabane.
Doherty, Rev. T., C.C., Convoy.
Doherty, W.J.. (Jr.) Ballmaglack, Stranorlar.
Dunleavy, F., Camas House, Ballybofey.
Emerson, L., Technical Scheol, Ballyshannon,
Fury, Very Rev. Fr.. Adm., Letterkenny.
Gallagher. Doalty. Foster House, Raphoe.
(iallagher, Patrick, '(senior) Dunglow,
Gallagher, Rev, Patrick, St. Tiernan’s, Clones.
Gallagher, Very Rev, T. P, P.P,, Stranorlar,
Gallagher, W.G., Greainan, Castlefin.
tiallen, Patrick. The Hotel, Clonmany.
# Gillespie, Miss Maire, Buncrana.



Goodall. Dr. G.W.. Ph. D, The Glen, Ramelton.
Goodall, Mrs, (i. W., The Glen Ramelton,

Graham, J. P.. Technica! School, Ballyshannon.
Gwynn, Rev, A., S.J., Milltown Park, Dublin.
Hamilton, Capt. J.S., Brownhall, Ballintra,

Hamilton, Miss S., Brownhall, Ballintra.

Hannigan, Dr., The Whitehouse, Hartburn, Stock-on-Tees.
Hannigan, J. J., B.E.. Monaghan,

Harvey, J. A, N.T., Drumkeen.

Healy, Cahir., M.P., Enniskillen.

Herdman, J. P., Glenmore Lodge, Welchtown,
Herdman, Mrs. J. C., Sion Mills,

Hynes, P., M.A., Letterkenny.

Homan, The Venerable Archdeacon, The Rectory, Raphoe.
Hynes, P., M.A., Letterkenny.

Jackson, P.A., Laputa, Ballyshannon.

Kerrigan, Dr., S.P.. Lifford,

Kerr, Miss A., Morass, Tamney. Letterkenny.

King, Cecil. Ballyshannon.

Laird, Rev. Richard, The Manse, Ardsftraw, Co. Tyrone.
Laird, Miss R., The Manse, Ardstraw. Co. Tyrone.
Leo, Rev. Brother, De La Salle Schools, Ballyshannen.
Long, Rev, E., D.C.L., Drumkeen,

Lowry, Andrew, Argrey, Ballindrait, Lifford.

Macky, Ross, Belmont, Kings Avenue, Parkstone, Dorset.
‘Maguire, F.. 8 Main St., Letterkenny.

Maguire, P., Cooladawson, Killygordon.

Milligan, C.D., “Londonderry Sentinel”, Londonderry.
Molloy, Very Rev, Dr. T., P.P., Dunglow.

Morrow, T. A., Solicitor, Raphoe.

Mulhern, Thomas, Crannogboy, Ardara.

Mullin, Rev, E. J.. C/C., Edenfagh, Glenties.

Murphy, Very Rev. J. J.,, P.P., Ballintra.

% Murnaghan, Walter, Solicitor, Strabane.
¥Murnaghan, Mrs. W., Strabane.

MacAteer, E., M.P., Derry.

McCarroll, F., “Derry Journal”, Derry.

MacCathbhaid, Brian, Kilcar,

MacDonagh, J. C. T., Highfield House, Stranorlar.
McElhinny, H. P., (lefiveigh Castle.

McGill, P. J., Wood House, Ardara,

McGinley, Very Rev. Dr. Leo., Waynne, Penn, US.A.
#¥McGlinchey, Edward, Clones, Co. Monaghan.
MecGlinchey, Daniel, Meenbogue.

MeGlinehey, John, Killynure House, Convoy.
*¥MeGlinehey, Dr. Naney, Cloghan,

¥MceGovern, Leo, Bundoran.

¥MacHugh, I., Ballymacahill, Frosses,



MacLoughlin, Rev, Jas,, M.A., (ilenties.
Macl.oughlin, J. F., The Glebe, Cloghan,
MacLiochlainn, 8. D., County Manager, Lifford,
MacLoingsigh, Very Rev P., P.P., Aghyarn, Castlederg,
MacLoone, Very Rev. A., Letterkenny.
MachManus, Seamus, Tanatalon,
McMenamin, Liam, B.A.,, Manorcunningham,
McMenamin Sean, McDevitt Institute, Glenties.
McMenamin, ‘W.R.. 87, Baringten Drive, Glasgow 4.
McMullin, Rev., E., B.D,, B.Sce., Stranoriar,
McMullin, Very Rev. M., -P.P., Carrigart.
McMullin, Very Rev. P, Canon, P.P., Donegal.
MeNulty, J. B., Solicitor, Raphoe.
MceNulty, R. B, Lifford, '
Ma-Ruaire, Brian, Tanatalon.
McShane, Rt. Rev. Monsignor, P.P,, Buncrana,
Naughton, M., O.B.E.. Bundoran.
O’Bayle, Andrew, Siranorlar.
O'Boyle, Capt. Eamon, 56 Mar’torcugh Rd.. Dublin,
#0O’Canainn, Eamon, O.5., Letierkenny,
#0O'Cnaihhsighe, B., 0.5., 50 Old Kilmainham Read., Dubiin,
#0O'Doherty, Lian, B.Comm,, A.C.A., Letierkenny.
ODonel, The, 37 Serpentine Ave., Monkstown, Dublin.
O’Donel, Aodh, 37 Serpentine Ave., Monkstown, Dublin.
*O'Donnell, Miss Frances, B.A.,, Adelphia Hotel, Waterford.
O'Donnell, James (Ruadh), Meenkanad.
O’Dannell, John, 7 Castle St., Dunbarton, Scotland,
QO'Donnell, Sean, M.A., 19 Dawson St.. Dublin,
O'Hanrahan, Sean, D.J.. Ballyskannon,
O'Kelly, D, B.A,, B.Ph., Wave Crest Villa, Downings.
#O’Leary, P. M., Bay View Hotel, Burcrana,
O’Neill, J. F.,, FRI.C.S.. 3/5 Castle St., Derry,
Owings, Dr. Donnell. Dept. of History University of Oklahoma,
Queen's University, Belfast.
Roval Irish Aicademy, Dublin,
Swan, H.. P, P.C., MR.LA., FRS.AI, Buncrana
Swan, Mrs, H. P., Buncrana.
Sweeney, Mrs Edward, 3608 Spring Garden St., Philadelphia, U.8.A.
Sweeney, J. Johnston, 120 Fast Fnd Ave, New York 28, U.S.A.
Troup, (G. E., 23 Cluny Drive, Edinburgh 10,
Walker, Mrs, A. M., Summerhill, Ballybofey.
Walker, Dr. C. Ferguson. Kilecadden House, Killvgordaon.
¥ Walsh, Louis, Solicitor, (ilenfies,
Ward. P. J., Co. Registrar, Litford.
West, AM., Ardnamora, Donegal.
White, Mrs. Creswell, Sallybroat, Manercunningham,
Wkitelaw, Mrs. Peter, Strancrlar.

¥* New Members.



beannACC

an Pobail,

Nuop & v'poilipiZeamap vo'n
CEATTUANL AN T-am peo anupalv,
“Dueam-Tae Cip Conant,” dbiom-
A1 PANIN Manip Loip an tero-
CAl-—CuIn AT an nomEe, &
OFanam oo mb'redpt wnm ni ba
200TA o Tabait . A\C D'

A cronn ber an ¢Ram mnip
e’y CDiam-lep. coh matg
MY B0 10eacoim Leragan  Cuban

Ny h-aliann op dn B=cnhnear an
roos D pioan ceann ne na poill-
Peatam ba Mo & Toaohty Le an
poval. Tunl pi dro Mmolan O na
LEanmeaptoipd anp na nuaccdn
Tacteamby, e na papdipd Lo
wla, ATUPR 4 pomnt mat Tpreim-
reacdan cile com o mug,

TAMPRINT
ne'n
noren L

Tamun AP AR
o Pobal, e A Do
“Duam-1pup” TA peact

DEANTA AT ledanpTan o
ACan Bealad ve'n caignean dpn
& focimiesman anupart. Obert
cruaroedlac 1 oela-buditeat lure
ne'n cihedl reo, ap nodige. Niop
hiroe cummneam o NDEANTAp
G ObhAIr reo At rat bt R-AIPRe.
GG ety ataip resn ¢ to Lulc
cLa-te lce na “Dltan-trpe™ an
C-PUIm A COean pobal 1 ntonat
& paoTatt Ip Leop Led, map Load
raotaip ma Smgcann Leo,  puam
an pobsal & MApSaIle 1 Zeuppasd
PTAIRG A TCEMINTAE FEmn.

Tamio pd  mop-Comaoin A%

Ha Daotne & Zlac an obap Peo
cavap Ldriate 1p Léygt on gpalte

A peana® ponh an SDlam Tp”
ANUMATL S0 B-a0NTHEC AN an
pobeal Lo annanna agsupy e cup-
POt cumann praape Tip Conant.,



The Story Of Doe Castle

BY J. C. T. McDONAGH

N 1815 members of the Royal
Society of Antiquaries, Ire-
land visited County Donegal and
one of them, an expert in archi-
tectural history, gave the follow-
ing as his considered opinion of
the buildings and fortifications
caled Doe Castle (1),
“Though converted into a
modern residence it siill has
the main characteristics of a
sixteenth century fortress . .
a central tower (fifty five feet
high) with battlements, en-
clozure and bhawn. The prin-
cipal entrance was on the
land side by a bridge across
tne ditch but there were ap-
proacheg from the sea also.
Below the original bridge,
which is to the right of the
later entrance, is a masked
outlet, now filled with stones,
which gpened into ihe ditch.
The central tower is enclosed
on three sides by modern
struciures which in part are
built on the walls of an inner
rampart. such as the French
style chemise, at a shorl dis-
tance frem the base of the
tower and flanked by circular
bastions. The interior of the
tower has been much altered.
The lower storey is not now
vautlted and it cannot now be
seen whether it was so origin-
ally or not. There is no sign
of a vaull at the summit of

20
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the tower, The original en-

trance fo this tower was on

the ground 1loor and a

straight stair in the thick

ness of the wall, to the right
of the door, gave access to
the upper rooms -and finally
becoming a circular stair, in
one angle of the tower, as-
cended to the battlements.

The parapets of the {ower

and the enciosing wall were

loopholed for musketry and
were arranged in pairs as at

Carrickogunnel, so that the

same gunner could fire in

two different directions”.

A local antiguary, Harkin, in
his “Scenery and Anliguities of
North West Donegal” (2) placed
on record a Doe tradition, dating
into the eighteenth century,
which told that the castle was
built by Nacthan O'Donnell, for
one of his many sons;, thereby
associating it with the erection
of similar structures at Burt, Inch
and Ramelton, This tradition at-
so related that the Mac Sweeneys

were given Doe Castle when
peace was made between Owen
(O'Neill, Prince of Tyrone, aad

Nachtan O’Donnell, Prince of Tir-
connell, Mac Parland in his
Statistical Account of Counfy

Doregal, gave another tradition
which also dated back into the
eighteenth century . “PDoa

castle . . . situated at Cannon’s



ludy
afterwards

Point . . ., was built by u
named Quinn  who
married one of the Mac Swine
family a couple of vears before
the reign of Queen Elizaheth (3)

. it was since fortified by the
grandfather of the present Mr,

Mac Sweeney of Dunfanaghy”
{4).
Our first historical reference

to Doe Castile is in the year 1544
and is the serquel to the capture
of its chieftain, at Rutlard Is-
land, by a fleel belonging toc the
O’'Malleys (5). Mae Sweeney Doe
died in eaptivity, in Connacht,
the following year and when

the news of his death reached
Tirconail, Doe Castle betame
the fratricidal cockpit of the
dead chieftains sons. One of

them was killed with a number
of his followers and another,
Eoghan Og I succeeded to the
titfle. He managed to survive
the vengeance of his brother’s
family and friends until, scme
nine years later, they cornered
him and slew him at Cloghan-
eely. The lordship of Doe re-
mained in his family as his son,
later knewn as  Nurrough (63
was elected chief. This chieftain
of Doe Castle is well document-
ed in the Annals and vividly re-
memtered in tradition. He was
slain at Dunnalong by some of
the Mac Donnells and was suc
ceeded in the chieftaincy by his
brother Eoghan Og IL

Eoghan Og II. was
Sweeney Doe wlio

the Mac-
gave hope

and sanctuary to some of the
many unfortunate sailors whao
escaped from the Spanish Ar-

mada ships lost along the coasts
of County Donegal. He was
chozen by Ingheen Dubl ag one

T2

e

of the fosterfuthers (7) tor her
son, Red Hugh (¥Donnell, and
as a patron of the Bards, bis
liospitality is still enshrined in
the works of TEothaid O
hEoghusa and Tadg dall O Ul-
ginn, two great masters of that
great period. [8)

Thiz great chieftain of Doe
Castle wags cordially hated by
the Queen's deputies in Dublin
on account of his befriending
the Spaniards and was wmarked
for punishment akin to that ad-
ministered to (O'Rourke for &
similar crime. (VRorke was
driven from Breifny and the
English commanders made an
abortive attempt to do likewise
with Mac Sweeney Dog; Dbut
having failed to cross the River
Swilly thev quickly withdrew
from Tirconail (9). The hunted
O'Rourke spent a full vear as
MacSweeney's guest in Doe
Castle and from there went to
Scotland ‘‘in the hope of obtain-
ing protection or assistance” a
fatal venture which ended with
his execution at Tybum (10).

Eoghan Og 1. MacSweeney
Doe was one of the camparative-
ly few Tircenail chieftains who
attended Red Hugh when that
voung man was inaugurated
Losd of the Cinel Conail at Kil-
macrenan in 1592, The Four
Masters were well Dleased with

him and in their recording of
his ocbituary notice, 1596, de-
scribed him as “an influential
and generous man . . 7T.. ..
puissant to sustain, brave to
attack . . . .with the gift of

good sense and counsel, in peaCe
and war” They also record that
from the day that this Mac
Sweeney assumed the lordship



vl Doe hiz conoley  waus  fiee
framy reproncly or conaarge (1,
Ile died on January 26th., 1394,
and his brothe:’s son, i.c. Mul-
murry, son  of Morrogh Mall,
tock his place,

Mulmurry Mac Sweeney Doe,
beiter known in history and
traditicn as Sir Milez Mae
Swine, has been described by a
contemrecrary as a man ‘‘in fide-

lity leng inferior to his prede-
ressor” (12} and Father Paul

Walsh {13) dereribed him as “a

man of unsavoury character,
thcugh he was no worse than
many of his contempotaries”.

He iz spoken of in tradition as

“Maelmurra Bafla Bwee or
Miles of the Yellow staff . . .
a baton with which he couid

cenjure up the ‘Blatk magician’ ™,
Another 1tradition  tells that
Milcs, called Mac Sweeney of
the Staff, used to try his refract-
ory vassals in the great hall of

Doe Castle (sic). Any of the
condemned whem he wished to
henour, ke forthwith brained

with his eclub; the others if un-
worthy of his hand he transfer-
red to the tender mercies of the
serf tribe of ‘the TFerries’, who
arted as Jack Ketches for him;
and these offenders were forth-
with hung in gads from ths
parapets of the casile. ‘A false
Ferry' was as proverbal in Don-
egal as ‘a false Furlong’ in Wex-
{ford”. (14)

When we conzider the efforts
macde by Red ifugh O'Donneil
to ve-introduce the rule of law
inio Tirconail and his many suc-
cesses in this sphere we have
cne aspect of his life which
raises him, ‘in our opinion, far
above his subordinate chieftans.

i)
i

With (his i view i 1y cney Tor
us lo appreciaie Lhal, within two
yvea:s of his inauguration the
tyrant of Doe Castle was lucky
encugh 1o have escaped with
his life from Tirconail with only
the loss of sixteen of his hench-
men on O'Donnell’s gallows ot
at the Thands of O'Donnell's
bailiffs, IHis English {riends
were led 1o [believe that the
banishment was not due to his
lawlessness and cruelty but
rather that his defection was
due to ‘‘jealousy that he con-
ceived unto O'Donnell for  his
wife” (15). If a tictitious amour

wag the reputed cause of his
break with O'Donnell a lewd
weman  undoubtedly assisted

him to return to Tirconail when
we find him suplicating O'Don-
nell’s mercy and the restoration
of hig estates (18). In doing so0
Miles. now Sir Miles Mac Swee-
ney, ahandoned a comlicrtable
pension of six shiliings per day
from the Crown, not to mention
a rcyal patent under which Dog
Castie and irz lands were grant-
ed to him in knight's fee. ()’Don-
nell in hig justice, to the repent.
ant knight, allowed him to share
the Doe estates with lognan o3
II1 Mac Sweeney ie., (PDonnell's
own fo:ter brother.

This sraring with his cousin
weakened Ecghan Mac Sweeney’s
loyalty and by the end of the
year 1600, the Irish hero of the
battle of the Curliews wag an
Eaglish ally holding Dece castle
as a Queen’s Iriskman. A few
months later Doe Castle and
Eogaan og 111 Mac Sweeney were

being beseiged by his foster
brother’s forces under Rory
O'Donnel] and Sir Miles Mae



Sweeney. 'This seige was only
abandoned when 1,000 men under
Sir Niall Garbh O’Do7nnell and
the English cantains frem Lifford
were within a shoit distarce of
tlhe castle, On their arrival Eng-
han Mac Sweency took the gath
of allegiance to the Queen and in
return  was given a @ larger
garri on anl a promise of an Eng-
lish grant of Doe castle and
lands on the same terms as those
granted to Sir Miles,

In July 1801 Red Hugh de-
scended upcn Doe in one of his
lightening raids and he forced
kig foster brother to line uo with
him again. His loyvalty 1o O'Don-

nell was however dead and
thenceforth whenever a Mac
Sweeney Doe is mentioned, as

one of O'Douanell’s field officers,
we can take it that Sir Miles Mae
Sweeney was the person concern-
ed. In fact he was the only Mac
Sweency of rote who accompan-
ied Red Hugh O'Donnell in his
famous march to Kinsale in Nov-
ember 1601 (17).

During all thesc months Eog-
han og 111 was the defacto Lord
of Doc Castle and in March 1602,
he again submitted fo Sir Henry
Dowera, who left him in posses-

sicn of the castle. In Dowera he

hed a very staunch  friend  and
this friendship was all the more
strengthened by Dowera’s distain
for Sir Miles, then a hunted man
“on hisg keeoving” in the Roasses.
Dowera's friendshin with Eoghan
wag not misplaced for when in
the early vart of 1603 Sir Niall
Garbh O'Donnell rashly gratified
his wvanity on the inauguration
stone at Kilmacrennan,
sought to raise the standard of
revolt from Doe Castle, Eoghan

and

384,

Og, at once delivered it to Dow-
cra “requesting he might kave it
back agair when the garrison I
chou'd vut in be withdrawn,
which 1 gave my word he should”
(18), This bpromise, Dcwera,
very tonourable Englishman was
unabie 1o fulfil for when the
O’Donnells (19)  returned fram
London, some months later, Rory
O'Donnell was Earl of Tirconail
and carried home, among:t
others, a royal warrant giving
him the custody of Doe Castle,
which Duwera tells us, “becauie
of my promise 1 ovposed against

a

“as much as I could, but with lost

labour” (0},

Eogkan og Mac Sweeney Doe
was executed at Lifford following
a sessions held there in 1605 and
even in the absence of any  de-
tails of his crime it would be
safe to assume that Doe castle

figured prominently in his. in-
ditement (21). The following
year Mac Sweeney's young

brother, Niall Mac Sweeney, and
Caffer og O'Donnell, “near kins-
men of the Ear| of Tirconail and
Sir Niall O'Donnell” seized Doe
cagt’e and drove out the Earl's
warder and men (22). Their ¢ox-
cuse was that Earl Rory had
wronged them and as he was ab-
sent in England the Lord Deputy
ordered Sir Richard Hansard of
Lifford to call on these young
men to come forward peaceably
and to stale their grievances (23),
They did not respond to the chal-
lenge and when the Ear] return-
ed kome, a short time later, he.

as Lord [lieutenant of County
Donegal, was compe.led by, his
office, to proclaim martial law

and {o muster forees for the sun-
pression of his kinsmen,



In Afarch, 1607, Doe Castle was
again under seige by Rory Q'Don-
nell and during the fighting
wwhich took place the Earl’s prin-
cipal ally, Sir Niall {;arb O'Don-
nell, was so seriously wounded
that he was not expected to re-
cover from his wounds. When
eventually the defenders capitul-
ated it was found that the prin-
cipal rebels had escaped to the
woods of Kilmacrenan and the
besiegers had to content them-
selves by hanging, cn the spot,
some three or four of the unfor-
tunate garrison. Scon ofterwards
the promoters having come in
and submitled to the King's
mercy their lives were spared be-
rause “if these young men can
be ratisfied with  a reasonable
poriion of land they may be pre-
served to good purpose to sway
the greatness of others in these
parts” (24). These grave words
were written by Chichester, one
of the architects of the Planta-
tion of Ulster, and the master
mind which engineered the
Flight of the Earls, Doe Castle
waz one of the pawns in his
gamé and although it was part
of Ear! Rory’s pussessions he ig-
nored the Earl’s title to it and
nominated as its garrison acom-
pany of soldiers from Hansard’s
men in Lifford. He then immed-
jately set about to indemnify his
illegal act by recommending that
Doe Castle be reserved for His
Majesty’s kands “being of great
strength and standing in a dan-
gerous place where it had hith-
erto been a great annoyance to
the quiet settlement of these
parts” (25). To which the Lords
in Couneil. in London, at once
replied. that  they  approved

Chichester’s action and thus for-
tified, he rompelied the Ear]l of
Tirconail to allow Captain Basil
Brooke to dwell in Doe Castle
and to pass him a lease of four
guarters of tlie best land around
it; at terms very much 1o
Brooke's advantage (26), Brooke,
however, had his eye on much
more valuabie and less content-
ious property and he merely us-
ed Doe Castle as his first foothold
in Ireland (27). A few months
later his lease was nulified by
the Flight of the Earls and Doe
Castle and its lands was again
in the King's hands.

During Sir Cahir O'Doherty’s
rebellion Doe Castle fell into
the hands of his ailies some iime
in the month of April, 1668, It
would appear ihat its . garrison,
then consisted of six warders
placed there by Captain Henry
Vaughan (28) and that these
were betrayved by the Castle’s
cowherd “who was brought by =
friar to give the alarm that sev-
en or eight wolves were among
the cattle; by which device they
were drawn. all save one, slain
and the castle taken” (29). Soon
after O'Doherty’s defeat and
death near Kilmacrennan, Doe
Castle was besieged by a mixed
Anglo Irish force which included
Sir Niall Garbh O'Donnell and
Sir Miles Mac Sweeney, This ex-
pedition finished its monping up
operations with the massacre of
the Trish garrizon on Tory Island
(30). One account of this seige
tells that Doe Castle only yvielded
after a demi-cannon fired one
hundred balls into it (31), Re-
pairs were quickly carried out -
and its  garrison  strengthened;
first under Captain Ellinge and
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later under Captain Sir Richard
Bingley. On the 18th May, 1611,
Bingley was granted 500 acres
of the lands of Doe at a rent of
£4 per annum, subject to the us-
uval conditions of the Plantation
and also with a special clause
under which Bingley was bound
“to maintain and sustain the
castle of Castledoe, situated on
his lands, which is, nevertheless,
excepted out of this grant” (32).
Three years later, 1614, the cas-
tle and curtilage of Castledoe
was granted to Sir John Days, At-
torney General for Ireland, and
on the 31st December of  that
same ycar he sold it to Captain
John Sandferd and Anne, his
wife, niece of Sir Toby Caulfield.
Sandford soon followed this in-
itial purchase by buying up and
leasing large tracts of land in
the surrounding parishes, includ-
ing those held by Sir Richard
Bingley (33) and his brother
Sir Ralph Bingley

By 1619 Sandford and his fam-
ily were well settled into Doc
Castle and Pynar in that year
noted that the Sandford home
had “a bawne of lime and stone
40 fecet square and 16 feet high
and a castle within it that is
very strong®™ (34), Sandford’s
wife died in the year 1629 and
the tombstone erected to her
memory is now preserved by be-
ing set in the wall surrounding
the nearby graveyard of Bally-
macsweeney. Sandford, himself
died a year or so after her (35)
leaving one son and five daught-
ers. This son, Toby Sandford,

died on the 7th May, 1639 (36)
leaving his five sisters as his
co-heiresses, Their names were,

Joan, Ame, Tettiee, Marin and
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Maudlin (Magdalen). One of
these ladies was wedded to an
Irish Papist, one Mulrooney

O’Carroll, wing is given as their
representative in the Civil Sur-
vey of 1656, and as 2uch escaped
the Cromweilian forfitures. In
1643 O’Carroll, whg described
himself as “late of Castledoe,”
claimed that ke had had goods
to the value of £1,500, in County
Donegal, and in the King’s Coun-
ty, destroyed by rebellious Irish.
For his Donegal losses he blames,
amongst others, the O'Donnells
of Ramelton, the O’Boyles of
Kiltorish, and the MacSweeneys
of Doe and Fanad. His deposition,
like the few other Donegal dacu-
ments of a similar nature, shows

that Dce Castle was held for
the Confederate Irish by “Cap-
tain -Donnell Mac Niall Mac
Sweeney, Gentleman;” ot
what one would ex-
pect; for Colonel Miles Mac
Sweeney, “chief rebel” in the

North-West, is described in ail
these depositions (37) as of Muin-
termeiian, i.e, part of the lands
granted to his grandfather, Sir
Miles MacSweeney.

It would apear that Dee Cas-
tle fell into Irish hands shortly
after the outbreak of hostilities
in 1641 and remained in their
hands for the next nine years. Its
most colourful associaticn with
those years was on the morning
of the 6th July, 1642, when the
frigate Saint Francis, bound
from Dunkirk, sailed into Sheep-
haven Bay and came to anchor
in the deep water off Cannon’s
Point, This 30 gun man ‘o war
had safetly eluded units of the
Royal Navy sent out to intercept
her and she had on bowd Geners



al Owen Roe O'Neill and 100
Irish veterans from the Spar
ish armies. On disembarking at
the boatslip of Doe Castle they
were greeted by Sir Phelim
O'Neill and many of the North-
ern Irish leaders; and, after =a
short stay inn the castle, they set
out on that dangerous route to
Charlemont where Owen Roc
took wover command of the Irish
army in Ulster.

During those eveniful vears
Doe Castle was more often than
not an isolated outpost of the
Ulster Irish forces as the coun-
try between Ramelton and Ra-
phoe was, from November. 1641,
securely held and defended by
the Ulster Scottish regiments of
Sir William and Sir Robert
Stewart, while the Royalist (lores
and ffolliots of Donegal and
Ballyshannon held. steadfastly.
their grip on the Barony of Tir-
hugh, From time to time flying
columns, particularly those from
the Stewart regiments, swept
fire and sword throughout the
rest of the county and on more
than one occasion swept pastDoe
Castle, through Mevagh, down
into the Rosses; leaving Waest
Donegal fit for neither man nor
beast (38). On other occasions
they swept past Sheephaven in
galleys from the vorts of Raib-
mullen, Ramelion znd Derrv
(39), and in February, 1650, Doz
Castle became tlre target for
one of these amphibious raids. Tt
was a complete success for the
garrison was taken by surprise
by a force belonging to Sir Char-
les Coote, the Parliamentarian
governor of Derry (w0).

Some historians attribute the
annhitation of the Royalist Irisk

Aty al Scariffhollis, in  June,
1650, to the facl that its comman-
der, Bishop Heber MacMahon,
weakened his forces by allowing
Colonel Miles MacSweeney. some-
time before the battle, to detatch
some of tke Donegal regiments
from his army for the purpose
of retrieving Doc Castle, i.e.;
“the gratificalion of the whim of
MacSweeney family  honour”
(41). A study of State papers
and other contemporary  doou-
ments relating to MacSweeney
shows that as early as 1648 four
of the Donegal Colonels, includ-
ing MacSweeney, were prepas-
ed to break with Owen Roce
O’Necill if “put in a way to get
and enjoy, like knights and
squires, estates in the county of
Donegal” (42). In 186Gl Charles
11 directed his J.ord Justices
that justice be done to Mac-
Sweeney because amongst other
things he, to use MacSweeney's
own words “made efforts to de-
sert Owen O'Neill's party in
1648." (42a), These claims -
about, breaks with, and desert-
ions from, Owen Roc's army.
kave led us to susvect that the
absence of “1.300 or 1,400 (43)
Donegal men Trom Scariffhoilis
was brought about by much more
sinister motives 1ihan  the re-
capture of Doe Castle, Thesc
suspicions were all the more
justified when in 1652/3, the
vears of mass executions of Irish
officers. we found Venahles,
whose regiments administered at
Scarifthollis the coup de grate
to the remnants of Owen Roe's
army, actively employed in sup-
pressing a charge of murder
against MacSweeney (44). Tt also
seemed strange to us that  Doc
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Castle, when captured by the

Irish in 1641, was not taken
over by Colonel Miles Mac-
Sweeney in accord “with  fam-

ily vanity”, but by-Captain Don-
nell  mae Niall MacSweeney,
grandson  of EKoghan Og 11
MacSweeney Doe.

During the years 16i6/7 a
gentleman named Michael Har-
rison laid claim to Doe C(Castle,
and strange fo relate, the Crown
Rentals, of 1707, recerd that he
was the assighee of Captain
John Sandford (45). This record
shows something in the nature of
a lacuna, in the devolution of the
title to the Castle ag it ignores'
Toby Sandford, his sisters, and
Mulrooney O'Carroll, A State
Paper, from Westminster, dated
18th August, 1845 requested con-
sideration by the Commitiee Re-
sident in Munster of a petition,
from Quarter Master Harrison,
for arms and ammunition for 39
warders, and to be allowed to
iake possession of Doe Castle “in
{he North of Ireland.” Some

months later a Parliamentary
Commissioner at Belfast appar-
cntly recommended the imple-

mentation of Harrison's petition,
not to Westminster, but to the
Committee at Derby. “May it
please Your Lordships, we think

it reasonable that Quarter Mas-.

ter Harrison be restored to his
own house and furnished with
ammunition, he finding the men
for the present.” (46). .

Harrison had however fo waif
quite a number of years before

his claim to Doe Castle material--

ised. There is no reference to
him in the Civil Survev of 1656
which recognised Muironey
O'Carrel as the representative

of the Sandford Ileiress¢s. On
the otker hand O'Carroll and the
Sandfords are not mentioned in
the 1659 Census which sets Has-
rison down as the Titulade (or
rezident claimant) to “Mogora”
iri the parish of Ray, and 10 add
to this enigma he is tabulated

as the only non-[frish person in
that towniand. Neither, Har:i-
son, ()'Carroll nor the Sand-

fords, figure in the Hearthmoney
Rells of 1658 for the district
around Doe. The Ormond Mss.
and State Papers of the Restor-
ation pericd however show that
{larrison was then a collector of

Customs and lxecise in  North
last Ulster and that he had
claimed the restoration of his

estates in virtue of being one of
the “4% officers” who remained
loyal to the King, The reference
to him in the Crown Rentals of
1707 confirms his ultimate suc-
vcss in this elaim (47).

There is every indication that
Doe Castle wag returned very
reluctantly to. private ownership
on account of its suitability as a
fortress and military depot for
the North West., In addition to
record we have a very substan
tial tradition whieh deals with
an officer of the garrison during
the yvears following its recapture
by Coote’s forces from Derry,
in February 1650, This tradition
tells that the constable of the
castle was 1hen cne <captair
(Robert) Cunningham and that
he was slain near Ard: by two
men from thp Rosses (48) in re-
venge for Cunningham’s part in
a massacre of women and child-
ren. This, of course, is a bare
outline of the traditional ac-
count, irvolving of a number of
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incidents, recorded by Archdea-
cont Kerr in this Journal (Vel. 1

No. 1 pp 9/10. An objective
study of contemporary dotu-
ments disclosed that Cununing-

ham was a company commander
in Sir William Slcwart’s regi-
ment (which began the war, as
King's liegemen and ended it as
Cromweil’s lenchmen) and that
in November, 1641, his ' com-
pany, in galleys, raided islands
in  the Roszes and slew B3
women and children; for which
act he wascommonly “called the
killer of old women’” (49). His
act was, unfortunately, not an
isolated incident and we have
raked the embers of this harbar-
ous war in Ireland to point out
that nemesis overtook Cunning-
ham (or Connyngham as he I8
called in tradition) some nine
years after his dreadiul act,
The Cromwellian Census of
1659 shows that the townland
on which Doe Castle stcod rank-
ed in the Barony of Kilmacren-
nan, next to Letterkenny in the
number of Tnglish and Scottizh
persong domiciled  there, This
velatively high numbr, 45 Eng-
Jish and Scottish residents as
against 11 Irish persong was
Jargely made up of the warders,
garrizon and their families. No
‘Titulado is registered against

the castle and the Hearth Money.

Rolis of a few years later (1685)
also reveal that the Govern-
ment exempted 1t from Hearth
tax on account of its being
commandeered as a military de-
pot (50) This assumption 18
cenfirmed by a retwn furnish-
ed in tke year, 1664, by Captain

Webb, a famous military engin-.

eer, in which it is shown

that

he11H

the Government had speni £1o0
(a relatively large sum for those
days) in repairing and sirength
ening the Castle and its de-
fences. ‘

The Government felt justified
in this expenditure for ‘their
spies in Donegal =zo alarmed thke
Lord Lieutenant that he believ-
ed that a Tory War was about
to break out inn thie County, This
belief was based on a memoran-
dum presented to him (51) de-
posing that the brothers and scn
0! Colone! Miles Mac Sweeney
and others of their frienas,
were s truculent and contempt-
ucus of the laws that no peacc
officer would dare proceed
against them. For this they
were listed as ‘“suspected of
being Tories” and the Lord
Lieutenant ordered a company
of Foot, staticned at Raphoe, to
proceed at once to Doe Castle
with special instructions that
they “be careful in their duties
and watchful in tke security of
the place” (52). Some moaths
later the master of Ordnance
was  ocdered 1o Supply the
Castle with barrels of powder
and “with ball and mateh pro-
portionate”.

In the vear 1666 the garrizon
of Doe Castle nwetitioned ‘to
settle down with their families
and vplant”. Thiz vpetition was
granted and the men were dis-
charged but not before their
voung commander, Captain
Claud Hamilicn, had replaced
them with a corresponding num-
ber of new recruits, drawn from
the regimental muster. A month
or so afterwards Captain Ham-
ilton was ordered to withdraw
hig troops from Doe Castle and



to bring them to Carrickfergus.
Then for nearly twenty years
the fortress of Doe was ignored
until the years 1684/5 when a
battalion of Lord Mountjoy's
regiment krad quaricrs ' there
(33). The officers stationed there
were Major Gustavus Hamilton,
‘Captain John Hamilton and En-
sign Thomas Pigott.
- Early in the Revolutionary
Wiar Doe Castle was held by =a
Willlamite named Matthew Bab-
bington (54) who was outlawed
by the Jacobite Parliament of
1689 and who withdrew with his
family and supporters to Derry
when the army of James 11 came
northward. After Babbington’s
withdrawal Donogh Og, son of
Colonel Miles MacSweeney, took
over the castle and “‘offered his
services to James 11. He promis-
ed to raise a regiment amongst
his followers if granted 5 com-
mission, I{ was refused him, if
you please, because he could not
speak the Bearla. ‘Methought,’
says MacSweeney ‘that this war
is being waged to drive the
Bearla and all that it stands for
out of Ireland.” Nevertheless, he
joined tke forces of James,
fought at the Boyne and Augh-
rim and went with Sarsfield Ho
France to where he rose to a
high rank in that nation.”
“MacSweeney was the best
swordsman in the France of his
day. He is said to have fought
no fewer than in 35 duels and
was victorious in every one of
them. His -custom was to engage
his opponent’s rush in a favour-
able moment and seize the blade
of his enemy’s sword in his right
hand, while with his own sword
held in his left hand he ran his
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eheriy through the body. 8uch
was the grip in MacSweeney's
hand that, once he caught his
enemy's swordblade, his enemy
could do nothing.”

“When engaged in kis thirty-
fifth duel he rushed in as usual,
seized his opponent’s blade and
dispatched him.”

“Little will it gain vou to win
tkis victlory,” says his dying en-
emy,” for the sword you seized
was poisoned.’

“And within three hourg the
brave Mac Sweeney was dead”
(55),

This tradition is substantiated
by the Williamite  Outlawry
Lists of 1691, whick has *Don-
ogh Og. Mac Sweeney of Castle-
doe, Armigero” as the third im-
portant Jacobite in County Don-
egal, (56). The MacSweeney Doe
pedigree recorded in (©O'Dono-
van’s Ordnance Survey Letters
shows that this Jacobite noble-
man was the grandfather of the
itinerant Dunfanaghy tinsmith,
Eamon Mac Swyne, whom John
ODonovan met in a fisherman's
cabin at Downings in the year,
1835 (57). The tinker was, I De-
ieve, in turn, the grandfather of
the famous piper, Torlogh Mac
Sweeney,

The hjstory of Doe Castle, as a
fortress, faded out with the sev-
enteenth century. It shared the
fate of most of our Irish castles
for {he Williamite War showed
how untenable they were in the
face of powerful armament and
the long peace which followed
the war drove the occupants
into the comfortable big houses:
which became the faskionable
type of dwelling in the eighteenth
century. By the middle of that



century Bishop Pococke wrote
of Doe Castle as a cuvriosity ob-
served while on kis way to the
and comfortable homes of Wray
of Ards and Stewart of Horn
Head. By the year 1786 guide
books, such as The Post Chaise
Companion described it as “a
magnificent ruin.” It was, how-
ever, destined to obtain a new
lease of life.

Some eighty years ago Lord
Leitrim and the then owner of
Dege Castle took their dispute
over the Lackagh Fishery to the
House of l.ords and the Law
Lerds commented on  the facl
that neither parily could or did
produce any documentary evi-
dence of title derived from the
grants made by James 1 to the
Binglevs and other grantess or

their assignees, Captain John
Sandford and his family. Apart
from these early seventeenth

century parchments the earliest
document of title which Stewart
of Ards could produce was a
copy of a Chancery Decree of
1759 which showed that Doe
Castle and lands Wwere, in the
opening decades of the  cight-
eenth century, the property of
one Francis Harrison, a partner
in the private bank of Harrison

and Burton. Dublin. = Informa-
tion kindly supplied by the
Chief Herald for Ireland now

reveals that the banker was
the grandeon of Quarter Master
Michael Iiarrison, who claimed
Doe Castle as his home, in 1649,
and. that Michael Harrison's
wife was the daughter of Cap-
tain Theophilus Sandford. an-
cestor of the Lords Mountsand-
ford of County Roscommon. The
Civil Survev, as we now know,
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showed that Mulroohey (O}
Carroll, an Irish Papist, was re-
cognised as the legal represent-
ative of the daughters of Cap-
tain Jehn Sandford of Doe Cag-
tle some ten veave after llarris-
on first laid to Doe, a fact which
vather tends to lead us to be-
lieve that the Quaster Master
was, like his father-in-law, a
“claim jumper”  (()rmond Mss.
new series R.H.C.) whose only
legal title became bhased on “be-
ing long in possession”. The void
in  documentary evidences of
title was, 1 believe, an a=tute
suppression of guilt!

Francis Harrison, the banker,
died on the 5th July, 1725, leav-
ing a spend-thrift brother,
Marslt as his heir; and within
two years he died but not be-

fore encumbering the large
ITarrison  estates with  heavy
debts as part of the legacy to
his surviving sisters. A greater
burden was added when in
1733 the banking firm., which
Francis ITarriscn had establish-
ed, failed with very great lia-

bilities on the -estates of the liv-
ing and deceased pariners. - It
took four Acts of the Irish Par
liament to wind up the Bank's
affairs and coupled with them

were Chancery proceedings by
Marsh Ilarrison’s ereditors. In
1759 the Courts ordered the
sale of the Harriscn estate in

County Deregal and Doe Castle

and lands were purchased by
William Wrav of Ards in trust
for George Vaughan of Bun-
crana. Ifs purchase was con-

firmed to Vaughan by decree of
the Ceurt of Chancery in 1761
and-some iwe years later it
passed by hiz death into  the



jeint pessession of his sisters’
familics, the Brookes, the Samp-
sons and the Hartes.

By ‘the end of the eighteenth
century a representative of the
Harte family, ~ George Vaughan
Harte, afterwards a distinguish-
ed general in India ($1) bought
out the other family .inferests
and sef about making Doe
Castle habitable agein. e car-
ried out wmany rebeirs to the
ancient keep and while doing =0
made one or two interesting dis-
coveries (62), By way of im-
provements he changed the en”
irance to the castle and huilt
an annex to it in manorial style.
He also catried out repairs to
the walls and turrets enclosing
the bawn and completed this
with a touch of barbaric splen-
dour in the form of numerous
canncn (63), mounted on the
turrets and on gun carriages
along the terrace on the sea
frent. His Indian servant, “the
faithful Balgoo” gave the place
a further touch of oriental splen-
dour (64).. General !arte died
at a very vipe old age—the re-
sult of an accident (65) in 1832.
fle was succeeded in the owner-
ship of Doe Castle by hix son,
Captain John Ifarte, who as a
boy of sixteen tcok part in the
Battle of Waterloo.

Captain Jobn [Ifarte, unlike
his father, made Doe Casztl: his
rhief residence for many Vvears
before his death in . 1838. lle was

very friendly with the Mac
Sweeney tinker family whe
often settled down. for long

periods, to work for him in and
around the castle (86). His
tather regarded him as the
black sheep of the family and,
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ae he left no legitimate  heirs,
Do Castle and most of the fam-
ily estates, passed to his Dbroth-
er, Commander George Vaugn-
an Harte, R.N. About the year
1843 Commander Harte moved
most of the family cffects from
Doc Castle to the old ancestral
home. of the llartes at Kilderry
and in the vear 1864 he and his
son. . William  lidward  [larte,
broke the entail on Doe Castle
and sold it in the Landed
Estates | Courts. It Wwas pur-
chased by Stewart of Ards wha
also found himself taking on a
feud with the Lords Leitrim
over the salmon fishery on the
Lackagh river, and this law suit

‘only ended when it reached the

House of Lords.

Doe Castle’s history as a pri-
vate residence came to a close
pear the end of the last century.
Shortly after the Ilartes moved
to Kilderry a retired naval offi-
cer, a Captain Madison, became
its tennant and some of his fam-
ily were born and reared there.
Thev were extremely popular
with the local people (67). The
Captain  was succeeded Dby a
Chureh aof Ireland clergyman,
tha Rev. Mr. Murphy, known as
“An Winister ban”. He becamz
involved in a lawsuit with his
lendiords when he sought to in-
voke clauses in the Land Acts
for the purpose of establishing a
fitle to the castle and lands. After
the tandlord got rid of him Doe
Castie was Jleft vacant and was
allowed to “go from wreck to
ruins” and this decay was very
much accelerated through pilfer-
ing and vandalism. In 1932 the
landlord sold the castle and
lands w0 the Irish Land Com-



missiqn and whut remaing of the
castle is now vested as a Nation-
al monument (68),
BIBLIOGRAPILY AND
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hundred years in Innisowen by
Mrs. A. M. Young, also Roman-
tia Innisowen by H. P. Swan.

29. Calendars of State papers.

30. Described by Harkin
“Antiquities of Nerth-West Don-
egal,” and Rev, Dr. E. Maguire's

“A History of the Diocese of
Raphoe.”

31 Hill “Plantation in
Ulster”,

32, Calendars of State papers

34 Pynar's Survey printed in
Hill's “Plantation in Ulsitr,.

35, Capt. Sandford’'s pension
ceased to he paid in the year
1629-30. Sandford was one of the
caplaing in charge of the Irish
swordsmen shipped to Sweden
aiter the “Flight of the Earls”
See Ulster Jecurnal of Archaeol-
ogy. Vol. 5. 1859.

36. Inguiziticns
(Printed).

37. Mss. T.C.D.

38. Relaticn by Audley Mer-
vyn, printed Gilbert's “A Con-
temporay Ilistory of Affairg in
Ireland,” 1879.

39. Harkin “Scenery and An-
tiquities,” op. cit,

40, Thid,

of [lister



41, Jouwrnal of Society of Au-
tiquarics of Jrefand, Sept., 1915,
(1915).

42, Gilbert
History,” op. cif,

42a State Papers
Nignet office IV 502,

43 ‘1,300 or 1400 men" to
recapture a garrison of some 30-
4( men!

44 Papers and letter from
Colonel Venables to Sir Gerrard
Lowther, President of the High
Courts, Transcript made for Al
lingham, Mss,

45 kExtracted from Crown
Rentals, new in Public Record
Office, Dublin, hy Dr. Simming-
ton, for which we are very
grateful. N

46 Calendars of State papers.

47 The quit rent office -2dg-
ers even as late as 1818-1823
have the following items which
need further explanaticn.
Patentze, Michae! llarrison: De-
nomination, Ballymasineda Pt.,
of Castledoe a nd Dowbeg
4 12s 6d.

Tenant
Heirg of Gore Wray, per Bryan
Devanny of Meevagh (This rent
includes Ir. 55 [4s 7id British]
charged on “Castle and Fort of
Castledoe}.

Dr. Simmington reports {hat
the alove Crewn rent was paid
until 1837 when “the  helrs of
Gore Wrav” ceased to appear
Bryan Devanny marked ‘dead
and Patriek McBride, Claggan,
Carrickart, appears in his stead.
Then from 1843 to 1848 “James
Coechrane.”

48 Tradition appears to have
reversed the Chrislian names of
these two men, Jameg Crone
(YDonnell and Aodh Bane

“Contempsrary

Domestic.
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figures
Teoe and
through

O'Gallagher. (¥Donnell
nothe Staie Fapers of
Wuds ol nis keeping
Curis of piracy.”

40 (YCennell's
quoting pamphlet
1661, '

50 Castledve (townland) par-
ish of Kilmacrenan 1665, Hearth
Money Rolls.

John Algeo 1s for 1 hearth.

Richard Benstead., 1s do.

Bernard Knox, 15 do.

51 Carte Papers. Bodleian

Library, Vol, XXXIX, p. 200,
52 Ormond mss,

“Ireland”
printed  in

53  1Ibid.
94 Allingham Mss. in auth-
cr's possession.  Outlawry  Lisi

Parliament of Jas. 11, 1689,

55 Tradition recorded by late
William Durnin  which he got
from Father Sweeney, a native
of Dungloe, whe died n 1910,

56 Williamite outlawry lists
1691, mss, T.C.D.
57 {’Donovan’s (rrdnance

Survey Letter from Dunfanaghy,
1835, quoted in this Journal

85 “The History of the Bank
of Ir¢land”, by Dr. F, C. Hall,

59 Lctter published
“Derry Jeurnal” G. V.
17th Dec,, 1931.

30 The Sampson family only
benefited under Cclonel Vaugh-
an's will by mere chance. “The
Family History of Hart of Don-
egal”, London, 1907, p. 97.

61 General Hart joined the
46ih  Fooi as an Ensign in 1774
and frem 1775 to 1777 was on
active service In

in
Har,

in America.
1779 he was with General Marris
at the capture of Serringapatam,
as Colonel of 75th Regiment, and
acting in command of the Tligh-
land Brigade. As Colonel George
Vaughan Tlart he returned to
Ireland to hecome Brigadier



DOE CASTLE FROM THE SEA.
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Very Rev. Father Michael MeMullin, P.P., and Mr. L. Emerson
with members of the Scottish B.B.C. who tock part in our Doe
Castle meeting 1948.



LAND APPROACH TO DOE CASTLE.



General of the Curiagh Camp.
In 1805 he was promoted a Ma-
jor General and in 181y the
Lieutenant General of Northern
Command, In 1814 he berams
M.P. for County Donegal and
in 1820 was appointed militazy
Governor of Derry and Culmore
Fort. Ile held this office and his
seat in Pariliament until his
death in 1832.

62 See “Doe Castle cne hun-
dred years ago.”

63 These canncne were after
wards taken to Ards House by
the Stewarts.

54 For “Balioo” see “The
Famiiy llistory of Hart” ep. cit.,
P, 141,

65 There iz some doubt zbout
this accidental death, Soma
people claim thaf Captain John
Hait was the person who met
his death by falling down the
steep stairway in the Doe Castle
keep.

66 The Family History cf
Hart of Donegal. pp 113-6. Also
vol. 1, No. 4, p. 241 of this Jeur-
ral. )

47 Tradition from late  Mr.
William Durnin.

68 Doe Castle ig now wveosted
as a class E Nationa! Monument
See vol. 1. No. 2. n. 123.

DOE CASTLE GNE HUNDRED
YEARS AGO

An old pile of building . . . it
consists ¢f a square tower of
five storeys, rising tc a height
of some Jifty feet, with walls 8
feet in thickness, but of such
confined  interior demensicns
thet each storev containg only
ene reom. The =outhern face of
this tower adjning g much lower
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but more spacious buikling, con-
sisting of one large and several
smaller appariments, below
wiich are rooms noew used as
Litchens and cther domestic of-
[tees; and in the angle formed
hy the junciicn of these iwo
parts of the edifice standg a low
round tower. The whole i3 sur-
rocunded by a roughly-built, Dut
streng, grey wall of grey-stone
abcut 14 feet high, provided
with an interior platform, or
banguette, with wvarious ungain-
ly projections and machicola-
ticns meant te hinder an eénemy
from availing himself of the
cover of the walls.

The castle, which stands on a
lew, rocky promontory jutting
out into the waters of Sheephav-
en, is defended on the landward
side by a fosse excavated
across the little promaontory
through the slatey rock of which
it is compaosed. The passage
over this fosze to the principal
gateway is a solid stone bridge,
or rather causeway, commanded
from the walls by a multitude of
loopholes and embrasures,

A subterranecus tunne! and
winding stair leed from the
fosse to a small turret within
the gate, and there are w2
other openings on the outer
walls., both locking towards the
sea though in different direct-
jons. On the eastern side, furth-
est frem the great gate, there
has lately been constructed out-
side of the exterior wall a lun-
ptte of earthwork, on which are
msunted five long nine-pound-
cr cenhen and there are some
witller swivel guns in somn of
the flanking lurrets . .



Thee largest  apparbwent  in
Bog Cuslle is one in its soudh-
ern wing about 35 feet long by
18 feet wide, none of those in
the tower being more than 13
feet or 14 feet square. Omne of
the latter is usually termed the
dungeon. It forms the third
storeyv of the tower and until
lately was lighted, so io say, by
only one small loop hole, piere-
ing the southern wall  thiough
8 fee{ of masonry. The ioophole
has, however, been enlarged
and supplied with a window;
and the dungeon, theugh by no
means a cheerful apartment, is
now much more habitable ihan
of old. The only mode of access
to the mystericus chamber used
to be by a doorway, not more
than 4 feet high, surmounted by
a small pointed arch of ecut
stone. This opening is not on a
lzvel with the floor of the dun-
geon, its threshheld being about
2 feet higher, so as to make
one's first step on leavirg the
rcom remarkably inconvenient

. It communicates with a
winding flight of stone sieps in
the thickness of the wall leading
to the room immediately = over
it. so that a visitoer 1o the dun-
geon would be obliged to ascend
to the room forming the fourth
storey, and after crossing it dia-
gonally, to make his way down-
wards by the winding =stair,
which 1 have described.

The dungeon is, however, now
accessible by a more convenient
entrance. The owner of the
castle, during my visit fe him,
happened one day, while plan-

ping scme repairs to the upper”

part of the tower, to chserve
high up on its northern face two

foaphithes, 4o whirh he coudd not
remember any  corresponding

‘openings to the interior. On

raising the flagged floor of a
small closet above these unng-
cognised loopholes, the work-
men, summoned for the explor-
ation of the mystery, discovered
a flight of stone stairs partly
bloeked up with lcose masonry
and tubhish., This was immed-
iately cleaved out and another
passage to the dungeon wag dis-
closed, which had Iwen blocked
up for some unknown reason
ages before . . . .

There are still {wo unexamin-
ed loopholes on the onposife side
of the tower which must have
given laght or air to some small
room or passage blocked up in a
similar manner on that side;
but no search has been made
for them from the interior of the
huilding from an apprehension
that further disturbance of {he
masenry might endanger the
stahility of the castle wall.

Based on “Memorics ©0f a
menth among the ‘mere
Irish' by “W. H, Floredicz”
(William Hart, grandscn ol
General Hart).

MORE ABOUT DOE CASTLE
by DEORAIDHE,

From Mr. MacIntyre, former
County Librarian for County
Donegal,  (a native of the dis-
trict of Doe), we ohtained furth-
er interesting data concerning
Caislean na dTuagh (dTuath?).
It changed hends a great num-
Ter of times until it finally pass-
ed intoc the possession of a Col-
onel Harte, who fought at the
battle of Seringapatan in India,
He brought kome with him an



Tondial  sevvanl.  wWho  alwals
woie his hative dress, and jt is
¢aid, slept fully armed, each
night, ¢n a mat outside his mas-
ter’s door. The general met with
a sad death by falling down the
stairway leading to the tower,
And his Indian valet died short-
ly afterwards — of broken
heart, it is said, so devoted was
ne tc his master,

The Hartes remained in pos-
session of Doe Castle until 1866,
though the Maddisons were in
permanent occupation up to that
time—more or less as caretak-
ers of this historic habitation.
Then, or soon afterwards, it
was sold to A. J. R. Stewart of
Ards, a neighbouring landlord
(whose house at Ards is now,
since 1930 or thereabouts, a Ca-
puchin Friary.

Dece Castle was rented by Mr,
Stewart to tite Rev. Mr. Murphy,
then Episcopalian minister of
Meevagh (Rossguill), on the op-
posite ‘de of Sheephaven Bay.
This gentleman, known locally
as An Ministear Ban (being fair
haired), held the Castle and ad-
jeining lands until the Land Act
of 1880, granting tenant right,
was passed. Mr., Murphy claim-
ed that, as he was paying rent
at the paszing of the Act, he, too,
was entitled to the privileges ac-
cruing therefrom. Prolonged lit-
igation followed, uniil finally,
around the early nineties, a de-
cisicn was given in favour of
the Stewarts. During the inter-
vening vears, a Gideon Moore
(caretaker for the Rev. Mr.
Murphy) locked affer the estate.

T
(=]

NOE CASTLE SIXTY YEARS
AGO—AND NOW?

Our kindly informant,
Andrew MacIntyre, recalls that
about 1893 or '94, ie., sixty
vears age. he gaited access to
the Castle— and *exploced
from rcem ic room for the best
part of a summer day.” It was
quite intact at that time. Not a
broken pane. And many old
pooks and documents lay about.

Mr.

Some receipts picked up at
randem dated back 1o 1847.
and were for TRelief Grants

made in the year of tke famine
(*Bliadhan A’ Drock-Shaoghail”
ae the old people used to call it),

In 1893 there werle tables,
presses and chairs in most of
the rooms, with one or two old-
wooden - bedsteads.

fazhioned

During the end of the last cen-

tury and the beginning of this
Castle sul-

enlightened age, Doe :
fered greatly from vandalism.

The black cak wainscotting was
steipped off the inside walls, —
some of it to make pig troughs
or stable-centres Slates were tak-
en away, and more recently the
flat roo! of the circular portion
of tre building was denuded of
its lead flocring. This was done
travelling tinkers less
the
on

by some
than twenty years ago, but
ruffians were exonerated
some legal technicalities.

And so Doe Castle (that saw
“Far fierce

Sir O'Doherty’s
hour” of glory, and later wel-
comed home from Spain  the

great Owen Roe O'Neill} is now
a roofless ruin. Half a century
ago a habitable home. Now 2
shambles. We build for the for-



cigner at Rineanna.- And allow
these sacred reminde:ss of Gael-
ir resurgence te collapse before
our eves. Thus doe: the “pocket”
Present neglect the patriot Past.
“Decraidka”

TRADITIONS OF DOE CASTLE
(By tke lale Edward Durnin,
Ex-N.T., Creeslough}.

1, Moll Nie Ghiclla Bhrighde

agus Caililin Ruadh,

Long, long ago in Umerafad.
there lived a certain man who
dwelt in a strong house with his
mother, his wife and his = fam-
ily. He had plenty of this world's
goods and all the household
were very content and happy.
However, just at the height of
their prosperity a terrible pla-
gue swept over the land dealing
death alike to rich and joor.
Not a scul was left alive in all
Doe but this man’s mother and
his voungest daughier. The old
lady’s name was Moll Nic
Ghiolla Bhrighde, whileg the
maiden’s name was Caitilin
Ruadh. The poor woman was in
an awful frighl when she saw
all her friends and neighbours
dead around her. B¢ taking her
little grand-daughter by the
hand she fled from the plaguz-
stricken land.

Leaving Doe Dbehind, right
over Lough Salt she went; away
through Kilmacrenan a=zd Lif-
fer she fled and they =stoppad
not until thev reached the
sunnyv south. Here the poor
wanderers were well received
their wants were attended to:
and for a time they were happy
cneugh. But thelr hearis vearn-
ed for.their northern home and
after shending seven long years
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in the sunny south they set out
for their old home again. They
were accompanied by a faithful
servant, who altended their
wants all the time they iived in
the scuth.

After a long and weary joui-
ney they reached their home in
Doe. Here they found not a
human being. but immense fiocks
and Lerds, In the vacant houses
they found big stockings filled
with gold. Ncw what to do with
so much riches they knew not. At
last a happy thought occured to
Kathleen.

“Oh Granny” says she “do yoeu
know what we will do. We will
build a castle just like the castles
we saw in the South”.

Trade:men were found and a
castle wag built and Moll and
Kathleen went to dwell there.
Poor Kathlezn, however, was
lonely and sad for she had no
companion of her own age. Some-
times she walked along the sea
shore, watching the tide or sat on
a rock viewing the salmon as
they jumped and sported around
Bishop's Isle on their way to
Lackagh and (ilen Lough. But
her favourite walk was through
Puntally wood and up 1o the
highest point of Umreafad. Here,
on beautiful summer evenings
she would sit far hours.

One evening Kathleen was
seated, as usual. on the heigkts
of Umerafad she was surorised to
see a cloud of dust arise from be-
hind the hills. Suddenly a troop
of horsemen burst into view.
They came swiftly towards her
and before ske realised it she was
surrounded by the soldiers., Poor
Kathleen was frightencd but the
leader — a  fine dashing young



wan-—rode forward and soid,

“Fair voung maiden, be ol
afraid. for neither I nor my men
will do you harm but pray tell
. 'me how came you here for we
rave been riding since we came
ashove this morning and you are
the first human being we have
met”,

Thus reassured, Kathleen ex-
plained hcw she and her grand-
mother dwelt in a castle nearby
and, to make g long story short.
he and his followers accompanied
Kathleen thither.

And who, may be asked. was
this dashing young man? He was
one Mgze Sweeney — leader of a
band of gallowglasses—but where
he came fiom is not so easy to
soy. Some say that he came from
Scotland, as in those days pro-
fessional soldiers hired them-
cplves to the chieftaing, Soinall
likelinood  MaeSweeney  came
2eross to offer his  services to
some Irish chief.

The upshot of MacSwesney’s
visit was that he and Kathleen
Roe fell in love and, in due
course, were married and thus
into the ‘hands of the Mac-
Sweeneys fell the Castle cf Doe.

MacSweeney tcok service with
O'Donnell and rendered him such
good service, that he was appoint-
ed by O'Donnell over a number
of disiricts (dTuaith). Hence the
name Caislean na dTuaith, ie..
The Castle of the Districts.

11 MURRCGUGH MA'L
MAC SWEENEY

Murrough was named Mur-
rough Mal: from being the last
of O'Donnell’s chiefs®to arrive
with his followers at the Battle
of Fearsad Suileach in 1567, The

batle was hit when MacSweene?
arrived from Doe and O'Domne!l’s
troops were being driven back
slowly, but surely. bv the forces
of Sean O'Neill. The O’'Donnell
was in no good humour.

“Is Tusa Mursch Mall,” arsa
seizean, .

“Chan e, acht is mise Murach
i n-am.” savs MacSweeney. And
he was.

111 COMMUNICATIONS WITH
DOE CASTLE IN THE OLDEN
- DAYS

The main road between East
and West Donegal did not run
as at vpresent as the road through
Barnes Bepg was nof constructed
until the year 1849, In former
times the road to the west ran
from lLetierkenny to Kilmacren-
nan and then straight uphill via
Golan and Lough Salt, then
downhill into the village of Glen.
across Lackagh and so on west-
wards., Thte castle was cOnven-
iently situated for observing the
crossing of the Lackagh river,
hence there was a strategic reas-
on for its site.

IV SIR MILES MacSWEENEY
In the Flantation of Ulster he
was given 1,500 acres in the
neighbourhced of Dunfanaghy.
where he was allowed to hold
two fairs yearly. The greater por-
tion of his land was gn the Horn
Head promontory. then called
Corran Binne. At a place called
Muintermellan he built a fortifi-
ed dwelling afterwards called
Horn Head House. It is now oc-
cupied by Mr. William Durning.
Sir Miles was abhorred by the
country people to whom he was
very cruel, We do not know the
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date of his death, but the story
was that he had some business
with the authorities in Derry and
that he died on his way home, at
Kilmacrennan, in greal want
and misery. His son, Donogh, in-
" herited his lands.

THE GREAT FEIS AT DOE
CASTLE IN 1905
In the vear 1905 there was a
sreal gathering of Gaels at the
Castie. I, myself helped to orge-
nise the meeting by acting asiis
cecretaly. The meeting was held
‘on a beautiful July day. Thous-
ands of people from alt over the
country assembled at Creeslough
and headed by Turiough Mac
Sweeney, the famous piper, we
marched from Creeslough down
through Duntally wood aiong the
dncient road to the castle. Piper
MacSweeney played ‘McSwine'’s
March' as we went along.

The evening's programme ¢3h0-
sisted of songs and dancing as
well as (iaelic games and com-
petitions and some speeches were
delivered. Everybody enjored
the occasion very much.

‘IY

vl PIPER TURLOUGH
MacSWEENEY

Turlough MacSweeney, the
piper, was a very intere:—sting
man. He was tall and pOWer_fui
and claimed to be a direct de-
scendant of the MacSweeneys of
Doe. He wss a very famous pip-
er and won the first prize at the
pipers' competition held at the
World Fair, Chicago, in 1896 1
knew him well, On one occasion
re visited Horn Head House and
was walking around viewing the
place whben he was accosted by
nld Charles F, Stewarte-a  gruff
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old landlord—who wanted to
know what was his business
there. MacSweeney replied that
ke just tock a walk into Horn
Head to view the place that once
belonged 1o his ancestors. He put
his hand into his pocket and pro-
duced a document, which proyed
to be the title deeds of the grant
of the Horn Head property given
to Sir Miles MacSweeney,

Stewart had much more re-
spect for DMacSweeney  after-
wards,

TWO TRAGIC ROMANCES
ASSOCIATED WITH DOE
CASTLE i
1, The first story of broken ro-
mance was recorded by -*W.-H.
Floredice,” (op. cit.) and as told

by the author of “The ¥amily
History of Hart of Donegal,”
runs as follows :

“Beneath the compartment.

which has now been caonverted
into a Kkitchen, was a well,
which is now filled in, and was
intended to supply the inhabit-
ants of the castle during a
seige. 8ir Mulmorey McSwine
being beseiged by Sir Richard
Bingley, and believing his nep-
hew, Hugh McSwirz {who had
come to warn him of the treach-
ery ol one of the garrison), to
be 'himself the traitor, struck
at him with an axe. - Hugh's
betrothed, Judith McSwine,
rushing forward to vrotect him,
received the blow and stagger-
ed back into the well., A be-
lief prevailed amongst the
counfry people th t on the an-
niversasy of Judi h’s death her
spirit ard that of her murder-
er glide at mid-night along the
battlements of tre castle— the



former in white with golden
wings folded on her shoulders
—the latter in black robes,
half revealing in his cowl a
visage of fiendish and most un-
comfortable aspect. Although
this belief has partially died
away, the maids still go about
in couples afternightfall; and
some declare, while tending
the fire in the highest chamb-
er of the tower they have seen
gleams of light flash from the
eyes of the sculptured face
which ornaments the mantle-
piece and is generally known
as ‘Mulrorey’s head’ ”.

Sir Miles Mac Sweeney was not
besiged by Sir Richard Brugley;
—in fact the only occasion on
which he might have been b:-
seiged in Doe Castle was prior to
‘his escape from the vengeance of
Red Hugh O’Donnell,

2. The story of Torlcgh Og.
O'Boyie and Eileen MacSweeney
is one of the popular romances
in the folklore of Tirconail. For
this we have to thank or to blame,
the late Niall MacGiolla Bhridhe,
the poet of Creeslough, who con-
tributed much towards its popu-
larity with his ballad;

“TURLOGH OG. O’'BOYLE”

“Wild arc the hil's of Donegal that frowning darkly rise

As if to mest the mist that falls upon them from the skies,

Dark, dark the hills, and darker still the mountain torrents flow,
Yet still more dark was Mulmurrough’s heart in his castle halls of

Doe,

Fair are the plains of Donegal, and calm the winding streams
Flow gently by cach rut and hall beneath the pale moonbeams,
But plain or stream or meadow green or flower upon the lea

Were not morve fair than Mulmurrough’s child, =6 sweet and fair

was she.

~Stout grew tht ouks of Donegal, and slraight the ashen {ree.

And stout and strong its sons so tall, their country’s pride lo see,

But oak or ash, or young en all, €'er trod on Irish soil

Were not more stout, swift, straight or strong than the Chief of
Clan O’Boyle.

He was the pride of Faugher side, near the hills of Ballymore,

For feats of strength none eqgualled him from Fanad to (iweedore,

And he would go through frost and snow on a merry Christmas Day

W.ith a ringing cheer to hunt the deer from its haunts in dark
Glenvelgh
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And often iy Duntally Woeed he'd hunt the deer and ha o,

But the witehing Jeer that braughd biin here wis Mulinurrough's
daughter {air,

And there was ro man in all tke land, ¢y trod on [rish soil,

Mulmurrough's davghter leved so well as Turlough Qg O’Boyle,

In Duntally Wced as test he could his lcve to her he vowed,

But ker father, overhezring him chastised O'Boyle aloud.

In heughiy pride he say:: ‘Abide in Faughter by the sea,

But you'll never wed the daughter of Mulmuricugh an Bhuta
Bhuidhe,

In his little boat O’Boyle would float, a-fisking he would go,
With kook and line to Lackagh stream that runs by Castle Doe,
High on the castie's tower of stiength, kis darling was confined,
And cn its lofty battlererts in sorrow deep she pined,

By Doe Castle stiand two beats lay manned to wait the rising tide;

Mulmurrough there in chief ecmmard right cowardly did hide,

And 3s O'Boyle hig homeward course steered by the Bishop's Isle,

They there waylaid and a priscner made of the fearless young
O'Boyle.

They tcok him to Doe Cactle, in stiong itons he was bound

And by Mulmutrough wos cenfined to a2 dungeon underground,
And in a few days afterwards, bereath the Castle wall,

Four stalward 1uffians Lore a bier wrapped in a funeral pa.l.

Young Aileen ftom her tower on righ beheld this mournful scene;
In mute amaze she cast her gaze on the castle sraveyard green
Where. pale in death, keside a mound of freshly risen coil,

The pall removed, she then beheld the {eatures of O’'Boyle.

Tren with a shriek she madly jumped from the tower to the ground.
Where by rer faithful waiting maid her gory corpse was found,
And in Doe Castle graveyard green beneath the mouldering soil,
Mu'murrough’s daughter sleers in death with Turlough Og O'Boyle.

Ard fishers t2y aleng tke keach a phantom boat is feen
Tc gently glide by palz mooalight adown by Lackagh stream
While in that hoat two figures sit and on each face a smile
They say it is young Aileen and her Turlough Og O'Boyle."”
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This version ol the ballad was
given, by Mr. Andrew Mae In-
tyre, to "Deocaidhe” the author
of an excellent series of articles
which appeared, some years ago,
in “The People’s Press” under
the title ‘“‘Wild West Donegal”,
“Deccaidhe” also obtained the
following interesting bibliograp-
hical details from Mr, Mac In-
1yTe i—

“The ballad was composed
[ifty-nine or six\y years ago by
Niall Mac Gioita Bhrighde, It
was not published until soms
secars later. It is sung to & very
plaintive and characreristic old
Irisn air which was tizst put fo
words by that fine traditional
singer, Antcn Mbac A Bhaird of
Knozknafaugher (who i3 still
happily  with wus). Niall the
authcr, is now but a few years
dead.

“The Air is recorded in ‘Songs
of Uladh' by the rate Herbert
Hughes — a volume publizhed
scme forty odd years ago. Ex-
pert in Irish music as he un-
doubtedly was, llughes despair-
ed of noting the air exactly as
he had heard it sung, and so it

was printed in his ‘Songs of
{lladh’ without bars to divide
the time,

“The scng was sung to Hughes
by a Portnablagh fisherman,
Jamie MeGinley of Parkmore,
on loard the lugger *St. Am-

brose’ on the occasion of an ex-
cursion to Tory Island. Among
the passengers were Francis
Joseph  Biggar, Herbert and
Fred lughes and several others
from Reifast.

“The hallad wag first printed
by Standish (’Grady in his ‘All
Ireland Review’ a litile over
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"nctices of the,

furle years ago,  Mr, O'Grady
was stayving in Jobn Mulan’s of
Boezgny at  the tim2. While
there he met Nizll—ard also
publisied another of hi: ballads,
viz. ‘Charlic of Feymore'.”

The romance as narated in
the ballad is substantially simil-
ar to that wrich now passes as
the traditional version of the tra-
gedy. The following biographical
supposed, hero,
Turlogh Og O'Boyle, ¢f Faugher
castle, near Creeslough, are now
presented, nct for the purposed
of debunking the romance. but,
colely, in the interests of histori-
cal truth.

Turlogh Og O'Boyle, believed
to be the builder of the castle of
Faugher, was the son of Teig Og.
head of the O’Boyle clann, who
died in tke year 1607. O'Boyle's
first wife, Mary, daughter of
Conn O’Donnell, (? father of Sir
Nial! {iarbh), died in the year
1601 and, his second wife, ‘“the
Lady Hcnoria Burke,” survived
him. That Turlogh Og. O'Boyle
was the son of O’'Boyle’s first
marriage is evident from the fact
tkat he was old enough to obtain
and to enter into possession of
2.000 acres of land in the pre-
cinect of Doe in 1610/11, By 1611
Cavew reportzd to hiz royal mas-
ter that” ... Tyrlagh O'Boyle,
with servants and followers re-
moved (from Kiltoorish) to the
proportion assigned to him” and
by 1618-1618 Captain Pyhnar was
able to report that” . . . . Tyrlogh
Roe (tis son Torlogh Og. was
born some time previously and
Turlogh Og, senior, became Tur-
logh Roe) hath 2,000 acres call-
ed Carrowbleagh, and Comas. He
hath built a good Bawn and a



House of lime and stone (Faugh-
er) in which he and his family
dwelleth.”

In the year 1628 Turlogh Roe
O’Boyle found himself for a time
in Lifford Gaol as a result of the
machinations of his renegade but-
ler. The information whick this
spy gave Dublin Castle has many
interesting observations, and
from which it would appear that
O'Boyle was regarded, by Irish
exiles on the Continent, as the
foremost Catholic gentleman in
Tirconail. The information aiso
reveals that O'Boyle was mar-
ried to one of the Maguire ladies
of Fermanagh and that one of
his brothers was then resident in
Scotland. The O'Clery Genealog-
ies give these brothers’ nameg as
Teig Og. Niall and Felim. It
would also appear from the spy’s
deposition that Turlogh Roe
0O'Boyle had managed to retrieve
the ancient family residence at
Killtorish for he was residing
there while the treacherous but-
ler was in his service.

The Loyalist Despositions of
1641—1843 for County Donegal
mention that Turlogh Roe
O’Boyle, nis son, Turlogh O%,
and his brother, Teig Og, were
amongst ihe foremost rebels in
the County. A Turlogh (’Boyle
(either the father or the son) of
Ballymore, and a Hugh O'Don-
nell of Ramelton were the Coun-
ty Donegal members of the
Catholic  Confederate  Parlia-
ment, neld in Kilkenny City In

1647. One of them was also Te

(=

ported amongst the wounded
and degd after the Battle of
Scariffnoles in 1650. Both father
and son, however, survived /the
wars and in the confiscition
which followed 'Turlogh . Roe
O’Boyle lost all his lands in the
harony of Kilmacrenan. In the
Cromwelian Census of 1559 Tur-
logh (’Boyle is set down as
Pitalado for the five quarters of
Kiltoorish, while Teig Og
(V'Boyle was the resident claim-
ant for Maas, also in the pariss
of Inniskeel. Thev also figure
in the Hearth Money Rolls of
1665 as payving tax for houses
in these two townlands. O’FHart’s
Irish Pedigrees would have us

helieve that the younger Tul-
logh O'Boyle was the grand-
father of an American Naval

officer named Boyle of the last

cenfury !

From this sketch of the
O’'Bovles” association w ith
Faugher it will ke seen that

neither the father nor the sen
did meet with violent death at
the hands of Sir  Miles Mac
Sweeney, or for that matter liis
son, Donogh Mor, for both Mac-
Sweenevs were dead iy 1641
twenty vears or more be-

ioc.,
fore the (FBovles of Faugher
fade from our ken.

Every genuine iradition. we

are told has within itself some
atoms of fact. We wonder where
these are to be found in the
story of Turlogh Og O'Boyle and
Eileen Mac Sweeney?



History of Public Transport

In Donegal.
(BY C. A. CELKIN),

For some years back the syse
tem of public transport in Ire-
land has been witnessing a re-
volution. The years since the
end of World War 11 have
brought radical changes, no-
where more noticeable than in
Donegal, where this revolution
has already deprived the county
of more than kalf of its railway
system and threatens complete ex-
tinction in the course of anether
decade.
county formerly served by the
Londonderry & Lough Swilly
Railway is now totally depend-
ent on rcad transport, the last
section of this line, that extend-
ing from Derry City to Bridge-
end having been closed this year
by an Order of the Government
in Belfast. It would be inappro-
priate in a work of this kind to
pass comment on the changes
that have come, and are corning,.
The purpose of this article is to
give what must necessarily be
but a mere outline: of the his-
torv of the couniy’s iransport
undertakings from the first half
of the nineteenth ‘century when
the railway era was introduced
with the iIncorporation of the
T.ondonderry & Lough Swilly

Company.

A vast area of ihe-

This davelopment was Dbrought
ahout by a special Act of Parlia-
ment in 1853. The company at
the date of incorporation found
‘that they were unable to carry
out the original project in the
stipulated time and it was ten
vears later before the railway
was actually in service. The sys-
tem had its origin in an eight
mile line between Derry City and
a place known as Farland Point at
the Southern end of Lough Swilly,
which wag opened on Degember
31st., 1863, on the Irish standard
guage of 5 feet 3 ins. An account
of the event at the time says

that tlie incorporation of the
company was promoted by 2
group of businessmen mostly

from Great Brifain.

Mr. James Whyte, the present
popular and efficignt manager
and secretary of the Company,
who has very successfully car-
ried through the transition from
rail to road, has furnished us
with a very interesting account
of the development of the pro-
ject. This tells us that one of the
promoters of the Compghy was
Thomas Brassey from London, a
leading public works confractor
of his day, and father of the first
Earl Brassey. My, Brassey had
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hitherty taken a promminent parl in
the reclamation of thousunds of
acres of the Sleblands along the
shoves of lough Foyle and also
the upper reaches of Lough
Swil'y. Previous {o that dafe the
two Leughs practically met. The
reclamation of this land, be-
tfween 1840 and 18350, provided
much of the ground over which
the Railway was subsequently
buiit. Another prominent mem-
ber of the group of promoters
was William McCormick, ances-
tor of the famous broadeasting
Parsen, the Rev, Pal., McCormick
of §t. Martins in the Fields,
London. Mr., McCormack was
 M.P, for Derry and mayor of the
city about the year 1859..

The effect of the Railway on
the main industry of the city
and port of Derry and the
Countvy of Donegal was guickly
felt. Previously most of the busi-
ness was conducted by sea in
sailing ships as was prevalent in
- those days, but the move con-
venient and expeditious trans-
port by rail very soon ousted
many of these as it did also
the horse-drawn road transpost
of thai {ime. It alsp had the ad-
vantage of giving a better ser-
vice for the fishing industry,
which was of considerable im-
portance in those days, and it
is- on record that in the early
davs of the Company there was
a ccnsiderable  businsss in the
transport of  whale Thiubber
srought into lough Swilly by
whalers from the Arctic seas. -

Tha Railwav was extended a
vear later from Farland Point o
Buncrana, which was then a
fishing wvillage and  seaport of
some importance;  Lough Swilly

al that time wag an  auxiliary
Nava! Base where shins of lhe
Brit'sh Revenue Ne.vice Were
pezmanently stationed. no doubt
for the purpose of nreventing
smuggling and the illega! activ-
ities ¢f smugglers, so prevalzns
in that by-gone age.

Some vears after the Raiiway

Cunpany was established ship-
ping services within  Lough
Swilly were introduced under

the Company’s control and this
gave ccunections lor goods and
passengers to  and from the
TFastern side of TLough Swilly
across to the small ports on the
Western side chiefly Rathmul-
fan, Ramelton and Letterkenny.
At that time Lough Swilly = was

an important anchorzze for
ccean going sailing veszels,
many of which (traded into

American ports.
Llout 1860 & szparat: company
was promoted to run what was
then known as the Letterkenny
Railway. A good deal of prelim-
inary work went into the effort,
but the vroject came to nothing,
and in 1879 it was taken over by
the Logugh Swilly Company whick
four years later extended its ser-
vices to Letterkenny. Until then
the Swilly system was run as a
broad guage railway. On the two
companies merging, it was con-
verted to narrow guage in 1R85
The line was estended from
Buncrana to Carndonagh (18
miles) in 1901, and in 1903

- from Letterkenny to Burtonport

+ (50 miles).

©way up
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Thigs brought the
ictal mileage of the entize rail-
to 'appmximately 104}
miles. The Buricnport extension
ran thrcugh the rugged, rocky

meuntainoug country of (he



Highlands of Donegal to the
western seaboard.  There wese
many geograpiical and physical
difficultics in the way of operat-
ing this section of tbe line. On
two ocecasions, in 1908, and again
in 1925, passenger trains
were actually  blown | C{'fh . the
{iwencarrow  Viaduef, Wwhich

spans a wide rayine In  the
meuntains, by gales of great

violence (over 100 miles 'per
hour) walch are s¢  Common
there. On the second occasion
portion of the train fell off the
iridge into thie ravine and a
number of passengers were kil
ed and injured. After that expai-
iente the Company put heavy
weights in the carriages to' hold
them down and stopped all
trains at danger peint (80
m.p.h.). A wind gauge was erect-
ed to measure wind velocity.
The Railway proved of great
value during the 1914-18 war, Be-
fore the advent of commercial
motor: transport as we know it
to-day, Lough Swillv was the
most important naval base in
Ireland during that peried and
al one stage in the early phases
of the war the entire Grand
Fleet under Admiral® Jellicoe,
hunted off the high seas by Ger-
man submarines, had fo take re-
fuge in Lough Swilly. During
that period the Railway . was
called upon to transpert pract-
ically all the supplies required
for the wveryv large number of
war vessels and this continued
tgroyghout the war. As well as
this, several camps for training
recruits were located on the Com-
pany's svstem. J.arge numbers
of shipwrecked sailors off tor-
pedoed ships and Germaw pris-

oners Wére also carried.

This was probably oue of the
most important  phases of the
Company’s history as a Railway
but unfertunately within two o:
three years afier tite cessation
of hostilitizg the Cowpany g
into financial difficulties due
to  the development of road
motor transport, and the impact
of the Anglio-Irish war. The Com-
pany suffered a severe set-back
by the interruption of its rail
services due 1o loca! hosiilities
which caused the line to De
closed by order of the British
Military authorities for lengthy
periods. This gave added im-
petus to the developmenti of pri-
vate road transport as a compet-
itor of the Railway and in a re-
lative'y shcrf time caused a di-
version of traffic from the rail-
way, the public being quick to
favour local road services for
both passengers and goods, par-
ticutariv for the.short distances,
owing to these being more coan-
venient and in some cases even
cheaper than the Railway. The
creation- of the “Border”, with
the consequant levying 2f Cus-
toms Duties on both sides, also
retarded trade on which the
Railway depended so much.
About 1924 both Irishh Govern-
ments decided to subsidise the
Company. This did not prove a
rermanent solution Tlecause in
the meantime road transport
continued steadily and  inexor-
ably' to have ils effeet upon
Ttail traffic. with the result that
eveninally the Company was ob-
liged "to develop ifs own road
services: for. both. passenger and
oonds traffie. One result of this
was that the Railway position
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deterforated sl further  untl
eventually in 1935 it was decid-
ed to eclose the Buncrana-Carn-
donagh Extension (18 miles)
and ‘the Letterkenny-Buitonport
Extension (30 miles) which, as
already stated, had only Teen
opened in the early nineteen

hundreds. This reduced the
Railway to the position as in
1883.

Just before the 1939 war the
Company’s road services extend-
ed over almost 300 miles of
routes—roughly three times the
mileage of the Railway and the
Company’s business had increas-
ed very considerably in  conse-
quence of the provision of this
more, popular type of service,
which was well supported by
the public for both passengers
and goods,

Conversion of the
three” feet wag accomplished in
1885, shortly after the extension
of fhe system to Letterkenny,
From 1923 to 1938 particularly
heavy losses. were incurred by
the Company—actually £121,153

and to meet this the two Irish.

Goveinments made grants total-
ling £112.950. By far the greater
portion of the losses was incur-
red 9h the operation of the Bur-
tonport extension, which ren to
nowhere. Many of the towns

and villages served by it were

considerable distances from the
stations—typical examples .Leing
Dunfanaghy (six miles); Carri-
gart. (eight miles from Crees-
lough); Dunsgloe (three miles).
The most formidable competit-
ors at that timz were Mr. John
Doherly and Mr. Edwazd Barr,
enterprising Buncranamen, who
were in rivalry on the Derry-

gauge to

Buncrana - Carndonagh — route
For some years - previously, a
Lerry firm of motor engineers,
Messrs. Roberts of Foyle St.,
had been pioneering with road
services on the Derry-Moville-
Shrove route. There were also
Mr. Joe Doherty of Moville, Mr.
Dan Kearney of Carndonagh, Mc-
Laugklin brothers of Carndonagh,
the Ward brothers of Kerrykeel,
and several others, all in keenest
rivalry. And then came a Belfast
businessman, H. M, Catherwood,
picnesr of long-distance ’hus
trave! in Ireland, who was first
really to give a door-to-door
passenge: road service, The ac-
(uisition by the Lough Swilly
Company of these privately-own«
ed concerng proved not an easy
accomplishment,

In some parts of Co. Donegal
the roads proved unsuitable for
huses. After an attempt to oper-
ate a bus service to Dungloe
and Burtonport for a period of
eight weeks in the spring of
1931, the company was obliged
to terminate the service at Gort-
ahork, 2¢ miles short of the lat-
ter town, because of bad road
conditions and because the Don-
egal Cotinty Council threaiened
legal proceedings. This author-
ity eventually <claimed £710
irom the combanv for alleged
damage to the roads in guestion,
The claim was amicably settled
but the-company .had to under-
fake that it would not run ser-
vices in‘the avea in future with-
out permission. This enforced
change ‘in the pelicy brought
about the restoraiion of pas-
senger train services to the Bur-
tonport extension. Goods traffic
on the railway also dwindled
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with the eeonumies in thy pus-
senger services and the growth
of private lorries. Nevertheless,
considerable savings resulted
even from the pariial implemen-
tation of the company’s scheme
and the establishment of the bus
services, even on a limited scale,
proved a sound one, The defec-
tive roads were eventually mo-
dernised by the Couny Council
with the aid of Government
grants.

Suspension of the traln ser-
vice on the Letterkenny—Bur-
tonport extension line occurred
on Jupe 3, 1940, At the same
time the few remaining passeng-
er trains on the ILetterkenny—
Derty line were withdrawn,

The first of these moves caus-
ed considerable local opposition
as it was felt tha! difficulty
would be experienced in the
transport away from North-West
Donegal ports of such lecal pro-
ducts as fish. On one occasion
during irack removal, a hostile
crowd of some 200 people stop-
ped the work at Crolly Bridge.
‘Thig action {foilowed a meeting
at which it was resolved to pre-
vent the railway company from
furiher lifting the track., THow-
ever, the company, with the aid
of the  authorities, persisted,
and the work was completed
from Burtonport to Gweedore by
the winter of 1940-1941.

During the war the shortage
of petrol made it necessary for
the company to re-open the
Letterkenny - Gweedore section
in 1941 for goods traffic—chiefly
turt for fuel—and in 1942, fol-
lowing an air raid on Derry—
thke Derry-Buncrana Section for
passenger as well as goods traf-
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fier the redundant  buyses  thu
releascd were used for strength-
ening se-vices far removed from
the railway. There was a consid-
erable increase in the volume of
traffic offered to the company,
and sufficient profits were earn-
ed to enable dividends to be
paid in 1942 for the first time
in over 20 years. )

The motor-ferry service be-
tween Fahan and Rathmullan
was discontinued in 1%52, and
with its cessation went a unique
distinction-—that of the company
operating on road, rail and sea.
Now thie company has an even
more rare distinction—it is still
a railway company in name, but
it has no railway to work.

Most of the bus services are
daily, that to . Buncrara with
certain journeys conpecting to
and from Inch Island normally
operating on an hourly Schedule,
which at rush periods is huilt up
ta a foeur-minute headway. Ouher
routes are as follows: Derry—
Carndonagh Malin  Head;
Derry — Moville —  Shrcove:
Moville — Carndonagh;  Derry
Newtowncunningham  or
Bridge Fnd—letterkenny; Bun-
crana — Carndonagh; Leiter-
kenny — Churchhill ; Letter-
kenny — Rosapenna — Down-
ings; Letferkenny — Portsalon;
Letterkenny Gweedore
Burlonport; Falcarraght — Bun-
beg — Dungloe; Milford — Port-
salon — Shannagh; and Milford
and Kilmaerenan. As it will be

seen, most of these services
centre in Letterkenny and tim-
ed connectiong are made be-
tween them there to {acilitate

through journeys to Derry.
To maintain these services,



thére is a fleet of 50 buses, ine
cluding six double-deckers.

Tre administrative offices of
the undertaking arve situated in
Devry at Pennyburn, integrating
road and rail operation, Tais is
the criginal railway -depot sit-
vated on the Northern  bound-
ary of the city. a factor which
contributed to the popuiarity of
the bus services that reached the
town centre. Besides garaging
and servicing most of the bus
{leet and a large number of the
goods vehicles in Derrsy, there
exists a well-equipped workshe]
for major overhauls and running
repairs of all road and rail ve-
hicles. With the exception of
cranxshaft grinding, every pro-
eess in the reconditioning of ve-
hicles is carried ot:.

There is a good-sized garage
at Letterkenny and sub-depots
or dormy sheds at Bunctrana,
Carndonagh, Moville, Ramelton,
Burtonport, Downings and Port-
salon. In Derry {(Great James
Strest). a waiting-rcom. inguiry,
luggage, parcels and kooking ol-
fices are maintained. The Bun-
crana route, whieh is double-
decked, leaves from the adjoin-

ing Patrick Street. On all the
routes from Derry. tims is al-
lowed for customs examination

and each bus carries a customs
pass book for the signatures of
officials. Some few years ago the
Company erected a magnificent
building at Buncrana, where
waiting rooms. wask-up and
sanitary conveniences, as well as
. catering facilities, are provided
for passengers. This is one of the
most elaborate public {ranspor:
buildings to be faund anywhere
in provinelal Ireland,

A1,

care

applies itself

The directors of the company
Col. Sir Basil MecFarland,
Bart., (chairman), Dr, J. Mc-
Coimick, Mr. J. A. Piggot. Mr. J.
T, M'Farland and Colenel .. M-
Laughlin. Other officials arz M.
S. H. Bell, accountant, and Mr, J.
Armstreng, mechanical  engin.
eer, and there ara some 4007420
staif on the unde:staking, It is
interesting to nofe that the re-
maining railway seetion of the
undertaking provided about 10
per cent. of the gross earnings,
yet required 33 per cent. of the
total staff to operate it,
Although the Il.ough Swilly
company is relalively small com-
pared with the nationalised eon-
cerns on both sides of the Irish
sea, it wouid appear that the
much-talhed-cf  integratioh  of
road and rail transport offers
possibilities if the problem is ap-

proached in a realistic way and

that the operating organisation
on the ohe hand and the com-
petent authority, whether it he
the Government, a commission
or executive on the othor hand,
diligently to the
problem of mecting public re-
quirements effectively Lecause
in the final ana.ysis that is what
it amounts to.

From the point of view of his-
tory it is interesting to record
that when in 1903 King Fdward
VII and Queen Alexandra wvie-
ited Ireland the roval party
landed at Buncrana Pier and
travelled to Derry on the Lough
Swilly Railway. The Roval irain
travelled right inte the heart of
the city, itz distinguished pas-
sengers being able to alight al-
mast at the Guildhall, cenire of
the eity's civie admipisteation,
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The last frain leaving Burtonport on the eve of the closing
Letterkenny - Burtonport section of the Lough Swilly Railway.



One of the fivst chairmen of
fhe Lough Swilly Company was
Sir John McFarland, Bar{.. Aber-
foyle. Derry, whose son, Sir Basil
McFarland. Bart., now occupies
that office. The first was a Mr.
James Clay, Sir John assumed
office in 1896 and it is note-
worthy that it was under his
chairmanship that the line had
its era of greatest progress, main-
taining a dividend of 7 per cent
on its ordinary shares for many
years prior tc the 1914/18 war.

THE G.N.R. IN DONEGAL

The County Donegal Railways
(Joint Committee), as it is styl-
ed tc-day, is as the name sug-
gests, under the joint ownership
of the G.N.R. and the British
Transport Commission,

The Finn Valley Railway was
cpened from Strabane to Stran-
orlar in 1863 and was sSubse-
gquently exlended to Glentias
and from Donegal to Killyhegs.
This Company was amalgamated
with the County Donegal Rail-
way in 1891. The C.D.R. lost its
autonomy in 1906 when the nar-
row gauge railways of the South
County Donegal came under the
joint ewnership of the G.N.R.
and the L.M.S. (N.C.C.). Those
important lines had not an en-
tirely successful career, finan-
cially speaking, and negotiations
resulted in the arrangement fer
their future control by two broad
pauge companies, one Irish and
one English. The County Doneg-
al Railways Joint Commitiee
came into heing on May Ist,
1906, and is still operating as
such.

An extension constructed by
the Midland Railway Company

4

on varrow gauge from Blrabuue
o Derry wus opencd on Junuavy
1st.. 1904, by the British con-
troiled Midland Railwawy, but it
was not remunecrative. This line

paraliel to the G.N.R. line,

runs
hut on the other side of the
River Foyle.

A line constructed by the

linniskillen - Bundoran Railway
Co., 35% miles long, was opened
on June 13, 1863, and this later

became the property of the
Irish North Western Railway
Co., and later still the G.N.R.,
who to-day have the privilege
of serving this popular resort.
The Irish Highlands Hotel at
Bundoran, was taken over Dby

the G.N.R. and completely re-
novated by Aet of Parliament in
1897. The Londonderry-Enniskil-
len Railway opened a line, broad

gauge, for the 14 miles section
rom Strabane to Derry on
April 19, 1847, and this forms

part of the main G.N.R. line be-

tween Derry and Belfast via
Strabane. Omagh, Dungannon
and Portadown.

THE C.D.R.

From the pen of S. J. Carse.
a raeent issue of the Journal of
the Irish Railway Record Soc-
iety. gives an interesting sur-ey

of the working of the County
Donegal Railways. The Finn
Valley Railway «Co., the article

states, was incorporatied May
15, 1860. and the first sod was
cut bv the Marauess of Aber-
corn on Saptember 9, 1851, when
“His Tordship amidst the ap-
plause of the assembled spectu-
tors, divested himself of his coat
and wheeled away the turf on a
highly ornamental barrow, spec-
ially prepared for the occasion.”



!.Hlll,(_‘- reremony was Tollogd by
a dinner to which all and sundry
were invited., The usua. promises
were made hy ibe contractors
of reaching the far end of the
line in no time, and the Chair-
man, not to be outdonc, predici-
ed a dividend of at least 11%;
but, alas, neither of these two
promises was destined to be ful-
tilled. The time for opening ex-

tended from mnine months, as
promised, {o three years, and
the line was mnof opened tll
September 7, 1863. The. Lord

Lieutenant of Iveland. Earl Car-
lisle, thought tha ocecasion of
sufficient imnortance to attend
and in a felicitous speech declar-
ed the line open to traffic. In
orcer to avoid a bridge across
the River Mourne, the junction
with the Irish North Western
Railway was made a short dis-
tance socuth of Strabane,

Lord Lifford, the Chairman,
announced that he had set him-
self the task of building a rail-
way which for economy in con-
struction would be an  exampie
net merely te the United King-
dem, but to the whole vivilised
werld. The entire line, including
four stations, but exclusive ol
rolling stork, cest £70,000, about
£5.300 per mile. The FV.R. at
first possessed no rvolling stock
of its own; a contract was macs
with the LN.W.R. to supply en-
gines, carrciages and wagons,and
te work the line for 10 vears for
35% of the traffic receipts. After
the 10 vears a new arrangement
was made: the P.VR.,  housght
carriages and wagons, while the
I.N.W.R. supplied cngine power
for 9d per mile and received a
fixed sum for permission to
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work el Stiabane, The veeeipl;
of the FJV.R. increased from the
opening until 1878, when the
earnings were £7,000 per annum,
equal to aboui £10 per mile per
week, a dividend of 21% being,

paid on the ordinary stock,
After that year, however, the
revenue dreopped, and in 1881

payment of dividends on the or-
dinary stock had to be suspend-
ed. The West Donegal Railway
wag granted yowers on July 31,
1872, to huild a 3 ft. gauge line

from Stranorlar to  Donegal
town, 18 miles. The line was
opened to Druminnin now

Lough Eske) on April 25, 1882,
and thence to Donegal town on
September 16, 1889.

On June 27, 1892, the F.V.R.
and the W.D.R. were amalgam-
ated under the title of the Don-
egal Railway Company. In their
Report of 1888 the Royal Com.
mission on Irish Public Works
made suggestions for the deval-
opment of the Irish railway sys-
tem bv means of Light Railways.
As a result the Light Railways
(Ireland) Act of 1889 was pass-
ed, which applied where the pro-
moters made an agre2ment for
the working of the line by an
existing railway company. The
State aid took the form of a free
grant towards the cost of con-
struction. The Stranoriar-Glen-
ties section was constructed un-
der the provisions of the F.V.R.
(Stranorlar to Glenties) Order,
1801, at a cost of £124,883, of
which £123,886 was provided by
Government grant, and £1,000
hv the issue of stock to which
was attached a Baronial Guaran-
tee which ceased on the passing
of the Great Northern (Ireland)



aid Midland Roilways Aot 1906,
Alter the amalgamation of {he
FV.R. the Doncgal Railway Co.
completed the construetion of
the section. which was opened
June 3, 1895. From Donegal town
the line was extended to Killy-
begs and opened for traffic on
August 18, 1893, These railways
were worked by the D.R., the
profits, after payihg all out-
goings, to be divided equally be-
tween the State and Company.
As part of this arrangement the
D.R. undertook to convert the old
F.V.R. from 5 3" to 3' gauge, to
complete the line to Strabane,
and to provide a separate station
there. This was done in 1894 and
on July 16 of that year narrow
gauge traing began to run through
to Strabane. The  Strabane-
Derry line was opened August 8,
1900, and the Donegal-Ballyshan-
non branch, September 21, 1905.
Under the provisions of the Great
Nortbern (Ireland) and Midland
Railways Act, 1906, the Donegal
Railway wasg acguired jointly by
these two Companies (except the

Strabane-Derry section, which
passed entirely into Midland
ownership) and the present

County - Donegal Joint Committee
was established., The Strabane &
Letterkenny Railway was opened
Jaruary 1, 1909, and exceot for
some mineral lines was the last
narrow guage railway to be buill
in Ireland. It is owned and work-
ed by the Joint Committee, hav-
ing a Board of four representa-
tives of the Joint Committee with
a Bhareholders’ Chairman. In
1923 the Midland passed to the
LM. & S.R. (N.C.C.)), and this in
turn passed to the Rajlway Ex-
ecutive (British Railways) on
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Junuary 1, 1948, The Slrabaue-
Derry section was tuken over by
the U.T.A. in 1949 but continues
fo be worked by the Joint Com-
mittee,

The distance from Sirabane to
Killybegs is 50} miles., At Sira-
bane the station adjoins that of
the G.N.R. and consists of an
island platform connected by a
footbridge with the G.N.R. In
practice the services to Killybegs
use the Dear side, 1o Letterkenny’
and Derry the far side. Adjoin~
ing the station are the tranship
vard, goods store, and sidings,
and there is a tweo-road engine
shed. Leaving Strabane the line
iz carried over the River Mourhe
by a steel bridge, and afier tra-
versing a stretch of fairly level
country the frontier between the
Republic of Ireland is crossed by
a bridge 150 ft. long. Clady station
is 44 miles from Strabane, and
Castlefinn 6 miles. Botk are Irish
Customg posts, Preventive Staff
work being done at Clady and
Executive work at Castlefinn,
where both platforms are signal-
led Tor each direction, so that
trains can be brought into up or
down Dnlatforms as coavelient.
The Imperial Customs Post is at
Strabane. Between Castlefinn and
Stranorlar are Liscooly Halt., 8
miles; Killvgordon, 93 miles, and
Cavan Halt. 11# miles. At Stran-
orlar (131) miles are the head-
quarters of the Committee and
the principal locomotive sheds.
The Locomotive, Railcar, Carriage
and Wagon Shops, and the Gon-
eral Stores and Offices are situat-
ed here and there is extensive
siding accommeodation.

On leaving Stranorlar the line



crogies tho Fhun River Ly o stind
viadbel and beging the aseenl of
Barnesmore bank. The gradient
is 1 in 59 for the first mile, then
1% miles at 1 in 50 to Meenglas
Halt, foliowed by 1 in 60 to the
summit at 19} miles; there

ig a
short level stretch past Lough
Mourne, then 1 in 67 to Derg

Bridge (:1} miles) which is the
highest point on the line, 5914 1t
above Ordnance datum, Thence
the line descends at 1 in 69
through the Barnesmore Gip {e
Barnesmore Hall, and drops at
frequently changing  gradienis
(with some slight uphill stretch-
es) past Clar Bridge Halt and
Lough Eske te Donegal, From
Donegal the line follows the sea-
coast most of the way., passing
Killymard Halt (situated in a
valley between a fall at 1 in 061
and the 11 miles long Glen bank
to Mountcharles at 1 i 403,
Mountcharles, Doorin Road Halt,
Mullinboy Halt, Inver, Port Half.

Dunkineely, Bruckless, Ardara
Roal Halt, to Killybegs (504
miles). Thee are a number of

stiff gradients on this section, the
worst being 1 in 40 02 a T4 chain
curve at Seahill, Dunkineely,

The Strahane and Letierkenny
Railway, 194 miles long, swings
sharply to the right on leaving
Strabane, and crosses the jcining
of the Rivers Finn and Mouwmez

by a girder bridge 283 feet loag.

Liffcrd Halt is 1 mile from Stra-
bane and is the Irish custom:
post. Sidings are provided for
wagons waiting Customs examir-
ation and for local goods. Trains
also pick up or leave off mails
for the Post Office sorting depot
situated in the station premises.
There is a crossing loop at Rap-
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houv, LY wlles  Teein Shabare,
olher stiations  are  Ballindrai,
Coolaghey Hall, Convoy, Corna-
gillagh Halt. and Glenmaquin
where there was formerly a cross-
ing loop. but it was removed
many yearg ago. The Iongest
gradicnts are Raphoe bank, 13
miles at 1 in 45, and Convay
bank, 3 miles at 1 in 50/87.

The Stranorlar-Glettieg line
24 miles ‘ong., was closed to
regalar traffic on December 13,
1947, Since then it has been used
a few times for special Hvestock
traffic, the last iime being on
September 19, 1549, when &
special ran between Stranoriar
and (loghan with sheen. The line
has cince been closed to all traf-
fic. There were stations or halts
at Ballybofey, Glenmore, Elagh-
tagh, Clogan, (ilazsagh, Ballina-
more, Fintown (where there was
a ecrossing loop) and Shallogans.
On leaving Stranorlar the line
crossed the Finn river by a large
single span bridge, [t is one of

the largest in Ireland and was
originally irtcnded for a Nor-
wezian broad gauge line. The

Donega' and Baliyshannon branch
is 164 miles long. with stations
at Drumbar Halt, Larshey. Bridge-
{own, Ballintra, Dromore Halt,
Rossnowtlagn, Coolmore Halt and
Creevy Halt, At Ballyshannon
there is no connection with the
{(i.N.R., the stations being about
a mile apari and on epnosite sides
of the Emme.

In 1926 Mr, Heary Forbes.
Manager of the Joint Committee
from 1910 unii! his death on Nov-
emker 7, 1243, introduced petrol
railcars, by means of which he
was able to operate a more fre-
quent service, and stops could be



made at crossing gates to pick up
or set down passengers. These
cars proved so successful that
larger cars were built, titted with
Diese]l engines, The C.D.J.C. was
a pioveer in the introduction of
Diesel rail traction, No, 7 railcar
which went into traffic beiween
Strabane and Killybegs in  Sep-
tember 1931, being the first reg-
w'ar Diese] service in Lhe PBritish
Isles. In 1930 Mr. Forbes started
a road bus service between Glen-
ties and Resheg with two small
36 hp. Ford :20-seater petrol
buses.

In 1933, when Catherwood’s
buses had opened un a fine road
transport system, chiefly on the
Derry-Donegal-Sligo  recad. the
G.N.R., took over this route and
extended the services to hitherto
“isplated ceuntres like Carrick, Kil-
car, Glencolumbkiile and Malin-
more and Porinoco, In more re-
cent years a Service was opened
between Ballybofey and Letter-
kenny. Hitherto the only link be-
tween these iwo towns was the
long journey by rail, via Sira-
bane.

THE LOUGH DERG
PILGRIMAGE

On the borders of Fermanagh
and Donegal issituated the small
town of Pettigo, and 4} miles
away in a wild mountain district
is Lough Derg, where on Station
Island ig located the scene of St.
Patrick’s vision of Purgatory.
Here there is a basilica in Byzan-
tine style and a hospice. The an-
nual pilgrimage to this holy place
has become the most remarkable
in the world. Pilerims come from
all parts.

To indicate the modern growth
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of this pilgrimage the following
figures, taken from the records
of the G. N. R. Railway, are

of interest :— In 1929, 5933 pil-
grimg were carried; ten years
later in 1939, on the outbreak of
World War 11, 7,349 pilgrims
made the journey and in 1947 no
fewer than 17,062 pilgrims visit-
ed Lough Derg. In 1951 this figure
Jumped to 18,803 and notwith-
standing Holy Year Pilgrimage to
Rome in 1950, the figure was
18,450, But figures for 1952 broke
all records. The Great Northern
Railway carried 21,829. The bal-
ance arrived at Lough Derg by
private motor and mabty organis-
ed parties travelled in Coras Iom-
pair Eireann and Ulster Trans-
port Authority buses.

The pilgrimg arriving by train
at Pettigo station are brought out
to the lake shore in a fleet of
Grezt Northern Raiiway buses
whick are maintained at Pettigo
throughout the season for this
purpose. This service was taken
over by the G.N.R. in 1930. The
phenomenal growth in the volume
of pilgrimage traffic has made it
necessary to provide additional
facilities at Peitigo Station and
this work is now being carried
out. Many special traing run into
this station during the pilgrimage
season, but apart from these, the
majority of the pilgrims travel
by the now famoug “Bundoran
Express” from Dublin direction
which provides connection at
Clones from Beifast. The “Bun-
doran Express” runs non-stop
through “Northern” Ireland be-
tween Clones and Pettigo in each
direction thereby not only reduc-
ing the travelling time  for the
journcy, but also culting oul the



Customs examination at the vari-
ous boundary stations between
the two points.

In another number il is hoped

1o trace more fully the evolution
of transport from the days of the
“goat-tracks".

DONEGAL IN INDUSTRY

MANUFACTURE OF TWEEDS

ON(: before the State aided
industrial drive of recent
vears, Donegal-was playing a big
part in Ireland’s struggle for
economic salvation. Back through
the pages of nineteenth century
history one finds names that are
to-day world-known in the sphere
of industry. Their progress from
small beginnings makes reading
of abhsorbing intetest and to know
about them is to find new hope
for the future place which Ire-
land will hold in world affairs
whern the world, if cver, returns
to anything like normality.

In these pages only a few of
the industrial firms in the County
al present can come under Ie-
view. since it is history that is
our concern. Thiity years from
now, the history of modern be-
ginners can be written. Let s
hope it will prove as worthy of
naration as these
mention in the following pages

Weavers of Donegal tweed in
that county still use the well
tried methods and hand looms of
their forefathers, but their in-
nerited skill is now linked with
the mos{ modern ideas of design,
with the result that the industry

which we -
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has seen two post-war revolutions
—the production of a lightweight
cloth which is now being wused
exteusively in women’s suits and
dresses, and the building up of a
big export market.

Tweed has been handwoven
amidst the hills of Donegal for
centuries. The original type of
tweed was made with a white or
undyed warnp and a brown speck-
led or black yarn woven across
it giving a flecked appearance as
opposed to Harris tweed made in
Scctland, which has a solid or
self colour. If one examines a
piece of granite from any of the
Donegal hills it has wvery much
the same colour as the original
type of tweed and it is thought
that this typa2 was evolved be-
cause of the protective colouring -
it gave against the background
of granite hills.

It is this type of tweed which
is known throughout the world
as Donegal tweed and thig is one
of the great difficulties in en-
endeavouring to introduce legis-
lation to protect the mame
“Donegal”, as while this type of
Donegal handwoven tweed, in a
new, firmer and more -durable



tloth is still made, people in the
wollen trade throughout the
world refer to the many im-
itations, with a whitebackground
and mottled weft as Donegal
tweed—in a sense of {tribute to
the fame and name of the gen-
uine article.

In the early part of this cen-
turv a lot of the genuine tweed
was being made in Donegal in
the cottages throughout the
country. Unfortunately there was
no real supervision of quality
and with a good demand there
was a growing tendency not to
keep the standard of quality as
good as it should.. The tweed was
brought to the marke s and fairs,
usually in creels gn the back of
a donkey and there sold to oue of
a few firms engaged in the ex-
port and marketing of the tweed.

The firm of Magee, in Done-
gal town, which is now one of
the two big firms engaged in the
indugtry, bought tweed like this,
as far back as 1830. The difficul-
ty however was that while the
majority of the weavers made
good cloth, sometimes a bad
weaver would make cloth not up
to standard and if this was ex-
ported it tended to give the
tweeds g bad name, even if it
wag only one bad piece in acon-
signment.

Mr, Robert Temple, g Donegal
man himself, entered the firm of
Magee in 1887, the original Magee
being a cousin of his, and be-
came owner of the firm in 1801.
He scon real'sed that if the Don-
egal tweed Industry were tosur-
vive all thé handweaving must
bé dohie. under supervision and.
therefore, tock steps to gather
gome of {he best weavers around
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him in his own factory and to
send out yarn only to the good
weavers in the cottages, all cloth
made being carefully examined
in Donegal, That this was the
right policy was proved by the
fart that while the Donegal iweed
industry diminished greatly af et
the first world war, Magees have
continued to weave tweed all
through this difficult period, and
today export their cleths in in-
creasing gquantities all gver the
world. ™r. Robert Temple, now
chairman of the Company, in his
84th year still takes an active in-
terest in the products of hig firm
and is regarded as one of the
grand old men of Donegal.

It was always his policy to re-
gard the employees of the firm
as friends and many years ago
when such a thing was uncommon
he intreduced a form of tonus or
profit sharing. His son, Mr. H. L.
Temple, Managing Director of

the firm, firmly kelioes in ths

same policy.

Magees regard service and
value as 'being essential con-
ditions for success in business. A
gtaff pension fund was ingo-
duced a couple of years agd and
was received with great enthus-
iasm by the staff.

Mr. R. Harris is TProduction
and Export Manager and regular-
ly visits the wvarious Export
Markets all over the world, Last
autumn he visited America and
Canada and as a result of his
visit Magees have been able to
increase the amount of employ-
ment they give., A substantial
numhber of cottage weavers have
been taken -on. A new weaving
centre has been opened by them
in Gléncolumbkille and work has



just been completed on  an  ex-
tension to the Deonegal factory.
) In addition to the tweed mak-
ing a chirt factory is in oper-
aticn and an extensive whole-
sale businesg is done in suitings,

hosiery and general drapery.,

Visitors are cordially invited
to visit the factory and see for
themselves the various activities
which are carried on.

Carpet Making In Killybegs

Carpets on the world’s  luxury
ccean-going  liners, the Queen
Elizabeth and  Queen Mary

among:t them. on the floors of
t+"a Houses of Parliament in Cape-
town, of Buckingham Falace. th2
iri-k Embassy in London, Dublin
(Castle, and the Presidential resi-
dence. Arus an Uachtarian in
Phoenix Park. and in many other
State institutions thoughout the
civilised world, principally Am-
erica and Canada, give Donegal
craftsmanship an enviable place
in the annals of the crafts, Killy-
hegs carpets are world-famous.
It is doubiful if any other indus-
try in thesc islands attainsd the
praminence in world affairs that
this remotely placed Irish enter-
prise achieved in the days when
the skill of man was free of the
opposition of the machine.

The writer could net do better
than reproduce here an articie
from the “Freeman’s Journal” of
August 1860 as an outline of
how this industry came into
being.

“EVERYONE has long known

tkat more essential to the per-
manent welfare of Ireland than
even beneficent laws. would be
the natural spread over her cousn-
ties of active, healthy Industries,

but the difficully has always been
to find steady branches of In-
dustry that would not be too
sorely handicapped by the ab-
senece of coal with its accompany-
ing economy in power. Those who
travel from Donegal to Galway
and farther south, will admire
the wild. rolliing grandeur of the
scenery, but they will be still
more struck by the vast number
of cottars” huts dotted every-
where among the hills, consider-
ing the meagrene-s of liyelihood
that must be snatched from those
allotted roeds of rock and bog.
There iz @one of that natural
richness of soil which yields gold-
en harvests ungrudgingly; coal
and iron, that have made all the
world elsewhere wealthy in mod-
ern times, have kept severely
away from those districts, andit
is patent to any cbserver that
those who brave life there must
content themselves witk what lux-
uries hard work and patience
can extract from tog or harren
rock—a meagre fare enough, God
knows !

“Yet there they are. Thousands
of those families have eked out
their existence generation® after
generation for hundreds of years,
and despile the terrible "poverty
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it entails, there continues & pow-
er in those hills to attract and
enfold the people, for many who
wander away return again from
the luxurioushess of the cities, or
look back with yearning to the
simple, hard life among the hills,
Something pathetic there is in all
this, yet of great virtue, and in
those days when there is general
lament over the depopulation of
rural districts, and our teachers
cry for a return to country-life,
the feeling is surely one to be en-
couraged. Yet who would extol a
life of such deplorable poverty
as dependence on the soil among
those highlands affords, and if
we would have people in the rural
districts, we must ensure them
there higher comfort and easier
access to the better things of life
than can be snatched by slavish
worming of a livelihood from wut-
ter barrenness. And there lies
the problem: a people deeply
attached to a land which is in-
capable of supporting them by
ordinary means, for, after all,
romance and poetry are but thin
stuff for the stomach, and they
have to dig from the bog or
scratch from rock the fuel to
keep the fire a-burning.. To one
going fresh among such a people,
this work seems an enormous
waste of human energy. One
stroke of a M‘Cormick machine in
Colorada will reap more harvest
than a Celt with his spade in a
round year. Those rough, rumb-
ling hills were never meant to be
tilled, and the idea :at once strikes
a stranger,—Is there nothing else
these people can give, in order
to draw in, in exchange, some of
the bountifulness of the outside
world! What -of the sharp wits

of the Celts, and the hundred-
and-one fine qualities that tra-
dition gives him by birthy-right ?
What of that ability and
nimbleness that are never with-
out their outstanding examples
in high quarters, and which seem
to gleam from the ordinary Irish-
man under the commonest con-
ditions? Surely the world has
uses for those!

“Some such ideas occur to all
visitors to those parts, but some
eighteen months :ago the fact so
caught hold of certain manufact-
urers of artistic textiles, touring
there, that they resolved to make
a practical experiment, especial-
ly as they were on the outlook at
the time for districts where they
could work a certain hand-indus-
try that would employ large num-
bers of girls and boys. : This re-
sulted in their establishing, just
a year :ago next month, a place
for the making of Hand-Tufted
Carpets of the description known

‘as Turkish or Persian. The

peculiarity of this fabric is that
from its nature it must be a
hand-production. The tufts, or
“mosaics of small woollen
squares”, as William Morris calls
them. are tied by the fingers in
knots into longitudinal warps
which are stretched between two
long parallel beams. The Carpets
are made to the size and shape of
any room. The design is placed in
front, and the girls, from three
to a dozen according to the size
of the Carpet, select the colours
indicated row by row, which are
tied, then bound down by “shoots”
of woollen weft drawn. across the
entire width, and beaten firm by
small  iron-toothed  hammers.
There is interesting variety and
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pleasure in the work, and it is
such that = individual skill and
workmanship come largely into
play, Altogether it is just such an
industry as is suited to the rural
districts of Ireland. No steam-
power is required, and there is
therefore no handicap on the
commercial side by the absence
of coal, and, the production being
necessarily slow, a large propor-
tion of the ultimate value comes
from the labour. Moreover, the
chief charm of these Carpets
when finished is derived from the
very fact that they are hand-tuft-
ed, and have that stamp of in-
dividuality and irregularity that
no po\wer—loom can give. The
manufacturers who have under-
taken this venture make many
varieties of Carpeting by power-
loom, and it was owing to strong
demand from high-class custom-
ers over the world for a pro-
duction of more individual char-
acter, that they were led to re-
sort to this primitive method of
weaving. The difference between
a Carpet-produced in this way
and the ordinary smoothly-
shaven power-loom production is
much the same as that between a
real oil painting and a smart
coloured - lithograph. The real
article has dignity, individuality.
and with the increase of good
taste and wealth the demand for
the genuine daily grows. Unlike
“Homespun” tweed and similar
fabrics, the method is one re-
quiring human thought in the
process. It is-therefore an indus-
try which in its own way cannot
be superseded by power-loom,
and can be approached only by
mechanism of a highly-compli-
cated and uneconomical sert. In-
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deed it is this individual art
character which has kept the
Persian and Turkish Carpets in
steady demand for hundreds of
years, and makes them more
sought after to-day than ever. It
was also the appreciation of this
quality that led William Morris
to establish hand-tuft Carpet and
Tapestry looms at Hammersmith
some 20 to 30 years ago, and the
Carpets being made in Donegal
are of similar weave and charact-
er, though they do not aim at
such exclusiveness.

“The first year’s experiment
with the Irish girls has proved
that they are admirably adapted
for the work. The experience for
generations of the little “Home-
spun” and lace work that are al-
ways to be met with in Ireland
has been a first-rate - education,
for the girls show a nimbleness
of finger and sharpness of eye
for colour and form that have
quite astonished their teachers
and they take to the work with
a spirit and cheerfulness that is
quite refreshing, So . convinced
are the promoters now of its ul-
timate large success, that they
have planned out a broad scheme
that will spread this work all
over the West of Ireland, and
give employment to many hun-
dreds of girls and boys. In ad-
dition, and this is a most import-
ant feature, these goods being
made entirely of wool, the scheme
embraces the rearing of sufficent
sheep on these ‘Western High-
lands to supply the entire re-
quirements of the Industry, and
as this will be spun and dyed on
the spot, the composition of these
high art productions that are ul-
timately to find their way into



the best homes and halls the
world over, will be entirely Irish.
It is reckoned that one girl in
this Industry will work up in a
year the wool of 225 sheep. Thus,
when the number of girls em-
ployed grows to 1,000—the mat-
ter it is expected of a very few
years—it would mean the con-
sumption of the fleeces of over
10,000 score of sheep annually,
and a sum divided iamong ‘the
sheep-farmers of something like
£15,000. Again, for the spinning,
dyeing, and weaving of this wool,
the families of those farmers or
small holders would earn in
wages from £20,000 to £30,000,
making a total of perhaps £40,000
circulated annually among the in-
habitants of those Donegal hills.
So far as one can judge, the
scheme is both feasible and
eminently practicable. Confining
their efforts entirely to Donegal
at first, the promoters are build-
ing a place at Killybegs to ac-
commodate over 400 workers,
this quantity being available
within a radius of two miles
from the village. Having an ideal
harbour, as well as a branch of
the Donegal Railway, XKillybegs
is meant to be the centre depot,
where all wool will be collected,
and spinning anrd dyeing done
for the entire Industry. Other
branches, for weaving only, will
be made at villages such as Kil-
car, Ardara, Glenties, &c., and
the products collected to the cen-
tral depot for finishing and des-
patch. For more. scattered and
outlying parts where girls coul
not walk morning “and evening to
a factory, a simple device has
bheen invented whereby, after the
girls have learned the art, they
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can take the frame-loom to their
homes, and weave the quaintly-
designed rugs or Tapestry panels
in their houses, or as they watch
the sheep on the hillsides.

“We are gure all wish success to
this estimable and highly inter-
esting enterprise. Those who have
seen the Donegal Carpets must
agree that they need to depend
on no “Support-Home-Industries”
sentiment for trade, The choice
touch of art in the design and
colouring are the same that have
already won for the promoters a
world-wide reputation, and with
the sound quality of the texture,
we have little doubt that the
Irish Hand-made fabrics will soon
bulk largely in the markets of
the world. Already Carpets have
been made at Killybegs for some
of the ‘highest Decorative. Art
Critics in England and America,
and work is at present going on
for important public buildings.

Now that the success of such a
scheme has been established, it
is to be hoped others- will take
advantage of this hitherto almost
unrecognised vein of wealth in
our Western Highlands. For by
using the latent intelligence and
activity of a people to convert
the raw products of the hills into
articles of high interchangeable
value, they will link them to an
outside world that can give in re-
turn comforts which the most
slavish drudgery on bog could
never approach. The wits of the
people it is, after all, that form
the real wealth of the hills, and
if these can be properly ‘tapped”
things undreamt of ‘will doubtless
spring up. Freed from the rude
struggle for existence, and amid
those inspiring hills, the inherent

.



gualities of the Celt will again
assert themselves; the high
ancient Civilisation will be re-

called, with a new Celtic Art to
interpret it, as beautiful and dis-
tinctively National as any its
history records.

(“It is gratifying to know that
the Congested Districts (Govern-
ment) Board have given the ven-
ture the heartiest support from
the very outset, and the pro-
moters, the Messrs. Morton, of
Darvel, Ayrshire, speak in high
terms of the extreme courtesy and
assistance they have met with
everywhere, from priest and
people alike.”

August, 1899.

At present the factory is con-
trolled by Messrs. Morton Sun-
dour Fabics, Ltd. Carisle, which
was founded by Alex Morton,
who started the Killybegs factory.
A native of Ayrshire, he died in
1924 'at Bruckless, some miles
from Killybegs, where he had
resided for some years. His re-
maing were interred in his native
Ayrshire. He was succeeded as
chairman of the Company by his
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son, Sir James Morton, who was
noted for work of research in dye-
dyeing processes. Sir James
died in 1952 and wag succeed by
his son, Joceyln, the present
chairman of the company.

If the commendable scheme or-
iginally planned by the founder
of the factory did not materialise
in full, it can be said that the ex-
periment made at Killybegs fully
justified itself, for ever since Kil-
lybegs and its carpets have been

almost synonymous terms in
many lands.
There are other industries

wkich the writer would like to re-
view here, but spzce does not per-
mit. These are the knitwear in-
dustry at Glenties, which now
“employs half the countryside”,
and the Belleek Pottery, which,
though not of Donegal, is near
enough its borders to give the
county a pride in its werld-fame;
and, of course, Convoy woollen
mills, the founding and develop-
ment of which makes a story in
itself, These and other worthy
of note will be dealt within the
next and future numbers of the
“Donegal Annual.”



Ireland’s First District Justice

little over ten years ago, on

December 28th., 1942, the
mortal remains of Louis J. Walsh
—lawyer, dramatist, author :and
journalist—were laid to rest on
the grassy knoll of Conwal whose
northern side faces towards the
rim of hills that overlooks his
native South Derry. His death
at a time when his wide public
believed that he had yet two
decades of active, useful work
before him was not only a loss
to contemporary letters but took
from the national scene one who
ialways delighted in playing a
part in public affairs and Wwho
brought to the discharge of a
high office the Franciscan geni-
ality and broad charity that made
‘his Courts "the most popular
Tribunals in the land.
THE impermanence of news-

raper notices is -almost as
notorious as the forgetfulness of
those who write them, yet it is in
a way a soecial tribute to the
man himself that Louis J. Walsh
should be gratefully remember-
ed ten years after by the many
newspaper-men whom he made
his friends. Most Donegal reople
by now have forgottern the full
page obituary notices that ap-
peared and the special articles
contributed by men of letters from
all parts of the Catholic world.
But in the newspaper offices of
an evening when the work is
done and the last proof of a

dreary recording of the unim-
portant doings of a District
Council has gone to the compos-
itors, the revorters settle back
on their chairs and listen to the
flow of anecdote from the . older
men. Inevitably, one of the com-
pany Will remark “That reminds
me of Donegal and the day we
were at Falcarragh Court . .. ..
and off he goes into a delightful
reminiscence of the Derry-born
Justice for Donegal who dispens-
ed his own brand of judicial
mercy in the little barn at the
Crossroads. One good story calls
for another, and before one
knows, the air will be filled with
stories in which Justice Walsh
figured — figured always to his
credit and inevitably to the ad-
vantage of the newsmen.
WHEN contributing to THE
DONEGAL ANNUAL what
as

is meant merely a vignette

cne must cmit details that be-
long ‘more properly to 3 ‘bio-
graphy. Thus, it is taken for

granted that the reader already
knows in @ general way that
Louis J. Walsh came from
Maghera, that he studied under
Padraig Pearse, that he was in
gaol for his country’s cause
(though the genial Justice would
have it that he was interned for
his country’s good) and that he
became Ireland’s first District
Justice. It is assumed also that
his work as a Catholic publicist



in the United Stutes and in Aus-
tralia is too well-known {0 re-
quire inclusion here. All that is
aimed at in this brief notice is
to convey somdthing of the man
as seen by those professional
cyn;ics, the newspaper reporters.
It will not be disputed that the
pressmen have every advantage
when, after long experience, they
assess the worth of ' any public
figure. Their opinion in such a
matter is more likely to be right
than wrong and, recalling some
specific instances, it is only fair
to say that they are seldom in
error.

USTICE Walsh presided in No.

-1 Area, a Dbailiewick that
stretched from Malin Head to
Magheroarty and which con-

tained as diverse an assortment
of minor malefactors as a hard-
working Judge who was also a
humecrist = might wish for.
Throughout almost twenty years
the  monthly @and bi-monthly
Court sittings in this area were
as keenly looked forward to as
any of the more orthodoxly social
events, which however they far

outclassed in point of real in-
terest,
HAT impressed the regular

© frequenier of any of Justice
Walsh’s Court siitings was his
. great humanity and wide
charity—virtues which are diffi-
cult to reconcile with the invari-
ably stern processes of the law.
But where the unimaginative
Gardai saw in the dock the fig-
ure of an incorrigible rogue
whose numerous petty vagrancies
had -cost them Wweeks of labour,
the kind-hearted Justice peering
forward myopically to view the
shrinking offender saw only a
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lineal descendant of the Penitent
Thief. The man on the Bench did
not believe in tempering justice
with a little mercy; those who
watched him at work day after
day for many years came to
know that with him justice was
the same as mercy. On one
occasion a defendant came be-
fore him who had long done
v.olence to his last chance. The
Gardai were fair but firm. The
unhappy man could offer no ex-
planations, and it became clear
that a gaol sentence would have
to be imposed. Justice Walsh re-
minded his hearers that we all
must some day anpear before the
Great Judge and that we our-
selves would expect mercy in
circumstances much less promis-
ing than those in which the un-
fortunate defendant in the
presert case found himself.
“Therefore” he continued, ‘“as we
hope to receive mercy ourselves,
we must try to grant it to others”.
In the event, he sentenced the
wrong-doer to six months im-
prisonment but suspended the
sentence “as Christmas is now
but a few days away”.
T is only right to say that the
Gardai sometimes took a
poor view of the Justice’s kind-
ness towards the offending class.
They believed, and Wwith much
force, that laws should be  en-
forced especially where penalties
such as imprisonment were con-
cerned, and that the cause of
order. and authority was ill-
served by homely' admonitions
to constant offenders. Yet even

the enthusiasts for chasing the
owners of unlicensed dogs ‘and
the venturesome legion who

breezily undertook to decide at



what stage n citiven may bhe re:
garded as being in 4 condition
more accurately defined as “not
sober”, had tc admit that serious
crime was largely unknown in
No. 1 Area and that its Justice,
when the need arose, could be as
stern as he was benign.

N those cases coming before
him which involved some de-
gree of domestic friction, Justice
Walsh made it a rule to intervene
early in the case iand force a
settlement in open Court. Where
this failed (as often it did) his
suggestion that the parties on
either side might care to see him
in his private room frequently
resulted in a reconciliation and
the withdrawl of summons and
Cross-summons. Disputes be-
tween neighbours were similarly
dealt with, but not infrequently
the Justice saw that the proceed-
ings were brought, not to decide
the merits but “to have a day at
the law” and the law was allowed
to tzke its appointed course. A
long day during which he might
hear 2nd decide ten contested
cases and summarily adjudicate
upon fifty or sixty admissions
fourd the Justice at its end as
attentive and as interested as he
had teen in the morning. He
never affected the judical ignor-
ance that has served its. nurpose
in giving openings to studied
quips and epigrams. He was the
Darling of the Irish Bench only
in the sense that his repartee
was ‘as swift as that of his Eng-
lish contemporary but, unlike
him, entirely unsought; the open-
ings were not made—they made
themselves.
NE anecdote can now be re-
lated as all the parties but

one are dead. Many years ugo
Justice Walsh had the painfu!
duty of hearing at 'a special
Court 1 charge against 'a youth
then within a couple ‘of months
of entering a profession. The de-
fendant was accompanied by his
widowed mother, whose only
child ‘he was. Her distress visibly
affected the Justice who dealt
with the case in a mianner that
met the merits. but which would
leave no record against the lad.
When all was gver, the mother
thanked the Justice and sobbed
“Will you see it is kept out of
the papers; my boy is ruined if
this case is known”, The Justice
turned to the =solitary reporter
who had a'tended the proceed-
ings and said simply “This is
something for you. Do what you
can and ease a mother’s heart”.
Remembering many kindnesses
at the Justice’s hands, the press-
man whispered to him that the
case was already forgotten and
asked the Justice to be himself
the bearer of the good news to
the weeping mother. Within a
few minutes @a thoroughly fright-
ened and repentant youth and his
rejoicing mother made their way
from 4the Courtroom. - There is
much to be said in favour of
Clause 42 which has raised such
a storm in another place; widowed
mothers whose only sons go
slightly off the rails have no as-
surance that they will come be-
fore Judges whose -kindness is
equalled only by their humility.
SO.ME readers may remember

the comical puzzle which
Justice Walsh set the State away
back in 1939 when he innocently
enquired whether a prosetution
for the alleged importation of



silk stockings lay under the Scrap
Iron Ac¢t., The draughtsman after
some months gave some sort of
an answer but it was almost as
unsatisfactory as the Justice’s
own solution to the problem of
how to tell a girl’sage. The latter
- arose from one of his rules that
no girl under seventeen was {o
be admitted to a dance hall in
his Area. When a reporter lasked
how was any dance hall propriet-
or to know wa girl’s age the Jus-
tice was stumped and fell back
upon the fair-day expedient of
regarding teeth as a reliable
birth certificate.
WHEN giving judgment in .a
dase he always was careful
to explain to those litigants who
were their own attorneys that an
appeal lay against his decision,
iand proceeded : “Only oné man
in this world’s infallible, and
even he is infallible only on
certain occasions. Now. in this
case I am either right or wrong.
If I am right that’s an end to it,
but if I
get my verdict reversed. Tact-
tully, ne ignored discussing the
possibility that the Appellate
Court might also be wrong and
that the only effect of an appeal
might be to confirm an error.
In all the duties of his high
station he sought to act as the
friend and guardian of those in
distress and who had none to
plead their cause or commiserate
their follies. In his robes, seated
on the Bench, he was The Law
but surely it was difficult to
associate vengeful forms and
dread penalties-with the kindly
figure who 'mildly interposed
now and then to hazard an ex-
planation in fayour of - the de-

am wrong you can '’

fandant, or who guizzically re-
minded the Court audience that
all men have their faults. It is
thus he will be remembered.

USTICE Walsh was at work on
his Autobiography  when
death came to halt the busy hand.
He had not got far with the.
work. A few months before his
death a caller at his home in Let-
terkennv noticed (with the hands
of the clock pointing to within a
few minutes of midnight) that
the typewriter was in action and
a chapter “The Moy Fair” being
written. That chapter never was
completed. Only the mnext: day
the Justice became more gravely
ill and left his desk never to re-
turn. Recently, @ copy of the
first ten chapters of his Autobi-
ography showed how engrossing
la story the Justice intended to
make ~f his own life. He had in-
tended to write of his own times
much as Macaulay thought hist-
ory should be written—with all
the colour and detail that alone
can give the past a meaning and
bring it alive for the reader.
Yet, brief though they be, the
ten chiapters of the contemplated
work bring alive again memory of
the pale, square face, witl. the
broad brow crowning the pene-
trating eyes and the wisp oY hair
that never would stay in place
but often fell almost to the
spectacles. We hear in fancy the
well-remembered voice iand see
the plump hand grasp firmly that
pen which s in real truth “the
machinery of the Law” — and
across the film of memory
pictures flit so rapidly that we
lose trace of fall we wish io
remember,



The late Louis Walsh, Donegal’'s first Distriet Justice.






Antiquities in the Parish of Donegal

DISTRICT OF TOWNAWILLY
(0/S Sheeis 85, 86, 94. County Donegal).

1—Standing Stone in townland
of Ardevin (Ard Acthin) Bar-
nesmore,

Height 4'. Breadth 24’. Thick-
ness 87, No visible markings.
Facing S. W. Not Joecal stone but
of" a stratified nature. Evidently
greatly weathered especially to-
wards top. Occupies culminating
summit in  this townland and
surrounding district. Firmly em-
bedded.

2—=Standing Stone in Milltown
about 4 mile S, W. of No. 1 above,
Height 3. Circumference of base
10%, Firmly embedded and very
massive, Inciined northwards at
angle of about 20 degrees. No
visible markings. Local blue whin-
stone. Situated on low lying
plains. Apparently facing South
and comewhat rounded.

These would not be boundary
stones—The river Lowry running
parallel about 100 yds distant to
South would be the natural
houndary.

Local Tradition in regard lo
these stones. Niall of the Nire
Hogtages had two sons, Cenall
and Owen, whose chief pastime
was throwing the shoulder stone.
One day they entered into keen
competition at this, their favour-
ite sport, and their father prom-
ised the territory that extended
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away towards the West fo the
son that displayed the greater
prowess in throwing the stone.
Boghan stood on Cruach Eoghan-
ach (mountain pealk to south of
Barnesmore Gap) while Conall
stood on Cruach Conallach (peak
to north of the Gap). Eoghan's
stone landed on Ardevin (No. 1}
while Conall’s stone went further
West (No. 2).

It was thus this County got the

name Tir Conaill in the olden
times and its people became
wnown as ipe  Cineal  Conaill
(c.f. Cineal Conaill and Cineal

Eoghanach).

OTHER YLACES OF INTEREST
IN VICINITY
Carnhill in townland of Ard-
nableask (Ard na n-Blaosc —
skulls). The hill knewn as Ard-
nableask is quite near to Carn-
hill,

The Fort on top of a conical
hill overlooking Lough Eske in
townland of Ardevin. There
scems to have been a circular
buttress of stones about 8 ft.
nigh, the inside of ring being
level. Diameter of ring abouf 15
yvards. Greatly overgrown with
blackthorn and massive stones
strewn about on hiliside. On



western side of hill there would
appear to be a large cap stone
sliding off its supports but it is
50 massive that vou couid nci
imagine human sirength moving
it into such a position as to form
a Dolmen.

Roisin in Ardevin is a  small
peninsula on shore of Lough
Eske about 200 yds west of Fort.
Tt is a disused graveyard said to
be consecrated and possibly used
as a burial place when Framceis-
cans ministered in the Friary —
the townland on opposite shore
of Lough Eske after their ex-
pulsion {rom Donegal Ahbey. The
owner of adioining land told me
bodies wunearthed there were
wrapped in flannel — possibly
Franciscan Grey.

Tcbar Na mBrathar a fow
fields to west of Reisin on shore
of lake.

Friar’s Bush coincides with
townland of Avdnawa'k (Ardan
Ambhaire). It is said that a Fran-

cisran Friar was surnmarily
hanged here v the Redcoats. It
is just at Wesiern entrahee fo

Barnesmore Gap.

Ardawark (Ard an Amhaire}
—Lookout Hill). It was on this
hill wihich commands a view of
passage through Gap and away
towards Donegal that the senlries
kept a lookout for the Redcoats
in the Feral times whila the
nricsts (Ar a Seachnadp)  cote-
brated Mass in-the neighbouring

fasiness of Cullinboy (Culiinn
Buidhe),
Graine Ni Baogiaill when a

very old woman toid ‘he foilow
ing story (in Iiish of course} to
Patrick Callaghan wno was about
10 years old at the time. Callag-
han died 6 years ago at the age

of 7l;=—The people of Townawilly
were eagerly lnoking forward to
attendimg Christmas Mass which
was to be celebrated in Cullin-
boy. The women fo'k of the dis-
triet had rush candles in readi-
ness days beforebhand and when
the great day arrived they were
off to the apnointed venue long
before dawn., But some spideoir
had deone his fell work and when
Mass was in progress the Red-
coats eluded the lookout by cross-
ing the mountain from the South
and there was no opportunily of
giving the reguired warning of
their aporoach. Thus the soldiers
surrounded the assemb.ed con-
gregation unawares. Loud lanfen-
tations from the worshippers
broke forth. “A Mhuire Mhathar
cuidigh Linn—A Mhbuire Mhath-
air Saor Sinn.” Immediately the
soldiers fell prostrate and help-
less remaining in that posilion
until Muass was over and all had
departed. Thus did the Virgin
sugcour them in the hour of
danger,

Chayr. a spoecies of Alpine sal-
mon are caught in great numhbers
with ba't in Lough Evke during
spawning  season (November)
when they come close to shore.
They ‘are gencrally of a uniform
size weighing about 2 ozs., and
are said 1o have been put there
by the Franviscans. They are
feund in one other lake in Ire-
land, somewnerce in Westmeath.

The Friary is a townlangd situ-
ated on the Killvmard side of
Lough Eske. 11 was here the Friars
seftied when banished  from
Daonegal and ministered 1o the
Spiritual warts of the neighbour-
ing districts. 'There 'is now no
sign of a Church or building there



but Toubar na mbrathar and Roisin
alrcady nuted, as well as Droicead
na mbralhar ang Casan  na
mbrathar, all close by, scem 1o
be associated with their activities
here.

Droichead na mbrathay the re-
mainsg of an old bridge spanning
the Clady river between the
Friary and tireenans (Grianan).

Dolmen in townland of Friary
in tield above Lough Eske school
on mountzin side of Ceannachar,
I did not yet gel an opportunity
of cxamining it but it ig said to
consist of a massive cap stone
supportied bty pillar stones.

Ccsan na mbrathair marks the
way leading f r o m Edregole
(Eadar Gebhail) cn  northern
shore of Lough Eske and leading
to Glenfinn, It consists of small
cairns of quartz principally, af
about distances of ! mile on this
journey and served as a guide to
the Brathair in mist and fog on
their wayv over the Cruacha
Gorma mountains. They are still
very useful as land-marks to
shepherds when caught on meun-
tain in foggy weather.

Stone Circle (?) About twce
miles along the Casan na m-bra-
thair are the Leachtai Bana at a
place called Dubh Chro. It isonly
lately I chanced to hear of it and
did not see it. It has been des-
cribed as '@ large stone circle on
a height, the stones standing on
end, a much larger stone stand-
ing oulside the circle. As far as
I can understand therc are two
smaller circles on lower ground
near hand. There is not miuch op-
poriunity of visiting it in winter.

Leachta Seain Ui Liathain has
been described as a large -arti-
ficial Carn east of Loch Bealsead
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and near Casan naz mBrathair, I
can find ne traditien in regard
{0 1t so far.

Lech Beal Sead lakeg ils name
probably from the sparkling
sands and quarty comparable to
Scadg or Seoda at itg mouth
where the Easdunain issues {o
Lough Eske. It lies about midway

towards summit of Cruacha
Gorma.
Qilean Ui Dhomhnall (Island

O’Donnell) lies towards southern
ghore of Lough Eske off Ros
Dubh., Area zbout 5 roods. It is
surrcunded by a wall about 10 or
i1 ft. high and 4 or 5 ft. in thick-
ness.

Wall substantially constructed
of very large stones and mortar,
containing many leop holes and
buttresscs, Large enirance or
gateway towards land. Apparent-
ly a stronghold or place of de-
fence in retreat. Taere arve the
ruing of a building on North side
of island,

Local Tradition states that Is-
land O’Donnell was used as a
prison by the O'Donnell Princes
when they held sway in Caislean
an Uisce. (11 is not known wheth-
er these priscners were military
or c¢ivil or bolh—perhaps host-
ages). It is said that Island
O'Donne!l and Caislean an Uisce
(about 2! miles distant) wcre
connected by meang of a {unnel.

Carraic an Aifrinn in Goladoo,
Townawilly, Near hand there ig a
rocky field that would remind
one of an c¢id burial ground.
Some of the stones orcupy strange
positions in regard to one another
and it would seem strange that
so many of them should be so
placed naturallv. There is no
local tradition,



The Colre— a cave mmnong e =Y ey wes tent g Mr,

hills near the stone eircle (7) Mae Tochlainn in response {o his
deseriberd, appeal =ent ond in 1930 on  the

NOTE—This excellent lif{le un-

fermation of the County Council
commitiee for preservation of
Loza! Menuments)—EDITOR.

Antiquities In And Around Killybegs

I—Stragar — (0.8, 91, 92y  six
large stones standing in 2
rough ellipticac space and
some distance apart., Evident-
Iy a grave monument.

23— Carricknamchili — Megaliih-
ic Mcnument with dolmen at
one end-—running N. and 8.
It has every appearance of
being a burial monument.
3—Roughwood — Altar Rock —
(ii)The traces of an old doubtz
Fort (Caiseal), Splendidly
chosen for defensive purposes.
4—Creaghlin—Sgreag an Alfrinn
(a cross is cut on faceof rock
in frent of supposed Mass-
stone, The cross which seems
10 be the work of recent hands
is 15" by §” and plain)
5—NLargy na Greana {O/3. 91, 97)
—Roger's Farm — A raiscd
mound of earth forming a
rough cirele about 33 yds in
diameter and seems to be the
seat of a crannogz.—The loral
people say that it was a placs
used for training horses. A
paved patk led from 1his
“Guirtin®” (logal name).

G6—A double ring fort 180 vyds
further North, on same farm
known locally as  Caiseal
Charaigh, This Fort is, or

was, almos{ circular but about
one sixth of it has been quar-
1ied away to make room for 2
garden and the stones have
been used in the boundary
walls.

7—To the north of the ring fort
(V1) is a fine specimen of
dolmen running East and
West ; but 6 feet of the west-
ern cnd huas been removed o
clear a way for a road. What
remaing is wedge shaped 5 feet
at closed and narrow end and
6 feet at wider end, wherg
portion has been removed. It
is about sixteen fect long an!
vory well covered with mas-
sive slabg of rock.

R—0On top of a hill in next town-
land, Lisnacleithe, iy an “altar
rock”™  from which the hill -
Cnoc-na-hAltoire takes its
name. The Mass-rock measures
9 x 34", and streiching east-
wards from the rock i a row

of 14 standirg stones — some
almost touching, others
about a foot avairt — which
may be termed an “Align-
ment.,

-In Lias ng Cleithe there are
the remaing of the ligs from
which the townland takes its
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11—Stil! further West in

12—In the townland

name, but tke stones have been
quarried icr building purposes
to such an extent that the Lios
is aimost obliterated, The pos-
ition of lios rendercd it diff-
cull 1o capture.

10 —In the same townland and in

view of Caisea! Caraig (VI
wiich lies about 700 y¥ds to
the Easi, is a mound known
as Crocan Charaigh, It is a
hillock with a fiat {ton. but
there are no indications of
habitation there.

same
townland is a spot known as
the Scalan.

of Castle-
common to the west of Killy-
begs on Mr. MclIntyre's farm.
is a very peculiar structure.
It consists of two parallal
rows of standing stones of
immense  size, supporting
covering stones of still great-
er size and extending east-
wards ynder a cultivated
field. The local peope believe
that there was an under-
sround passage leuding to
Caiseal Chomain (which we
were unable to locate) on 1o
Caigeal Charaig which lies
almost due north from it and
about 1,200 vards distant.

13—There is a Megalithic monu-

ment in the townland of
Drimanoe (O-S 97). It runs
Fast-West and is 16 feet long
and about 6 feet wide. There
are no covering stones,

14—Remains of an old Franciscan

Friary to the south of Killy-
begs town,

15—On an eminence to the south

14—1n the Catholic

of the remains of the Fran-
¢iscan  Friary stand the
ruing of the castle of Killy-
hegs.

Churck in

Killybegs a coffin  shaved
slab is cemented into the
East wall. It bears curiousiy
carved shapes of animals
and humans,

17--In the ssame church iy 2
mural tablet to commems.-
ate the sixteenth century
Bishop McGonigle's assoei-

18—At the

ation with Killybegs, He at-
tended the Council of Trent
and is helieved to be buried
within the walls of the old
Franciscan Friary, His Mar-
or house may have been that
now known as Klillybegs
Castle.

bridge near Mrs.
Ryan’s, Lough-head, there is
an Altar stone about eight
feet long and two feet wide.
The bridge iz often called
Droicead na h-Altaire, Dur-
ing the Penal days Masg was
celebrated on this rock and
it is said that boats were al-
ways kept in readiness for
the priest’s escape if danger
threatened. There is at the
door side of Jim McBrearty's
house of Roughwood a large
hollowed stone which tradit-
ion says was used as a Holy-
water font at this Carraic-na-
hAltaire,

(B. J. McNELIS, KILLYBEGS.

$idi
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KILBABBIN

(A link with the days when the
O'Dohertys were chiefs of Ard-
miodhar),

In the townland of Cavan
Lower (parish of Donoghmore,
bareny of Raphos Scuth O/S.
78.) there is a fleld belcnging
to Mr. Hugh Alexander known
as Kilbathin. In it is the sile of
a graveyard which was but 2
few perches in area, but which
locally gave ifs name 1o the
whole fizld and the whole is now
cultivated as one field.

About sixty years ago a farm-
er, named John Gallen, who own-
ed a little farm heside the ceme-
tery, died. Ii was said that he
remembered seeing. while herd-
ing cows in a field adjoining the
eraveyvard, a funeral  party
arrive there. Gallen was then a
lad of scven or cight years old
and this event, unusual and
made ail the more unfoward by
ih> gathering {wilight, frighten-
ed him into  driving the cows
home. In later life he lold this
story several times.

It aovpeared to him that there
were two 0) three men of the
party, and that they had a coffin
en a wheel car, a forerunner ot
the present farm eart in hilly
districte,  They did not proceed
with the digging of a grave ut
once. but sat around and partock
of some form of refreshment for
he saw them drinking from o
jnr which was handed  avound,

The horse began to crop  the
grass very greedily and appeai-
ed to Gallen to have come a long
distance, The late Monsignor
McLaughlin, P.P. of Donagh-
more, was interested in this old
graveyard and asked me {o show
him the site. He was very dis-
uppointed to find no irace of a
boundary between it and the
field.

John Gallen died when he wag
eighty vears old So thal the last
burial in Kilbabbin must have
taken place about one hundred
and thirty years ago.

The late  Father  Walter
Hegarty was also very interested
in Kilbathin and some twenty
vears ago he recarded the follow-
ing, based on ftraditions receiv-
ed from Father James O'Fla-
herty:—

“Cill Babin was  (he  special
burial ground of the O'Doliertys
and when they removed from
their originul headguarters near
the Finn to Inis Eoghain they
still loved to bring back their
dead to Cill Babin.,  This would
show that this church like Kill-
faugher in Clonleigh parish was
i foundation and under the pat-
ronage of that noble family. It
may possibly throw some light
on t h e jurisdiction of Ard
Miodhair.”

P. Maguirve, Cooladawson,



GLEANINGS FROM OLD NEWSPAPERS
AND MSS.

MURDER IN FANAD

“While men were cutting  turf
in Ballvkinard becg on  Friday
evening 21st Sept., 1840, they

discovered the body of a woman
dressed in a dark stuffed gown
and flannel petticoat with a
geurlet handkerchief tied round
her head. The body was perfeci-
ly presered, flesh notl the least
decayed or shrivilled and fre2
from smell, Her throat was cut
in a most frightful manner, the
hair and riband encircling the
head was stained with blood and
the left arm was broken. At the

inguest  held in the parish
church at Fannet, by Mr. John
Miller, coroner, several wit-
nesses clearly recognised and
identified the body as that of
Betty Thompson, wife of the
Inte O w e n MeSwine. Mrs,
McSwine disappraved in  the

month of May, 1811 under cir-
cumstances of a most suspicious
nature and it was rumoured from
the time she was missed that
she had been murdered and her
body buried in the bog. Strange
to say no search was made nor
did any investigaticn take place
until the bodv was accidentally
discovered near the surface of
the bog—and there ig little doubt
that sufficient evidence formerly
existod {(p have led tn the  con-
viction of the murderers,

It wos really astonishing to
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see a human bocdy for 30 years
inhumed in g bog with the line-
aments apparently  perfect and
unchanged as the day the unfor-
tunate creatuse was 1usdered
and the clothes of the deceased
were uninjured by time. Even
ithe small pox., with which she
was slightly marked. was clearly
discernible . . . . the figure was
finely rpreportioned, and the
limbs perfectly elastic and most
exquisitely formed with beauti-
ful dark hair flowing round the
neck, as if veiling from the eye
of nature the horrid deed .. ..
te the credit of the parishioners

every exertion was made 1o
throw light on the mysterious
deed. but without effect. The

Jury found — that the body was
that of Betty Thompson, who
disappeared in the month of
May. 1811 and that she came by
her death in consequence of a

wound inflicted on the throat,
with some sharp instrument, by
SOMe PErscn ©Or persons un-
known."”
(Derry Journal)

COUNTY DONEGAL
NEWSPAPERS

“Phe Ballyshahnon Herald”

was the first newspaper printed
and published in County Don-
egal. Ttg first number appeared

in July, 1831, under the editor-



ship of a Sligo man, David Car-
fer. 1f was ultra Conservalive
and Unionist in tone and, at
times, extremely anti-Catholie.
To counter-act its influence a
rival was sct up entitled “The
Ballyshannon Patriot,” which
proved abortive, for oniy four
numbers appeared. Some years
later the Sligo Liberals, encour-
aged bv their success with “The
Sligo Champion,” founded in
1836, tried to help the County
Donegal Liberals by opening a
printing house in Ballyshannon
and issuing from it a Weskly
newspaper ‘“The Donegal Liber-

ator” in 1839. It went out of rir-
culation after 1@ months, Are
there any copics of these public-
ations extant?

A LINK WITH
OLIVER GOLBSMITH

“Died at Carrigart on 23 Aug-
ust, 1883, aged 88 years, Letitia
Coll, otherwise Dennision, wid-
ow, for 40 years sextoness of the

parish church of Meevagh, She
was the grand-daughter of the
noted Doctor Wilder, Oliver
Goldsmith's  tuter in  Trinity

College. Dublin.”
{(Derry Sentinel).

Burials At Knader, Ballyshannon

Towards the end of March.
1952, while opening a drain, Mr.
Alfred Patton unearthed some
human bones near his new house
at Knader, Ballyshannon,

Unfortunately the thones were
very much disturbed and broken
by the excavation, but some facts
could be gleaned without explor-
atory work, and it was decided
to leave Ifurther inyestigation
until & later date.

There were ftraces of three
burials along a 10 yard section
of the drain, but only in one
case were lhe remains found to
bhe in a fair state of preservation
This interment was, as far as
can be seen at the moment, fac-
ing east. The depth of soil on
the rock in this area is only
about 15 inches -and the grave
had been dug down to rock. No

surround of stones on edge is
apparent. No weapons or other
articies have so far been found.

Dr. Swan of Coxiown examin-
ed some of the pones and con-
firrmed that thev were human,
but he could not give any indic-
ation of how long since the bur-
il took place. His opinion was
tnat the few Dbones inspected
looked rather light for a fully
grown man. However, the fact
that the bones were very brittle
may indicate that they were ot
considerable age. There wure no
mounds of earth  perceptible
over the graves such as may be
seen on graves a century old or
more,

There is a lJocal tradition of
the existence of a burial ground
in the townland of Knader, but
until this recent discovery the



location wad unknown.

Mr. George Patton indicated
the approximate position ol
part of the bank of a rath form-
ation and poinfed out a bank
some 2 ft. high about 15 yards
long running approximartely east
and west, and near the centre of
the rath. The bones were un-
earthed beiween this bank and
the southern limit of the rath.
The rath or iis which must have
been about 200 ft. in  diameter,
was divided approximately in
half by a stone and sod wall at
some period. The western half
has not heen traceable in living
memory, an d although Mr,
Alfred Patton’s house is on this

part of the site, nothing of in-
terest was found when the
foundations were opened. The
eastern half was fairly clearly
defined until destroyed by the
excavation of a channzi during
the construction of the Eme
Hydro - Eleciric Development
Scheme. !

Allingham  mentions, in his
‘‘Ballyshannon: Its History and
Antiquities,” the existence of an
ecclesiastical lis in the townland
of Knather and the unearihing
of bones. Is this the lis on Mr.
Patton’s land?

P. A, Jackson. M.A., M.AIL,

Map of district where

bones

were unearthed,
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A FEW HINTS ON CORRECT
ARCHAEOLOGICAL NOMENCLATURE

I'or many years wrilers on
Irish Antiguities have been in the
habit of using a variety of terms
that are bewildering and often
very misleading. Anyone familiar
with the Journal of the Royal
Society of Antigquaries wmust be
aware of this.

Implements should, as far as
possible, be described under ths
names of the modern implcments
they represent, c.g. a stone, cop-
per ¢crbronze, axe, hatshet, chisel
ele., should be so named, and not
a celf, Ring Forts, Earthen Forte,
Double Forts, Triple Ring Forts,
should be so named. dropping the
terms  “Dun”, “Cahir”, and
H“Caiseal”.

Standing stones of from 3 07
or 4 0" upwards that have evid-
ently beeny sat on end for a pur-

pose should be carefully examin-. ~

ed for scorings, marking of any
kind, possibly ogams, and aceuar-
ately described. and many tra-
ditiens connected with them rve-
corded. Everyone had a signili-
cance. Some undoubtedly -are
Grave Monuments, and many of
them are Boundary marks.

A row of standing stones, three
or more in a straight line, is an
Alignment. In 2li cases accuraie
measuremetts should be recorded.

A Stone circle is a ring of five
or more standing stones. Note
carcfully any large standing stone
in the lot, not quite in the line of
the circle, Thig is important,

A Boulder cirele is a ring of
boulders, not  standing  stones,
sometimey found around Dohnens.,
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supporting the Cap

A structure copsisting ol large
biocks of stone pitched together
on end, not built into a wall, had
better be described as a “Megali-
thie Monumeni”, The term
“Giant’s Grave”, though as old zs
the days of Si. Patrick, should be
dropped.

A structurc consisting of three
cr more standing stones support-
ing a large Cap stone should be
designated a Dolmen, the name
by which these structures are
known over most of Eurcpe, The
name Cromleck, confined te Ire-
land, is a misnomer, and s not
understood by Continenta! Anti- -
quaries, While these are, un-
doubtedly, Sepulchral Monu-
ments, they should not be called
Giant's (raves. and certaintly
not Druids’ Altars, nor the beds
of Dermod and Graria.

A similar structure
Ireland) with only two
stone,
where it is evident a third
port has not been  remover,
correctly named Trilithons.

Half olmen. Frequenily we
find one cnd of the Cap stone
resting on the earth, and that has
been its original position. where
there is no evidence that it slioped
into that position. Such a Mnanu-
ment may be deseribed as a haf
Doimen, a Demi-Dolmen., or an
“Earth-foot TDolmen”, Half Dol-
men is preferred.

A siructure consisting of two
parailel rowe of standing stones,
Fz!p])ﬂl‘lir'lg_I‘t.)\‘(“l‘l‘n_.f', stones, i an
Allre Converte,

(rare in
stones
and
sup-
is



Wedge Dolmen. An Allee Con-
verte in which the rows of stones
are not parallel, but converge to-
wards one end (which is general-
Jy closed by one or two standing

stones) is best described as a
Wedge Dolmen.

Bee-hive huts should be so
named — not Clochans. Such
structures of small size (5 to 8
feet in diameter) standing on

the bank of a pond or river may
be Sweat-houses, Irish Vapour
Baths, the predecessors of the
European Turkish Bath.

Artificial islands in lakes, gen-
erally adjoining the residences of
the old local Chiefs, and in use
down to the fifteenth century, had
better be described as Crannoges,
not Lake Dwellings. They were
as a rule too small for permanent
dwellings, and were more likely
stcre houses, and places of re-
treat in time of danger.

Stone “Grave Mounds”. Conic-
al heaps of stones put together to
mark a grave are correctly de-
scribed as Carns. They have gen-
erally an outer ring of retaining
stones, or flags partly sunk in the
ground.

An artificial earth mound is
zenerally called a Tumulus, un-
iess there is a necessity for a dis-
tinguishing adjoctive, when it is
described as a l.ong, Round, or
Disc-Barrow.

Cist-Carns or Cist-Tumuli are
Carns or Tumuli. having a box-
like Cist. Chambered Carns o’
Chambered Tumuli have a gen-
erally pretty large burial
chamber. _

The names Meonastery, Abbey.
Priory, and Friary are-applied in-
discriminately to all remains of
{he residences of Religious, and
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seldom correctly.

The Monastery was the resi-
dence of the regular Religious
Orders, (originally wholly de-
tached from wordly concerns),
such as the Benedictines, Cister-
cians, etc. Those of higher rank
governed by an Abbot were cali-
ed Abbeys. Assaroe is probably
rightly called an Abbey. Those (f
lower rank governed by a Prior
were called Priory. Outlyinz
branch houses, in which a few
monks worked a farm and zent
its produce to the mother house,
were called Granges, and the
monk in charge a Granger. As-
saroe had a number of those in
County Donegal.

Friary. The Convents of the
Mendicant Orders (1) The
Franciscans; (2) The Augustin-
ians; (3) The Dominicans; (%)
The Carmelites or White Friars
should always be called Friaries.
Donegal was a Friary not an
Abbey. .

Names or words in any intelli-
gible script are described as 1iIn-
scriptions. Any other markings,
such as cup and ring, circle
marks. trumpet marks, that have
not a literary significance may
be described as Scribblings. Even
the slightest artificial mark on a
stone should be recorded.

A BOOK WORTH BUYING
Prehistoric Ireland by Dr. Jos-
eph  Raftery— Batsford Ltd..
London, 18s; p.p. XVI & 228 267
illustratiens.

A BOOK WORTH ORDERING
The new editicn of . Dr.. Sean
O'Riordain’s Antiquities of the
Irish Countryside. which will
be on sale in the near future,



Donegalmen In The American

War Of Independence

"HART in his
opened the genealogy of the
Conyngham families of Lancaster
and Wilkes Barre, U.S.A., with a
romantic account of their Irish
ancestor, Alexander Conyngham,
of the Glencairn family, who set-
tled ‘at Rossguil in the early
seventeenth century. He is credit-
ed with having - (what was then
quite a common occurence) mar-
ried the daughter of one of the
dispossessed chieftains;. in the
case one of the MacSweeneys.
The Conynghams of Lancaster,
U.S.A., are descended from their
eldest son. Adam Conyngham.
The descendants of Adam
Conyngham’s brothers, David and
Gustavus ‘are, however, those
which now interest us.
AVID Conyngham, we are told,
married a daughter of ‘“the
renowned Irish chieftain, Red-
‘mond O’Hanlon” and their eldest
son Redmond emigrated from Let-
terkenny to Philadelphia with his
wife, Martha. daughter of Robert
Ellis, and their family about the
year 1756. Redmond Conyngham
was a trained sea captain and on
occasions took command of a
merchant ship owned by John
Nesbitt & Co. of Philadelphia.
Eventually he was offered a
partnership in this firm which
then changed its name to Nesbitt
and Conyngham. About the year
1767 he grew tired of America
and returned to Ireland. His son,
David Hayfield Conyngham took

Irish Pedigrees -
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over his father’s partnership in
Fhiladelphia and became c¢ne
of Washington’s most valued sup-
porters in the War of Independ-
ence. He was the father of John
Nesbitt Conyngham, LL.B., born
in Philadelphia, 1738, one of the
foremost American Jurists of the
last century. His descendants
were living in Wilkes Barre at
the close of the century ‘and one
of them was the wife of the Rt.
Rev. Bacon Stevens, D.D., Bishop
of Pennsylvania.

GUSTAVUS Conyngham, third

son of Alexander Con-
yngham and Miss MacSweeney,
married his cousin Gabrizl
Conyngham and their son was
also named Gustavus. He, too.
emigrated to the New World andi
served as a ship’s officer under
his cousin, Redmond Conyngham.
When war broke out he passed
into the American navy with the
rank of Captain and on 2nd May,
1777, his ship, “The Surprise”
captured the British packet boat
“Prince of Orange” in the Eng-
lish Channel. He was, in turn
captured by the Royal Navy but
escaped while being sent, in irons,
for trial. He managed to find his
way back to the Revolutionists
and was given command of the

U.S. warship “Revenge” which he
commanded until 1784.
IN a footnote O’Hart tells that

Redmond Cunningham was

named after his maternal grand-

father; Count Redmond O’Hanlon,



the famous Raparce of the seven-
teenth century and in support of
this quoted the following {radit-
ion :

“In the Conyngham House at
Letterkenny was (and likely
still is) preserved on the
mantlepiece a stone on which
it is recorded ............ e
Redmond O’Hanlon once be-
came separated from his fol-
lowers and being weary he
lay down to sleep. He was
awakened two or three times
by a lizard running over his
face, and at first was merely
irritated ; but, as he became
more aroused, he recollected
the lizard’s action to be ac-
counted for as a warning.
He therefore arose, looked
around, and saw a wild boar
ready to attack him. His en-
counter with the boar drew
him into a wood, and in a
direction conirary to that he
was about to take. He was
thus saved from a party of
his enemies, who were lying
in wait for him.”

O’Hart is not a reliable histori-
an and we wonder how much of
the above data is fact and how
much is fiction?

J. C. McD.

The Fenian Movement
In County Donegal

EN the month of October 1865,

police, acting on information
received, arrested three men in
the town of Ramelton and hurried
them off to Lifford .Gaol. The
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first wasva man named Rogers
who proved to be a Captain in
the United States Army, and his
legal adviser complained that his
army commission was one of the
documents taken from him at the

_ time of the arrest. This com-
plaint was forwarded +to the
American Consul at Derry. The

..second man, MacElwee, was also
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hwer’s arrogance

an American citizen and was be-
lieved to be a special trainee of
the American Irish Republican
Brotherhcod. Both were natives
of the Fanad district.

HE owner of the house in
Ramelton in which Rogers
and MacElwee were captured was
the third man arrested in this
police swoop. His name was Gal-
lagher (Sic) and he was describ-
ed as a Cooper by trade; who had
been discharged from the Done-
gal Militia, after one period of
training, on account of his treas-
onous language. Police observed
that Gallagher and Rogers, “al-
though they never knew each
other hefore”, were constant com-
panions from the date of Rogers’s
return and this caused enquiries
to be made into the motives be-
hind the return of the two exiles.
NE of the hostile press reports,
upon Which this account of
Fenian activity in County Done-
gal is based, sneered at Gallag-

because kv claim-
ed to be descendant of ‘“the

great O’Gallagher” and persisted
in calling himself Michael Caroi
O’Gallagher.
ERY soon after these
were made the Royal Navy
established a patrol along the
coast of County Donegal.

arrests

K. TAAFFE.



The Ballyshannon Fishery District-
Co. Donegal.

BY H. HEMMING

This district embracing the
Southern part of Co. Donegal and
the Northern part of Co. Leitrim,
provid”es some of the best and
most varied fishing in the British
Isles. It suits all pockets; that of
the angler with his car who can
afford to stay in the best hotels,
hire gillies and boats, and pay
for good sa2imon fishing, and that
of the sportsman who of neces-
sity is restricted to the modest
hotel or boarding house with a
cycle to transport him to his free
fishing. The district suits the
keen angler who wishes to con-
cenirate on his fishing and also
the angler who regards fishing as
being incidental to lovely sur-
roundings and a good time with
his family or friends on a picnic.
The fisherman may change from
loughs to rivers or from estuaries
to the small lakes. He may fish
dry or wet or troll or spin. He
may take pollack and mackerel
off the shores of Donegal Bay.

The most extensive water in
the district is Lough Melvin.
Some 9 miles long with some
25 miles of attractive shore line,
it is remarkable for its four dif-
ferent tyves of trout as well as
for its salmon. There are no pike.
The only other fish are char,

441,

perch and eels. There are free
waters aid preserved waters and
both are equally good. Those who
like good pike fishing will find
well stocked waters in the dis-
trict. The Bundrowes River, the
Bunduff River and various spate
rivers running into Donegal Bay
provide salmon, sea and brown
trout fishing. The finest salmon
river. the Erne, one of the best in
Ireland, has lost its lovely salmon
pools now covered by a new lake
to provide power for the Electric-
ity Supply Board. Provision has
been made for the salmon tg run
through and the large number
of fresh run salmen and the re-
turning smolts using the two
new fish passes gives hope that
the trcuble the E.S.B. have tak-
en to preserve the fishing may
be rewarded. A multitude of
elyver are using the special elver
pass at the main power station
at Kathleen Falls and at the
subsidiary staticn at Cliffe.
The Erne contains
big deep bodied trout and it may
be that after a time the new lake
will provide good sport with sal-
mon and trout. In anticipation of
this -the E.S.B, intend {o guard
the interests of anglers. There
are other good waters in adjacent



districts within easy reach, in-
cluding F.ough Erne acrosg the
“Border”.

The man who wishes to fish

but whose family like the bright
lights and the entertainment of-
fered by a povoular seaside resort
will find accomodation to suit
his pocket in Bundoran. If he and
his family like the peace and
beauty of the country there are
hotels to meet his needs. There
are lovely motor runs along the
shores of Donegal Bay with its
secluded bathing beaches, and al-
so through the mountain valleys.
with every opportunity to wield
the rod. Bundoran vrovides danc-
ing, golf, tennis, cinemas, and
other entertainments. The quiet
old world town of Ballyshannon
on the Erne can make the visitor
‘comfortable. It is a good shopping
centre and caters for the angler
and his reauirements. There are
comfortable hotels, efficient gar-
ages, a cinema and a theatre
‘'where dances are held. For those
who wish to live in the country
by their fishing there is a com-
fortable hotel on the North shore
‘of Lough Melvin,

A list of hotels, their charges,
etc., may be obtained from the
Irish Tourist Association, with
offices in Dublin, Belfast. Lon-
don and New York. The Anglers’
(iuide compiled by the Depart-
ment of Agriculture, Fisheries
‘Branch is obktainable from the
Department or the I.T.A.. and is

“stocked by many of the leading
tacklists.
There arc not many places in

the British Isles where one can
have the choice of catching sal-
mon and trout in lough, river or
estuary, or . combine mountain
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climbing with  fishing. One
sportsman who visits the district
in the latter part ol the secason
frequently brings back a mixed
bag of trout, grouse, duck and
rabbits, while his wife who ac-
companies him, finds happiness
in recording the lovely scenery
on canvass. Two visitors
one a well-known bird art-
ist, climbed to a lake nearly 2,000
feet up and returned with a 14 1b.
trout and a detéermination to re-
turn and try the evening rise.
Next day the artist caught a sup-
erb brown trout on Melvin weigh-
ing 7% lbs. Within a few minutes
he had recorded its fresh colours
on his rough painting block, An
outline of the fish was hten tak-
en and in due coursea finished
painting was created.

The dry fly purist will find use
for all his art in presenting his
fly to the big shy Erne trout.
Running up to § lbs. or more
these deep chested fish are mag-
nificent fighters. With  skill,
patience and cunning they may
be taken during the day on dry
or wet fly, but the night rise is
the best time. Just as it is getting
dark these big trout come on the
feed and the angler may well
have the sport of a life time
packed into a short half hour.

“There is a May Fly rise and at

other times the medium Olive or
Wall Fly, fished wet dry are

-suitable lures.

The wet fly {iskerman may
have all the sport he derires with
tail fly end two droopers drift-
ing on Lough Melvin and at times

fishing the shores by night for
the cruising gillaroo or brown
trout feeding on snails, shrimps
and flies, Flies—well there are



4vany authorities who have their
«wn ideas and achieve success.
Personally I start the season with
a (zosling as top dropper, a Con-
nemara Black or March Brown
as middle and a Golden Butcher
on the tail. By mid April I re-
place the Butcher with the Welsh-
man’s Beetle and the mid drop-
per with a Golden Olive. As soon
as the gorse blazes I use a Hares
Ear as mid dropper, - When the
May Fly appears this replaces the
Gosling, though perhaps the Gos-
ling fishes just as well for it is
like a May Fly. I continue with
Hares Ear, or Golden Olive or
Claret and Mallard on the mid
dropper. As soon as the Daddy is
up that replaces the May fly and
I retain it and the faithful beetle
until the close of the season. Do
I take fish? Yes and good ones,
but so do others with entirely
different combinations of flies.

In July and August, when the
Daddy is up, grand sport is to be
had with the dan. When making
up to the start of a drift it is
well worth trolling or spinning
with the mnatural minnow or
golden sprat, or the blue Devon,
the Coilie or the spoon. In this
way salmon and largle trout may
be taken. Sea trout may be taken
spinning the blue and silver Dev-
on or on a Rogan fly lure in the
Erne estuary and in various
rivers running into Donegal
Bay. .

The Bundrowes, connecting
Melvin to the sea is an early sal-
mon river opening on the 1st
January. Most of the fishing is
owned by an hotel in Bundoran

and part by a privale estate.
Tickets may be purchased. The
Bunduff, a late salmon river,
sometimes fishes well for salmon
and sea trout when in spate. The
owner of the fishing allows
members of the Bundoran and
District Anglers’ Association to
fish for trout free of charge.
Visitors are welcome to join the
Association on payment of 5s.
He makes a reasonable charge
for salmon fishing, At times mix-
ed bags of small salmon, sea
trout and brown trout may be
taken from a boat drifting on
Lough Eske where tickets may be
obtained at reasonable prices.
Every year large trout are
taken spinning at the West end
of Lough Erne and in the river
where it leaves the Lough. When
the May Fly is up some heavy
baskets may be taken on the dap
or with the dry fly and the cpent
gnat. ‘This area is a few miles
East of Belleek in Northern
Ireland where a 10/- rod licence

is required. Tickets to fish the
Erne for salmon or trout
may be obtained from the

Fishery at Ballyshannon.

Grand sport with small but
hard fighting trout is to be had
on the numerous small lakes
North East of  Ballyshannon.
Some of them contain good pike
and rudd. These lakes appear like
jewels among the rockey foot hills
which are covered with heather
and gorse and from which lovely
distant views may be obtained
of Donegal Bay and its fringing
mountain ranges.



Correspondence -

The O’Donnells Of Glassagh

EAR Sir,—The popular proprie-
tor of Brownhall is inclined

to treat with derision the few
legends that we still possess
about the O’Donnell’s of Glas-

sagh. This much, however, has
the support of i vivid and wide-
spread tradition. A man called
An Dalach Mor appeared in
Glassagh some time in the first

half of the eighteenth century.
According to one iaccount he
came from Scotland; according

to another he came from Spain.
This man may have Dbeen the
celebrated Domnick Roe, although
of course there is no certainty
about it. Legends have it that
An Dalach Mor married the
“Daughter of the Earl,” butwe
know not who the Earl was.
NO one ever said, as Captain
Hamilton implies, that the
O'Donnells had set up a sort of
independent principality in Glas-
sagh. The first comer was simply
a squatter who built a commodi-
ous house which the hovel-
dwellers on the two sides of the
Finn designated An Teach Mor.
THE authorities looked upon
the Glassagh tribe ag being
loyal which it surely was and
Rory, the grandson of Dalach
Mor became Constable of the
Barony of Boylagh, whatever
that meant. Rory gave a signal
proof of his loyalty in 1798 when
he absented himself from the
scene of the duel in Lifford be-
tween his brother-in-law and the

444.

British dragoon. He was quite
siafe years afterwards in presid-
ing at a pro-Emancipation meet-
ing in Stranorlar, since both Teel
and Wellington favoured the re-
peal of the Penal Laws.
OR many years the Catholic
clergy held their conferences
in the Big House of Glassagh,
why they discontinued it does
not concern us here.
ATIN was studied in the Glas-
sagh house and Rory main-
tained against Bishop Patrick
Mzc Gettigan, whose obstinancy
exceeded his own, that the priest
at the Millside scallan had no
right to begin Mass until the
O’Donnell cavalcade had arriv-
ed.
ACCORDING to very reliable
traditions, Rory, like his
father before him,was permitted
to carry a sword, acted the
swashbuckler, and could replen-
ish his kegs from the never-end-
ing supplies of continental
smugglers. There is a striking
resemblance between this family
and two ‘contemporlary Kerry
tribes; namely, the O’Donoghoe
of the Glen and the Magilcuddy
of the Reeks. The Glassagh sept
was the most Irish, for when
taunted with their apparent loy-
alty to Government they always
replied that they alone of all the
O’Donnells in Ireland had never
used the Christian name Niall!
OW although our Brownhall
friend despises folk-lore when



quoted as history it mMiay never-
theless interest him to hear what
the folklore of the Fintown dis-
trict says of the Hamiltons as
landlords, and the relations be-
tween the latter and the O’Don-
nells. I must summarise and in
regard to dates I cannot but be
vague.

OME time in the ’'Thirties or
the 'Forties, but before the
Famine, a young man named
Jeremiah O’Donnell, from Rusky
or Convoy, came to Ballinamore.
He had a glib tongue and a bright
eye and succeeded in winning a
cdaughiter of the house of Glas-
sagh. Some time afterwards
Miajor James Hamilton appointed
Jeremiah as his egent. Now there
was this difference between the
landlord and the agent. The
former was considerate and pop-
ular; the latter was detested.
James Hamilton took measures
to prevent any of his tenants
frcm dying of hunger in 1847.
Jeremiah O’Donnell of Ballina-
more advocated tre raizing of
rents. In fact a plot was laid in

the early ’Sixties to terminate

the career of Jeremiah, but it

misdarried.

T is not my place to sit in
judgment on accepted and

deep-rooted traditiors. Many a

time has the Finn flcoded its

‘banks since, i2s a liltle boy, I sat
listening to truthful and venerable
shanahies describing the men
and the events of those far-off
times.

Scraig,
Jan.,1953.
The Editor,
Donegal Annual,
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THE O’'DONNELLS OF THE
GLASSAGH,

“Ailsa Lodge”,
Rosslare Harbour,
Co. Wexford,
28th January, 1953.

A Chara,

W'HEN I read Captain Hamil-
tor’s leiter in the last issue

of “The Annual” accusing me of

creating fantastic legends and

parading fables re-znove in my

article “Capiain  Manus (’Don-

nell”, in Vol. 1, No. 3 (pps.
193/203) of the 1949 “Journal”
of the Historical Society, my

mind flashed back to that epi-
sode in the Captain’s own autobi-
ography, “My Times and Other
Times”, (p. 45) in which he prides
himself that once at a County
Council meeting a member did
not fully understand something
that had kezn put forward, kut
nevertheless accepted the facts
as coming from tha Gentleman
of Brownhall ! I would like to
think that my accusor had sim-
ilar faith in ‘his fellow men. Far
from being a figment of my im-
agination, there are Chapter and
Verse for every statement in that
sketch but the fact that the
paper was originally prepared as
a talk is largely responsible for
my not having quoted them in
the first instance. The descript-
ion of the Glassazh O’Donnells
and their claim to belong to the
main line of the Premier Family
of Tirconaill (a family that also
has “blue” blood in their veins—
althcugh a distinguished repre-
sentative of the present gener-
ation tells me that his uncle al-
ways considered this ‘“foreign”
drop much inferior to their own!)



are principally  based on A
History of the Diocese of Rap-
hoe,”” (Canon Maguire), The
GGrand Jury Presentments for

County Donegal, “Dha Chrad de
Cheoltaibh Uladh”, (Eari O’'Muir-

gheasa), “Cloic Ceann Folaidh”.
(Seamus O’Searcaigh), “O’Cham-
haoir go Clap-Sholas”, (Seaghan

MacMeanman), supplemented by
additional information very kind-
ly supplied me by the last-named
author — and who knows his
native Glenfinn tetter than
Seazhan Ban?
prefaced my description of the
Glassagh O’Donnells by  “it
is-said”, and the quoting of “Dha
Chead de Cheaoltaibh Uladh”—
a standard work of reference that
is se widely known—made it ob-
vious that I was speaking of
tradition. Dr. McNeill tells us
that “tradition is but the people’s
memory”; but apparently the
voize of Glenfinn never pene-
trated the feudal walls of far off
Brownhall. The Glassagh O’Don-
nells a ewell known beyond the
limits of Glenfinn. Seamus
O’Searcaigh published ‘“Doiminic
Ruadh na Glaisghe” that was re-
corded in Rann na Feiste. I have
heard frequent mention of the
Family -in The Rosses and else-
whera. - Seaghan MacMeanman
writes how they sacrificed every-
thing to alleviate the distress in
Famine times. He says that they
had a man working night ‘and
day killing and skinning animals
for broth for the starving people
unti! the entire hill was cleared
of stock and they spent all they
possessed.
am very grateful 4o Captuein
Hamilton for the kindness,
hospitality and help co generous-
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Iy extended to me when T ecalled
on him one winter’s evening in
1946 and first made his lacquaint-
ence. I was seeking information
concerning the O’Donnells and it
was taen that I learned that his
Fintown property did not extend
to the Glassagh, which was on
the adjoining Styles estate. Al-
though I was living in Lifford at
this period I was almost contin-
uously out of the County an:d
thereby prevented from following
the matter up. Shortly after-
wiards I moved permanently to
Co. Wexford, and with the change
has gone all possibility of pur-
suing it further. Who will carry
on?
Mise, le meas,
Rupert S. O’Cochlain.

Editor’'s Note—I think that both
the above writers ‘are mistaken in
assuming that Captain Hamilten
scorns all Glenfinn tradition. My
interpretation of his letter was
that he deplored the fiction which
flowed as folklore into some of
the literature upon which Mr.
O’Cochlain based his remarks on
the O’Donnells of Glassagh. 1
agree with Captain Hamilton that
the time has come to eradicato
some of these inaccuracies but
on the other hand, I also agree
with Mr. O’Cochlain that these
O’Donnells were an importaat
branch of the clan and I should
be grateful if the parties concern-
ed and readers would suspend
judgment until our next publi-
cation when I hope to be able tc
carry on Mr. Cochlain’s  good
work; and at the same time to
satisfy Captain Hamilton’s curi-
osity. J. C. McD, '
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1952 IN Retrospect

JANUARY

Stormkound for five weeks,
Tory Island was relieved, but
only just in time as fcod sup-
plies were exhausted.

Rev. Dr. B. Duggan, D.Ph,
C.C., Kilcar, a native of Mull-
aghduff, Kincasslagh, died in
the Sheil hospital, Ballyshannon.
He was ordained in Rome in
1916.

Donzgal Vocaticnal Educa-
tion Committee decided to erect
new technical schools at Car-
vick and Gortahork at a cost of
£20,000, and to seek the permis-
sion of the Departmant for the
erection of a third school at
Gweedore.

The death occurred, at 80
years of age, of Rev. P. Devlin,
P.P., Donaghmore. He was educ-
ated in Paris.

Very Rev, J. Maclntyre, par-
ish priest of Burtonport for 12
years, died. A native of Carrick.
he was ordained in 1905 and
spent nine years on Arranmore,
where, at his special request,
his remains were interred.

The county treasurer report-
od a loss of £163 11s on the
year’s working when the annual
county conventign of the G.A.A.
attended by 60 delegates, Wwas
held at Ballybofey.

FEBRUARY
Comhaltas Uladh, at a meet-
ine in Belfast, acnounced  that

the new Irish training college at
Rossguil would ke ready for
opcning ian May. £7,500 was col-
lected from subscribers, includ-
ing An Taoiseach, and all the
Bishops of Ulster.

Rev. P. McHugh, P.P.,, Bado-
ney Upper, (Plumbridge, Co.
Tyrone) was appointad P.P,
Donaghmore. Rev. T. R. Griffith,
Adm.. Glenswilly, was appoint-
cd parish priest, Burtonport.

Donegal County Council  fix-
ed a rate of 35s in the £, an in-
crease of 5s. The County Mana-
ger had estimated for a rate of
40/4.

Lough Swillv Railway Com-
pany shareholders at the an-
nual meeting. heard that for
the first time receipts had reach-
ed the (uarter million pounds
mark. Actual increase (gross re-
ceipts) was £20,226 and adivid-
ent of 5% was declared. It was
decided to close down the re-
maining portion of their railway
line—Derry to Buncrana and
Letterkenny.

Most Rev. Dr. Farren, Bishop
of Derrv. laid the foundation
stone of a new convent building
for the Sisters of Mercy, Bun-
crana.

MARCH Lo
Dr. Anthony Dunlevy, son of
the late Mr. and Mrs. George
Dunlevy. Mountcharles, radio-
lozist in one of Manchester’s
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biggest hospitals, was featured
in  “Manchester Evening News’
for his work in saving the hos-
pital thousands of pounds by
praciically  ‘“‘home-making” onec
of taz most up-to-date x-ray
systems in the world.

Efforts by the local Industrial
Cewalopment Association to ob-
tain an industry for Letterkenny
were successful and it was an-
nounced that Messrs. Nestles,
Ltd, London, had agreed to
erect a milk products factory a
short distance from the town.

Mr. P. Lavin, Portahand, Co.
Roscommon, W a s appointed
town clerk, Letterkenny, in suc-
cession to Mr. Tadg O'Mahony,
appointed to a similar post in
Arklow.

The 26-years-old Moville Fish-
ery Board and its Derry counter-
part, went out of existence and
were replaced by a four-man
Commission set up under the
Foyle Fisheries Act of 1952. The
Commission is the first body in
Ireland to have representatives
of both the Dublin and Stormont
Governments and this was the
first attempt at full scale co-op-
eration between the Twenty-
Six and the Six Counties.

Letterkenny Urban  Council
fixed a rate of 38s 8d in the £,
an increase c¢f 2s 8d. Bundoran
rate increased by 5s 1d to
39s 10d. Buncrana Council re-
fused to strike a rate in protest
" against the increaried demand
by the County Ccuncil ocCcasion-
ed by the town’s revaluation.

Rev. M. McCauley, C.C., Mo-
ville, formerlvy C.C. Glenmulin,
died. He was ordained in 1914.
He spont some years in Ame=
ica, where he was one of the

organisers of a baniquet for Arch.
bishop Mannix, Australia, when
he arrived in the US. following
the PBritich Gcevernment’s refus-
al to allow him tc land in Ire-
land. Fr. McCauley also accom-
panied Mr. De Valera when, ac
President of the Irish Repubiic,
he travelled thrcugh the States
seeking support fcr the Repuk-
lic.

APRIL

Donegal County Council de-
cided tc rely on private contract-
ors for turf supplies this year.

The county G.A.A. football
team was defeated, 3—3 to 0—7
in the semi-final of the Naticnal
League ccmpetition at Croke
Park, by Cork.

Ccunty engireer, Mr, D. P.
Berry, cubmitted  details of a
five year plan of road works to
the Cecunty Council. The CGovern-
ment grant was stated to be
£114,000.

Seann O Caiside, 0.S., secret-
ary, in his report to the annual
meeting ¢f the S.W. Donegal
Ccisthe Cheanntair of the Gaelic
League, said excellent work
was keing done and thera was
great progress in the Irish
drama movem=ant in the area.

Rev. M. Connolly, chaplain,
St. Joseph’s Orphanage for the
past seven y=ars, was appointed
parish prizst of Drumsnat and
Kilmere, Corcaghan, Co. Mon-
aghan.

A distinguished visitor to the
county was his Excellency, the
Papal Nunecio, Archbishop Ger-
ald Patrick O’Hara.
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MAY

A conference of 300 national
school teachers, organised by
the Donegal County  Committee
of the I.N.T.O., and the first of
its kind, met in Ballybofey and

pcoled ideas on school methods
and problems.
A rate collection amounting

to 97.8 per cent. of the total war-

rant was announced by the
county secretary.
Ballyshannon’s first Drama

Festival was ovened by Most
Rev. Dr. MacNeely. Entries were
received from each of the four
provinces.

Donegal junior G.A.A. foot-
ball team defeated Tyrone in
the final of the Ulster champion-
ship.

The Bishop of Raphoe, Most
Rev. Dr. MacNeely, solemnly
hlessed and laid the corner
stone of the new £60,000 Church
0f Christ the King at Gortahork.

The hearing of 680 appeals
frcm the decision of the Com-
missicners of Valuation arising
out of the general ievision of
valuationsg in Buncrana con-
cluced at Buncrana Circuit
Court.

Mr. W. M. A. James,
master, Royal School, Raphoe,
for several years, received an
appointment in Drogheda Gram-
mar School. T

The Rev. W. McQuade M.A,,
Longford, was appointed curate-
in-charge, Glencolumbkille par-
ish. Attendance at installation
in St. Columba’s Chureh includ-
ed the Bishop, Most Rev. Dr.
McNeill Boyd, D.D.

head-
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JUNE

On 29th June, Ros Nuala was
the scene of an historic cere~
mony, the blessing and dedica-
tion of the new church and
friary erected by the Francis-
can Order of Friars Minor. The
cceasion marked the return to
Tirconaill of the Order for the
first time since they were ban-
ished in Penal times. The Order

nad, in fact, returned at the in-
vitation of the Bishop of Rap-
hoe, Most Rev. Dr. McNeely,

soma years previously, but were
accommodated in  temporary
(quarters peanding the construct-
ion of the new buildings. It was
estimated that some 7,000 people
attended the ceremonies. In ad-
dition to the Lord Bishcp and
other church dignitaries, his Ex-
cellency, the President of Ire-
land, An Taoiseach, Mr. D=2
Valera, members of the Oireach-
tas, Judiciary and Army, were
present. The dedication was per-
formed by his Lordship, the
Bishop, who later presided in
the Sanctuary at Solemn High
Mass celebrated by Very Rev. A.

McLoone, president, St. Eunaii’s
College. A temporary altar was
erected outside the church and
here Mass was also celebrated

for the thousands who could not
be admitted to the church. A
special sermon was preached by
Very Rev. Dr. J. P. McLaughlin,
vice-president, = Maynooth Col-
lege, a native of Ballyshannon.
The Franciscan commuaity, all
present at the ceremonies = and
all who assisted received a spec-
ial Apostolic Blessing from His
Holiness, the Pope.

The new milk products faetory

al Letterkenny opened and on



the first day 1,200 galls. of milk
were accepted.

Capt. James ‘Hamilton, chair-
man, told the County Executive
of Macra na Feirme, that the
county had the lowest member-
ship in the Twenty-Six Counties
et 188 members. There were
only nine clubs, he said.

Rev. Daniel McCready, Bun-
crana, assistant at All Saints
parish, Tucson, Arizona, since
1948, was appointed Diocesan
Director of the Catholic Youth
Organisation, Tucson Diocese.

The death took place, after a
brief illness, at Mulroy, of the
fifth Earl of -Leitrim. On the
death of his father in 1907 he
tcok over the management of
the Rosapenna Hotel and the
steamer service between Mil-
ford, Mulroy, Glasgow, Portrush
and Derry.

Donegal was given a new
motor vehicle registration -series
—ZP.

Most Rev. Dr. D’Alton, Arch-
bishop of Armagh and Primate
of all-Ireland, patron of the soc-
iety presided in Cappa Magna
at High Mass in the Church ot
the Immaculate Conception,
Bundeoran at the opening of the
annual Congress of Cristus Rex.

Ramelton Guildhall, it was
announced. was conyerted into a
knittine factorv and about 12
girls were employed. Sir Jocelyn
Stewart undertock the develop-
ment. :

Donegal County Council, by
12 votes to nine, co-opted. Mr.
Seamus McGonigle,. -Ballyshan-
non, in place of Mr. Fergus P.
Britton. solicitor, who resigned.

Mr. Hugh McKendrick, P.C.,
Co.C., was elected chairman of

Letterkenny Urban Council. Mr.
John McLoughlin was re-elected
chairman of Buncrana Urban
District Council. Mr. Joseph
O’Doherty was re-elected chair-
man of Bundoran Urban Disirict
Council and Mr. _P. Gilfedder
was re-elected chairman of
Ballyskannon Town Commis-
sioners.

JULY

The Lord Bishop of Derry
and Raphoe, Rt. Rev. R. McNeil
Boyd, D.D., M.C,, laid the found-
ation stone of a new national
school at Donegal for Church of
Ireland children.

Over 100 students from Dub-
lin and the Six Counties attend-
ed the July session in Colaiste
Uladh at Gortahork, oldest of
the seven such colleges in Don-
egal.

Parades of the Organisation of
National =~ Ex-Servicemen, to
commemorate the 31st anniver-
sary of the Anglo-Irish Treaty,
todk place. Most Rev. Dr.
MacNeely, Lord Bishop of Ra-
phoe, was among the platform
party at Letterkenny.

¥
: Ros Goil = Irish College was
opened by An Taoiseach.

The title of Lord Muskerry
was conferred on the Hon. Mat-
thew Chicester Cecil Fitzmaur-
ice Deane-Morgan, of St. Ernans,
Co. Donegal, brother. of the late
Lord Muskerry, who ~died- this
month.

Death took place of Sr. M.
Magdaline, Convent of Mercy,
Ballyshannon,
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AvGust

The death occurred of
James McRory, late C.C.,
mcnamongan, a native of
certegney, Co. Dcnegal.

Letterkenny Battalicn of the
F.C.A. provided a guard of hon-
our for the Minister for De-
fence, Mr. Oscar Traynor, when
he visited Finner Camp.

The death occurred at his
home in New Jersey, US.A. of
the Rev. Alexander Ketterson,
retired  Protestant lipiscopal
clergyman, former rector of the
famous Ascension Memorial Pro-
testant Episcopal Church, New
York. He was a native of Mount-
charles. He was aged 74 years.

Rev.
Ter-
De-

The Bishcp Maginn Branch.
Irish National Fcresters, Bun-
crana, celebrated the golden

jubilee of its foundation. Mark-
ing the occasion the organisa-
tion held their 2-day all-Ireland
convention there and selected
Mr. P. H. O'Doherty, Buncrana,
as High Chief Ranger for the
Republic of Ireland for arother
term.

The transfer of
O hEidhin, MA,
scheols inspector.
the county’s Gaeltacht schools,
to Galway, was announced. He
was succeeded by Mr. Padraig
Mac Seaghain, N.S., inspector,
Co. Leitrim, a native of Teelin,
and formerly inspector in Inish-
cwen.

Very Rev. Dr. Andrew,. O.F.M..
Cap., Guardian, Ard Mhuire,
Cashelmore. Creeslcugh, was
appointed Secretary of the Mis-
sions, with headquarters in Dub-
lin. He was guardian at Ard
Mhuire for nine years. He was
succeeded by Very Rev. Father

Mr. Padraig
national
in charge of
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Virgilius, O.F.M., Cap., Difinit-

or, and previous secretary of
the Missions.

There was a record attend-
ance when the annual county
demonstration - of the Ancient
Order of Hibernians was held,
in ideal weather conditions, at
Killybegs.

Mr. C. Sweeney was unanim-

ously re-elected chairman of the
Donegal : County Committee of
Agriculture and Mr. J. Brennan,
T.D.,, was unanimously elected
vice-chairman,

SEPTEMBER

The death tcck place al the
Convent of Mercy, Ballyshan-
ncn, of Rev. Mother M. Antonio,
a native of Nenagh. She had
been Mother Superior or assist-

ant Mother Superior, alternate-
ly, since 1912 and was mainly
responsible for.having the new
wing of :.the Convent (completed
in 1930) built,

The new fishmeal factory at

Killybegs started production
and initial tests proved satisfac-
tory. '

Donegal junior foottall ieam
was defeated by Meath in the
all-Ireland semi-final re-play at
Navan.

Donegal tweeds on exhibit at
Frankfurt fair aroused much in-
terest and many orders were re-
ceived.

At ‘a -mesting of Buncrana Ur-
ban Council it was stated that

there were .131 shops in the
town, including licensed pre-
mises, sufficient to cater for a
populatien of: .from 15,000 to
20,000 people:

Tribute wos naid 81 a  meet-

ing of the County Vocational



Education Committee to the
people of Dungloe, who built a
technical school by voluntary
labour and with locally raised
money. The school, said Mr. M.
J. Cryan, C.E.O. cost £1,600
and was worth £7,000. 5
Killybegs defeated St. Eunans,
Letterkenny, in the final of the
county senior G.A.A. football
championship by 0—9 to 1—5.
The death took place of Lady
Helen Henrietta Blennerhasset
Fitzmaurice Dean-Morgan, wife
of the sixth Baron Muskerry, St.
Ernans, Donegal. The funeral
took vplace to Laghey cemetery.
Sixty anglers from clubs re-
presenting four provinces com-
peted for the Provincial Angling
championship on Lough Melvin.

At a meeting in Letterkenny

a County Donegal Badminton
Association was formed.

A Co. Donegal football league
association under the auspices
of the F.A.I, has been formed
with Mr. L. McMenamin, Bally-
befey, as chairman and treasur-
er.

Twelve years old Lena White,
Ballyshannon, took first place
in a Church of Ireland Scripture
examination and received the
Hon. G. Lowry-Corry silver
medal.

OCTOBER

Mr. Lemass, An Tanaiste,
Minister for Industry and Com-
merce, officially declared the
Erne Hydro-Electric scheme
oven. He was presented with an
address of welcome by the
Ballyshannon Town Commis-
sioners.

Rev. Bro. Leo, superior, De
La Salle commrunity, Ballyshan-

non, was transferred to Mount
La Salle, Ballyfermot, Dublin,
as vice-principal of a new 1,000
pupil school. He was succeeded
at Ballyshannon, as superior, by
Rev. Bro. Denis, headmaster of
the secondary school, and by
Rev. Bro. Mark, Navan, as prin-
cipal of the primary school.

The mnew £70,000 pier at
Killybegs, was officially opened
by Mr. Lemass, Minister for In-
dustry and Commerce.

The death occured of Rev. Art
O’Friel. C.C., Knockfola, Derry-
beg, a native of Fanad.

Ramelton-born hypnotist Jack
Wafer broke the world’s fasting
record at Brighton. He lived for
72 days on soda water and cigar-
ettes.

Rev. Joseph Crossan, of Mo-
ville, was appointed to take
charge of Hanyang diocese in
China .

Lieut. E. J. McDaid, aged 26,
U.S. Army, only son of Mr. J.
McDaid, well-known Letterken-
ny business man, was awarded
the Bronze Star and medal for
heroism in the Korean war.

A branch of Macra na Feirme
was formed at Ballyshannon.

The death took place at the
City and County Hospital; Derry,
of Rev. John O’Brien, P.P., Mal-
in. He was 90 years of age. He
served in eight narishes through-
out the Diocese, including Carn-
donagh and Clonmany.

The death occured of Mr. Ed-
ward O’Friel. ex-county council-
lor, Termon.

Supt. T. Noonan. G.S.. 'Bally-
shannon was transferred -to the
training devot. Dublin. He was a
native of Limerick and was
stationed at Ballyshannon for 15
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years.

Very Rev. George Otto Simms,
M.A., Ph. D., was consecrated
and - enthroned as Protestant
Bishop of the united diocese of
-Cork, Cloyne-and Ross, at St.
‘Fin -Barre’s Church, Cork. A
native of Dublin, he spent his
childhood years at Lifford where
his father, the late J. F. A.
Simms. Crown solicitor for
‘Tyrene, resided. Aged 42 he is
the youngest bishop to be appoin-
ted in the Church of Ireland since
1915. He is a brother of Mr. H.
J. Simms,  LL.B., Lifford.

Donegal County Council made
an order extending the urban
boundary for -the urban area of
‘Letterkenny.

NOVEMBER

It was announced that the De-
partment of Education was max-
ing a grant of £2,500 towards the
cost of the new Gaelic college at
Teelin.

A meeting of farmers in Letter-
kenny was informed that Messrs.
Nestles wished to invest about
£30.000 in their new factory at
Letterkenny but that before
doing so they wished to know if a
receiving depot, costing £10,000
would be erected. The meeting
decided to form a society to erect
and run the depot.

Supt. W. Leen, G.S., Clogher,
was transferred to Carrickma-
cross, Co. Monaghan.

Tory Island was relieved after
24 days isolation by high seas.

Mr. Edward Gallen, Bloom-
field, Castlefin, ex-county coun-
cillor, one of the county’s most
outstanding public figures, died.
He was a former judge of the
Sinn Fein Courts and had a life-

long connection
affairs and Local
bodies.

Apart from Fort Dundee,
where a military care and main-
tenance party was being retain-
ed, it was not intended to station
any permanent garrison of Regu-
lar Army troops in Co. Donegal,
the Minister for Defence +{old
the Dail.

Inspector Sean Murray, G.S.,

with public
(overnment

Wwes promot:d superintendent and

transferred from Ballyshannon to
Belmullett, Co. Mayo.

At the Irisk Red Cross Society
novices first aid competition at

‘Kilkenny, the Letterkenny ladies’

team, representing Co. Donegal,
shared first place with Wexford.
The Donegal men’s team (drawn
from the Lifford branch) was
third in their section.

Supt. ‘W. Cronin, G.S.,, was
t{ransferred to Ballyshannon from
Carrickmacross.

The remaining 374 miles of
railway line of the L. & L. S.R.
Co., between Derry and Bun-
crana and Derry and Letter-
kenny wags closed down. The line
was first opened for traffic from
Derry to Farland Point in 1864
and a year later to Bun-
crana. The line was converted
to rarrow gauge in 1883. The
Derry-Burtonport branch closed
in 1946 and the Buncrana-Carn-
donagh line in 1935.

DECEMBER

Buncrana Urban District Coun-
cil was abolished by order of the
Minister for Local Government
and the County Manager, Mr, S.
D. MacLochlainn was appointed
by the Minister to carry out the
functions of the Council. The
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abolition of the Council followed
a refusal to strike a rate of 38/4
to provide for a net expenditure
of £20,8629. The Council had
struck a rate of 29/9. Their re-
fusal to strike the rate was a
sequel to protestg at the revaluat-
ion of the town which necessitat-
ed an unexpectedly heavy contri-
bution to the County Council.
It was announced at a meetinz
of the County Council that for
the year 1953-4 Donegal would
get a grant of £50,000 for tourist

Tre President’s first official visit to Donegal.

road improvement schemes in the

Gaeltacht.

A campaign for the production
of tar free wool wag launched in
the county as part of the effort
to step up exports of wool in the
dollar areas.

Rev, Denis L. Curran, fourth
son of Mr. John Curran, P.C,
and the late Mrs. Curran Letter-
kenny, was ordained at Dalgan

Park by the Bishop of Meath,
Most Rev. Dr. Kyne.

His Excellency arriv-

ing at Ros Nuala for the dedication of the new Franciscan Church.
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“Swilly Valley” DAIRY NUTS

Ask your supplier for “SWILLY VALLEY” Feeding Stuffs.
QUALITY SECOND TO NONE.

FCR PIGS :
“Swilly Valley” Pig Fattening Meal ;
“Swilly Valley” Pig Weaning Meal.

FOR CATTLE :
“Swilly Valley” Dairy Nuts or Meal ;
“Swilly Valley” Calf Nuts or Meal.

FOR POULTRY :
“Swilly Valley” Growers and Layers Pellets or Mash ;
“Swilly Valley” Chick Mash.

Manufactured by :

ROBERT SMYTH and SONS, LTD.,
Swilly Valley Mills,
BALLINDRAIT, Co. DONEGAL.

, TEL. : LIFFORD 4.
WWW
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 MAGEFE'S

Handwoven Tweeds

When in Donegal visitors are invited to see
Magee’s Hand Weaving Factory. Magee’s
All-Wool Hand-woven Tweeds are World
Famous and may be obtained from the
leading Drapers and Tailors in the County.

MAGEE & CO,, LTD,,
- THE FACTORY,
DONEGAL
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BELLEEK
POTTERY

MANUFACTURERS OF THE FAMOUS
BELLEEK WARE

“IT MUST BE SEEN TO BE ADMIRED AND EXAMINED TO BE
ESTIMATED "—Art Journal.

Tea Sets, Vases, Ornaments, and hand-
made Fruit Baskets

Depots at Bundoran and Ballvshannon

TOURISTS ARE INVITED TO INSPECT OUR WORK AT
BELLEEK. SIX MILES FROM BUNDORAN,

CARD BASKETS, FRUIT BASKETS, COMPORTS IN MANY AND

VARIED DESIGN IN PLAIN WEAVIN(G; AND WITH EXQUISITE

FLORAL DECORATION, HANDWOVEN CAKE-PLATES AND

TRAYS FOR MORNING AND AFTERNOON SFRVICES. AND A

GREAT VARIETY OF HANDSOME GIFT ORNAMENTS OF
EVERY DESCRIPTION.
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MICHAEL FLOOD (Motors) LTD.
DONEGAL and BALLYSHANNON

 Main Ford Dealers.

Sales - Service - Satisfaction.

BARTLEY RAMSAY’S,
LETTERKENNY
IN THE HISTORY OF HIGH CLASS

Drapery and Footwear
FOR SERVICE AND VALUE WE CANNOT BE SURPASSED.

Donegal Hemespuns,
Irish Linens,

o Souvenirs
CORMAC BRESLIN and SONS,
BUNBEG.

If it's ——
HIGH-CLASS GROCERY. CONFECTIONERY, FRUIT,
TOBACCO, <CIGARETTES, BOOKS, PERIODICALS,
ROAD MAPS

—— and quick, efficient service
'} t $ 3
The Wee Shop”, of course !

LEADING NEWSAGENT IN COUNTY DONEGAL.
P. H. DOHERTY,
Corner House, - Carndonagh

———— "Pkone 5 —————
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THE FORT HOTEL,
— Co. Donegal.

At the mouth of Loch Foyle
BATHING - BOATING - GOLF - TENNIS.
TERMS MODERATE.

Greencastle

GREENCASTLE 3. FULLY LICENSED.

OFEN MARCH TO OCTOBER.

BOUGHT FOR THE BEST REASON
THEIR

Quality
HOSIERY and KNITWEAR

HAND AND MACHINE MADE HOSIERY AND GLOVES, MITTS,
COATS, JUMPERS, CARDIGANS, GOLF HOSE, HOSE TOPE,
SCARVES, ETC.

Manufactured by

B. McDEVITT and Co., Ltd.,
The Glenties, Co. Donegal.

Telephone : Glenties 16.

ARNOLD’S HOTEL
Dunfanaghy - Co. Donegal

IDEALLY SITUATED AMONG THE HIGHLANDS OF DONEGAL.

BEAUTIFUL SANDY BEACH AND 18 HOLE GOLF COURSE
ABUNDANT TROUT FISHING AND

ADJACENT TO HOTEL.
ROUGH SHOOTING. IDEAL TOURING AND HIKING CENTRE.
MILK, POULTRY AND VEGFTABLES PRODUCED ON HOTEL

FARM.
H. & C. IN ALL BEDROOMS. PERSONAL SUPERVISION,

AFPLY FOR TARIFF TO : R. M, ARNOLD.
'Phone — 7.
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DONAGH STORES
The House for Best Value and Quality

LADIES'. GENT'S AND CHILDREN'S OUTFITTERS.

SUITS TO MEASURE A SPECIALITY.
BOOT AND SHOE WAREHOUSE.

CARNDONAGH, Co. DONEGAL

'PHONE - 30.

Telephone : Ballybofey 5.

BRADLEY’S

WHITEHOUSE MOTOR SERVICE
Ballybofey, Co. Donegal.

ALL REPAIRS AND MOTOR HIRE—STRICT NETT CASH.
AGENTS FOR MORRIS. FIAT, VOLKSWAGEN, VANGUARD.
MAYFLOWER, AUSTIN. AND FORD. — ANY MAKE SUPPLIED

Machiners of Ryegrass,

Flaxseed Importers.

AGENTS FOR ALL THE BEST AGRICULTURAL
MACHINERY MAKERS.
SUL. AMMONIA - POTASH - PHOSPHATES.

WM. THOMPSON and Co. (Donegal) Ltd.

LETTERKENNY.
Telegrams : WEST LETTERKENNY. Partners : C. West
Telephone : LETTERKENNY 52. R. J. CLARKE

C. WEST and Co.,

SOLE AGENTS IN EIRE FOR LOTUS AND OMAR PEARLS.
JEWELLERY, FANCY GOODS, CHINA, GLASS AND
DELPH WARE.

GENERAL WHOLESALE MERCHANTS,
STATIONERY, LEATHER GOODS, HABERDASHERY.

Port Road, Letterkenny, Co. Donegal.
T e e e e e )
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THE CITY OF
LONDONDERRY

Owing to its long history and its geographical position the
city of Londonderty has a distinctive and attractive life of its own.

It was born over fourteen hundred years ago, when St. '

Columba founded a monastery in the oak grove, on thé hill where
later the walled city was to stand. It began, therefore, as an
ecclesiastical community, surviving for centuries frequent burn-
ings by plundering Northmen and native armies, Then in the six-
teenth century, when Ireland became involved in European wars
and politics, the position of Derry at the mouth of one of the great
rivers leading directly into the heart of Ulster led to its fortifi-
cation as a garrison town, important strategically. So it became a
walled city, numbering two sieges in its long and laden story, and
the second of theze makes one of the greatest chapters of history.

To anyone interested in olden times Derry has a constant
fascination. Its ancient walls still stand and everywhere the
present meets the past. There are gquaint glimpses in unexpected
places of stately Georgian doorways and windows. Old muzzle-
trading cannon look down on a modern warship at the quay s_ide
where descendants of Columba’'s gulls are still crying and calling.
Yet it has its own modern life, its clashes of standards and culture,
its own interesting economic and social problems.

One of its greatest attractions is, perkaps, the ease with which
one can exchange the country for the city. To the West are the
hills of Donegal; down the broad lough to the East the headland
of Benevenagh stands out against the sky; whllg to the South-East
rise the rounded peaks of the Sperrin mountains.

\




SERVICE IS OUR
HISTORY AND

TRADITION

THOMAS SWAN,
& Co., Ltd.
MILLERS and GRAIN

MERCHANTS,
BUNCRANA.

COUNTY DONEGAL RAILWAYS
JOINT COMMITTEE

Offer you

FREQUENT PASSENGER SERVICES operated by comfortablz
Diesel Rail Cars to :

PLACES OF HISTORICAL INTEREST, including Donegal Town,
where the ruins of the Four Masters' Abbey and O'Donnells’
Castle still stand ; Moutiicharles : birthplace of Eithne Carberry
and Seamus M:Manus ; and Stranorlar, the burial place of
Isaac Butt.

SCENIC BEAUTY : Barnesmore Gap where an unrivalled view is
obtained ; Letterkenny — overlooking Lough Swilly ; Donegal
Bay, Killybegs, Teelin, Glencolumkille, ete. )

SEASIDE RESORTS : Rossnowlagh. Mountckarles, Inver and
Killybegs.

Excursions are organised on week-days and Sundays, (during
the summer months), cheap day-trip tickets being issued.
‘For full particulars of Rail and Road Services, apply al local

Stations, or to :(—

B. .. CURRAN, Manaeer and Secretary.
‘STRANORLAR.

'Phone : Ballybofey R,
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MAKING HISTORY !

The Past—

OVER 100 YEARS OF SERVICE TO THE PUBLIC.

The Present—

THE LARGEST AND MOST VARIED STOCKS OF
MERCHANDISE IN THE NORTH-WEST.

The Future—

NEEDS AND REQUIREMENTS OF EVERY CUSTO-
MER ANTICIPATED AND SUPPLIED BY :

McDONOUGHS
Of Carndonagh

PROVIDERS OF EVERYTHING FOR EVERYBODY : DRAPERY,
LADIES', MEN'S AND CHILDREN'S WEAR ; BOOTS AND
SHOES ; FURNITURE, HARDWARE, FARM REQUIRE-
MENTS. TOOLS, CUTLERY, CHINA AND GLASSWARE ;
GROCERY AND PROVISIONS, WINES AND SPIRITS, ETC.

McDonough and Co. (Carndenagh) Ltd.,
Universal Providers, Carndcenagh.



EVERYTHING YOU NEED
IN PRINTING CAN BFE

SUPPLIED BY - ——mme

The Donegal Democrat, Ltd.,

'"PHONE : BALLYSHANNON 6.
‘COUNTY’S BEST ADVERTISING MEDIUM IS

“THE DONEGAL DEMOCRAT".

DONEGAL
HIGHLANDS! !

Cheap and Convenient Travel by ———

“LOUGH SWILLY”
*

Bus Services, which traverse the whole of North-West Donegal
embracing the principal Seaside, Fishing and Hcliday Resorts of
the County and a wariety of first class Golf Links.

THE BRACIN(: AIR IS UNRIVALLED !

THE SCENERY UNEXCELLED !

SCMETHIN(G NEW — A REALLY BENEFICIAI. HOLIDAY.
Ask Conductors for time—tablgs and guides, or write :—

GENERAL MANAGER, L. & L. S. RAILWAY, DERRY.
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THE LETTERKENNY HOSIERY Co., Ltd.,
LETTERKENNY.

MANUFACTURERS OF HIGH-CLASS KNITTED OUTERWEAR,
MEN’S HALF-HOSE AND BOY'’S STOCKINGS.
Trade marks “ERRIGAL,” IVERNIA,” “IVERNIT.”
When in Letterkenny visit our shop . .

The Hosiery Shop, Ltd.,
Factory Buildings.

Many Bargains at Factory Prices, also Factory Seconds and Jobs.
FISHRING TACKLE — We are one of the largest stockists in the
North-West for Salmon and Trout tackle.

Jackson’s Hotel

BALLYBOFEY, Co. DONEGAL.

'PHONE — 21.

AT YOUR SERVICE.

WRITE FOR SPECIAL WEEK END TERMS.

G.N.R.
TOURS BY MOTOR COACH

DURING THE SUMMER MONTHS
ROSAPENNA : from Bundoran 14/-; from Ballyshannon 14/-
from Donegal 12/6.
WEST DONEGAL : from Bundoran 10/- ; from Ballyshannon 10/-
. from Donegal 8 /-.
BRELLEEK POTTERY : from Bundoran 2/6 ; from Ballyshannon 1/6
LOUGH GILL : from Bundoran 6/6.
ROSSES POINT AND SLIGO : from Bundoran 5/6.
MULLAGHMORE : from Bundoran. 2/6.
ROSSNOWLAGH . from Bundoran 2/6.

Full details of all Tours and Services from Bus Offices and Rail-
way Stations at Bundoran and Ballyshannon and from the Bus
Office at Donegal.

PLEASE ASK FOR TOURS BOOKLET

STAY AT G .N.R. HOTEL, BUNDORAN.



J. McAULEY & SONS

MOTOR AND ELECTRICAL SERVICE
STATION
LETTERKENNY
AUSTIN MAIN DEALERS.

"PHONE — 60.

Sheneé House Hotel Limifed,
Bundoran

TELEPHONE - 27.
Beautifully Situated on Cliffs, over-looking
Donegal Bay.
First-class catering.
Every comfort.
OPEN ALL THE YEAR.

APPLY — MANAGERESS.

H. & C. WATER CENTRAL HEATING.
AA, RIAC, & I T.A. APPOINTMENTS

DERRYHERK HOUSE HOTEL,
Derryherk, . Ballyshannon

OVERLOOKING FAMED LOUGH MELVIN
(The Fisherman’s Paradise).

BROCHURE ON APPLICATION.

PHONE : BALLYSHANNON - 75
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